
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
  

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

24 November 2020 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 2nd December, 2020 at 6.30 pm 

 
This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 

(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020. 

 
This meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and streamed live 

via:  www.mybostonuk.com/youtube 
 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Paul Skinner 
Deputy Leader – Councillor Nigel Welton 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Martin Griggs, Jonathan Noble and 
Yvonne Stevens 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held on 5th November 2020. 
 

  

Public Document Pack

http://www.mybostonuk.com/youtube


 

 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

D   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Friday 27th November 2020. 
 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING ITEM)*  
 

2   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 
(STANDING ITEM)  
 

3   REGULATING AND SAFEGUARDING BOSTON'S ECONOMY (Pages 5 - 12) 
 

 (A report by Councillor Judith Skinner, Madam Chairman, Environment and 
Performance Committee and Christian Allen, Assistant Director Regulation) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner - Leader 
 

4   PORT OF BOSTON - GATEWAY TO GROWTH (Pages 13 - 26) 
 

 (A report by Clive Gibbon, Economic Development Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Nigel Welton 
 

5   ROUGH SLEEPING ACCOMMODATION PROGRAMME (Pages 27 - 32) 
 

 (A report by Michelle Howard, Assistant Director – Housing and Wellbeing) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Martin Griggs  
 

6   TOWNS FUND ACCELERATOR PROJECT 'EXPERIENCE BOSTON' (Pages 33 - 
64) 
 

 (A report by Luke Skerritt, Museums, Arts and Heritage Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder – Councillor Richard Austin  
 
 
 



 

 

 

7   CCTV ANNUAL POLICY UPDATE 2020 (Pages 65 - 88) 
 

 (A report by Andrew Haw, CCTV Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner - Leader 
 

8   PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) "ALCOHOL" REVIEW (Pages 
89 - 98) 
 

 (A report by Peter Hunn, Community Safety Manager) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner - Leader 
 

9   AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN PROGRESS REPORT (Pages 99 - 114) 
 

 (A report by Nick Davis, Principal Environmental Health Officer) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Yvonne Stevens  
 

10   QUARTER 2 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE (Pages 115 - 
164) 
 

 (A report by Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation & Governance Manager, and Tim 
Sampson, Accountancy Manager - Revenues & Systems) 
 
Portfolio Holders: Councillors Paul Skinner – Leader (Performance) and Jonathan 
Noble (Finance and Risk) 
 

 
 

* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on                                   
4th December 2020.  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a decision is             
5 p.m. on Friday 11th December 2020. 
 

 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, 
Senior Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston Tel. no: 01205 314227  e-
mail janette.collier@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET ON 5 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: MONDAY, 9 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
NOTES: 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 5 November 2020 
 
Present: 
Councillor Paul Skinner, in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Richard Austin BEM, Nigel Welton, Martin Griggs, 
Jonathan Noble and Yvonne Stevens 
 
Officers –  
Joint Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive (Place) & Monitoring Officer and Senior 
Democratic Services Officer 
 
105   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 21 October 2020 were received and signed 
by the Chairman. 
 
106   APOLOGIES 

 
None. 
 
107   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Martin Griggs declared an interest in the PE21 Update Report on the grounds 
of his employment with Boston College.  However, this would have no bearing on his 
consideration and decision on the matter.   
 
108   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
A question had been received from Mr Darron Abbott. 
 
Mr Abbott’s question was as follows: 
 
“I am sure that you keep yourself up to date in what is happening within the Borough of 
Boston so I therefore assume that you are aware that the crime figures in the Boston 
Rural west in the year ended August 2020 increased by 48%. There was the debacle of 

Page 1

Agenda Item A



the police not wanting to enforce the councils injunction regarding the travelers 
enchampment on woodville park. I also understand you personally were assaulted three 
times in August and was unhappy with the police response. 
 
“From what I have been told at times there are as few as one officer covering Boston, 
with other officers having to travel from Sleaford and Skegness if a crime is committed. 
As Leader of the Council do you feel that Lincolnshire Police are adequately enforcing 
the law within the Borough of Boston? “ 
 
Answer supplied by the Leader: 
 
“Thank you Mr Abbott for your question, I like you always am disappointed when things 
aren’t to level of service we expect.  
 
“The level of Policing is set by the Chief Constable. It is the Police that have to risk 
assess any ongoing situation, they have a duty of care to the public but also their own 
staff. 
 
“When things do not go right then there are ways to register it, 101 and 999 register the 
incidents. Complaint’s to Professional Standards is another route. 
 
“With regard to the increase in Crime I’m always disappointed when this spikes.” 
 
Mr Abbott submitted a supplementary question, as follows: 
 
“I thank the leader for his reply and I acknowledge his disappointment at organisations 
fail to meet their own expectations not just those of their customers.  
 
“You say dial 999 or 101 I attach a screen shot of the time taken to answer one 999 call 
that shows a response time of 28 minutes 28 Seconds and I believe your personal 
experience was very similar and you were just as dissatisfied, but at least it shows that 
even the Leader of a Local Council is treated with the same contempt as a lowly 
member of the public. 
 
“I believe the Council also has an obligation to protect the residents it serves but you 
seem very reluctant to make a representation to Lincolnshire Police regarding the poor 
service the residents of Boston are receiving. 
 
“I therefore respectfully ask if you will take the relevant actions by calling to account the 
Chief Constable and the Police and Crime Comissioner and if this fails write to the 
Home Secretary requesting that the Home office take over the running of Lincolnshire 
Police as they can no longer effectively Police the County.”  
 
Answer supplied by the Leader: 
 
“Thank you, Mr Abbott, for your question.   
 
“The spending review that now has been suspended due to the COVID pandemic was to 
level up things up for both the councils and police forces alike. The police numbers have 
been given a boost by the Government, so in theory there’ll soon be more on the 
streets. What this sometimes does mean though, that whereas we have got a 

Page 2



Cabinet 
5 November 2020 

 

 
 

reasonable number of specials at the moment, many of them then join up as regulars. 
This also, however, may lead to less neighbourhood policing with more regulars on the 
street, as the formula that has been set out is prescriptive and any decrease in 
neighbourhood policing I would find a retrograde step.  
 
“Our large rural county presents any chief constable with unique challenges. The 
balance of criminality versus rights is a complex one. Many citizens would say that in 
committing crime the rights should be forfeit. However, the police and courts have to 
work within the lawful framework. I will also confirm that I have actually moved his 
complaint on to professional standards.  
 
“Thank you for your question Mr Abbott.” 
 
109   REFERRAL FROM FULL COUNCIL - CALL IN: PE21 THE NEXT STEPS 

 

 

DECISION 

 

That the original decision, made by Cabinet on 9th September 2020, 
stands, as follows: 
 
That the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) be authorised to communicate 
to the Principal of Boston College that the Council is minded to enter into 
an agreement to lease and a lease for the Geoff Moulder Centre in order to 
facilitate the development of the College’s Mayflower Centre project. 
 

Portfolio 

Holders 

and 

Officer 

 

 

TL / NW 

 

REASON FOR DECISION  

 

The Deputy Leader, Councillor Nigel Welton, introduced the report, which set out a referral 

from the Full Council meeting of 26th October 2020, regarding a Cabinet decision called-in 

and considered by Scrutiny Members.   

 

The original Cabinet decision, made on 9th September 2020, was: 

 

3.  That the Deputy Chief Executive (Strategy) be authorised to communicate to the 
Principal of Boston College that the Council is minded to enter into an 
agreement to lease and a lease for the Geoff Moulder Centre in order to facilitate 
the development of the College’s Mayflower Centre project. 

 
The Deputy Leader explained that this decision had been taken to enable the Deputy Chief 

Executive (Strategy) to have a discussion with the Principal of Boston College on the matter.   

He considered that the subsequent discussions by Members at the Corporate and 
Community Committee meeting of 1st October and at Full Council had been worthwhile and 
positive, and he reiterated his statement, made at both meeting, that no decision would be 
made in regard to transferring any Council asset except by all Members at Full Council.  
This was now a matter of public record in the minutes of those meetings.  PE21 was at the 
concept stage and when the project was developed, it would be submitted by way of a full 

Page 3



report to Cabinet and then to Full Council for a decision. 
 
The Deputy Leader proposed that the original decision made by Cabinet should stand and 
this was seconded by the Leader, Councillor Paul Skinner. 
 

 

 

OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 
None. 

 
 

 

RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  

 

None. 

 

 

RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  

 

None.  

 
 

The Meeting ended at 6.50 pm 
 

 

Signed by the Chief Executive 

 
MONDAY, 9 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
 

 
 

 
This decision will come into force with immediate effect.  
 

 
 

Page 4



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  CABINET 
 

DATE:  2ND DECEMBER 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  REGULATING AND SAFEGUARDING BOSTON’S 
ECONOMY 

 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 
 

 

REPORT AUTHOR:  COUNCILLOR JUDITH SKINNER MADAM CHAIRMAN 
OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
COMMITTEE / CHRISTIAN ALLEN ASSISTANT 
DIRECTOR REGULATION 

 

 

EXEMPT REPORT?  NO 
 

 

SUMMARY 
At a meeting of the Environment and Performance Scrutiny Committee in June 2019 
it was agreed that due to ongoing public complaints in respect of anti-social behaviour 
activity within the Borough and concerns relating to alcohol licensing, a review be 
carried out. 
 
An initial pre scrutiny Inquiry Evening was held to assist in scoping the review, 
thereafter a Task and Finish Group was convened to conduct the review and address 
public concerns.  
 
The review by the Task and Finish Group has delivered a robust set of 
recommendations, for the Council and its partners, which were subsequently agreed 
by the parent committee on 3rd November 2020. The supporting evidence provided to 
assist deliberations clearly demonstrates the diligence of Members, Officers and 
partners who were involved in the review. 
 
The request before Cabinet is an invitation to thank members and officers of the task 
and finish group and the parent committee for their outstanding work developing the 
recommendations (appendix A) and to accept them in their entirety.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. Cabinet determine to note the findings and to thank the Members and Officers 
involved in the Task and Finish (T&F) Group / Environment and Performance 
(E&P) Committee for their well-considered and thorough scrutiny work; and agree 
to accept in full their recommendations at Appendix A.  

2. Cabinet delegate responsibility to the Assistant Director Regulation to take 
forward the recommendations, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio 
Holder/Chair of Boston Town Area Committee (BTAC). 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To address the challenges explored by members of the Task and Finish Group and  
highlighted within the review process and strengthen the Councils position managing 
community safety and anti-social behaviour in the borough and to enhance the 
support provided to Lincolnshire Police in the performance of their duties addressing 
crime and disorder. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
To dismiss or amend the recommendations at Appendix A in this report. 
 
 

 

REPORT 

1. Background 

 

1.1 The starting point of this review was to carry out a public consultation exercise 
which returned in excess of 150 responses. The feedback provided a very 
clear insight into the key concerns held by the public and their perceived fears 
and frustration in respect of licensing activity and Police enforcement within 
Boston. 
 

1.2 Representation by the various support services within the town all agreed 
certain areas identified within the consultation including ease of access to 
strong alcohol, and ongoing pharmaceutical misuse drive fears. However, they 
also confirmed reductions of ASB and aspects of such, within the town centre. 
They further identified key partnership working taking place to support 
homelessness and vulnerable people in the community alongside strong and 
effective relationships with the majority of publicans. 

 
1.3 The Police along with Council’s Licensing and Land Charges Manager 

addressed the numerous questions relating to alcohol licensing from the public 
consultation. Dispelling some myths in respect of the amount of licensed 
premises, they importantly highlighted the stringent legislation currently in 
place that they had to adhere to. Significant recommendations to take forward 
to Parliament were agreed. 

 
1.4 A detailed meeting with the Police and the Council’s Community Safety Officer 

provided a wide depth of information and data across all streams of anti-social 
behaviour in Boston were compared to Skegness and Horncastle. The number 
of enforcement actions taking place were evidenced alongside details of 
policing resources, key areas of concern and also areas of improvement. 

Page 6



 
2. Summary by the Chairman Councillor Judith Skinner: 

This review has, through no fault of anyone, been undertaken at a difficult 

time due to Covid-19 resulting in its suspension until August 2020. 

Furthermore, both the day and evening economy along with the overall social 

scene has changed dramatically. 

However, the healthy response from the consultation provided an invaluable 

document on which the group based meetings. In-depth meetings with 

partners allowed questions to be raised / concerns stated and mis-

understandings to be addressed. 

Significant evidence gathering by the Council’s officers has enabled many 

areas to be challenged and explained from the consultation exercise. 

The recommendations that have been agreed are strong and reasonable in 

light of the outcomes of the review and will be monitored overtime with an 

update on all being brought back to the parent committee in 2021 to update 

everyone involved. 

My gratitude goes to all those support services representatives for attending 

our meeting in January and furthermore to the Police and our own Council 

Managers, for their professional advice and information which I trust will allow 

a clearer understanding of the constraints within which we all operate. 

 
 
3. Conclusion: 

 
3.1 The recommendations developed by the Task and Finish Group under the 

auspices of the parent Environment & Performance Committee can be found 
at appendix A. 

 
3.2 Members of Cabinet can be assured that these recommendations have been 

developed from a robust evidence base, presented by a cross section of our 
own Officers, as well as key partners that have a role to play in supporting the 
Council in its endeavours to deliver on the core priorities of the Corporate 
Plan. 

 
3.3 In this instance, it is to provide our residents and visitors to Boston with a safe 

and secure environment in which they can live, work and visit. In supporting 
the  recommendations contained in the report, Members can be a assured of 
the furtherance of that ambition. 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct financial implications arising from this report from the decision by 
Cabinet to approve or not, the recommendations. 
 

Page 7



 
When each of the recommendations are implemented, the financial implications will 
be considered carefully at that juncture. If any of the recommendations take the 
council beyond the tolerances contained in the medium term financial strategy then a 
further report will be brought before members for consideration before 
implementation. 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The decision to approve or not the recommendations contained in the report by 
Cabinet does not in itself have legal implications.  
 
When considering the recommendations, the legality of each recommendation will be 
reviewed before implementation. 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
The decision to approve or not the recommendations contained in the report by 
Cabinet does not in itself have climate change implications.  
 
When each of the recommendations are implemented, there is not likely to be any 
adverse climate change implications, however, detailed considerations will be made 
at that juncture.  
 
 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
The decision to approve or not the recommendations contained in the report by 
Cabinet does not in itself have equality and safeguarding implications.  
 
When each of the recommendations are implemented then the equality and 
safeguarding implications will be considered at that juncture. 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
None  
 

 
CONSULTATION 
Portfolio Holder Councillor Paul Skinner 
Madam Chairman of the Environment and Performance Committee; Councillor Judith 
Skinner 
 

Page 8



APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A Task and Finish Group / Environment and 
Performance Committee recommendations  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Report to the Environment and 
Performance Committee on 3rd 
November 2020 

https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk 
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 

Name of body Date 

Environment and Performance 
Committee 

3rd November 2020 

 

Page 9

https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/


 
APPENDIX A 

 
Recommendations developed by the Task and Finish Group established under 
the auspices of the Environment and Performance Committee to conduct a 
review into: REGULATING AND SAFEGUARDING BOSTON’S ECONOMY  

 

1. That a call for a change in the legislation be tabled to prevent the sale of 

alcohol during an appeal period and that the Member of Parliament for 

Boston be asked to champion such a change regardless of the 

government’s apparent lack of appetite to do so. 

 
2. That Government, take into consideration the significant loss of revenue to 

the 

U.K from increasing sales of illicit tobacco, implement Licensing of the sale 

of tobacco. 

 
3. That closure of a business found to be in breach of its alcohol licence 

conditions be immediate until an official Licensing hearing determined its 

future. 

 
4. That the Police and Senior Council Officers be empowered to serve FPNs 

for breach of licence conditions 

 
5. That all 11 responsible authorities be required to give consideration to all 

licence applications / reviews of licences and be encouraged to take greater 

involvement by providing clear, concise feedback. 

 
6. That Parliament be asked for an increase in Alcohol Licensing fees. 

 

 
7. That the Council provide greater education of the public and of parish 

councils in their rights to respond to Licensing applications and that 

guidance be readily available and circulated where possible. 

 
8. That Boston Community Alcohol Partnership (CAP) be requested to 

promote its success to date and popularise itself in the media/social media 

particularly. 

 

Page 10



9. That reporting of ASB activity be produced and issued quarterly for 

members of the public. 

That the reporting provided be comparative to incidents within Horncastle 

and Skegness over the same period. 

That the report be within a frame of reference, identifying the activity both 

per capita and numeric. 

That the reporting be issued on the Councils website for ease of access by 

the public and also an item be produced within the Councils newsletter 

advising of the new reporting facility and the link to access it. 

 
10. That a notice be included on the Council’s website providing the general 

police contact email for reporting of non-urgent crime. The notice to include 

a caveat stressing the link is only for non-urgent crime. 

 
11. That discussions’ are held between the Council and the Police to agree a 

way forward in facilitating regular public meetings, to allow questions by 

public in respect of policing matters. 

One option being to provide a quarterly or monthly Q and A session meeting 

to allow all members of the public across the borough to participate. 

 

12. That the Council consider locking the Central Park gates overnight to 

address on-going issues of ASB within the park. 

That if required a trial period of four months be agreed to allow monitoring 

of incidents during that time to either support or not, the closing of the gates 

permanently overnight. 

That agreement is reached as to who will fund the cost of who will close the 

gates and that a request be made to the BTAC committee for such funding 

for the trial period, or if agreed on a permanent basis. 

 

13. That BTAC be requested to consider the funding of a service for Central 

Park to address ongoing ASB in the park. 

 
 
 

End of recommendations. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TO:               CABINET

DATE: 02 DECEMBER 2020

SUBJECT: PORT OF BOSTON - GATEWAY TO GROWTH

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR NIGEL WELTON

REPORT AUTHOR: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT MANAGER

EXEMPT REPORT? NO

SUMMARY 

To provide information regarding development of the project "Port of Boston - 
Gateway to Growth" and the Economic, Social and Environmental impact on both 
the local and regional economies, creating a super efficient logistics hub with real 
international significance enabling Boston and south east Lincolnshire to safe guard 
the existing 40,000+ jobs, and through new innovation create further employment 
opportunities to influence and inspire our communities to realise their full potential 
and raise the aspirations for future generations.  

The East of England, and especially Boston and south east Lincolnshire is 
synonymous with the fresh produce food sector, including having the largest food 
logistics and storage cluster. The Lincolnshire food sector is based on both strong 
local and regional food production as well as processing millions of tonnes of 
imports each year from over 39 countries worldwide.  

Efficient, timely and reliable international and national logistics are essential to 
sustain the 90,000 jobs in agriculture and food processing in Lincolnshire and 
neighbouring Local Enterprise Partnership areas in the East Midlands and East 
Anglia, known as the UK Food Valley.  

The economic rationale behind the Gateway to Growth project is clear and will 
provide huge opportunities for Boston and sub-regional areas to strengthen their 
economies, enhance and create further job opportunities, add value to private 
sector investment and carbon reduction related strategies and enhanced 
connectivity that supports the Midlands Engine for growth and the manufacturing 
belt of the UK.

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



RECOMMENDATIONS 

1 That the Cabinet approves the under mention recommendations 

 (i) To provide, from the Transformation Fund financial support to the 
Midlands Connect feasibility study of not more than £20,000. 

 (ii) To allocate a budget of £30,000 to the Deputy Chief Executive for the 
purpose of supporting ongoing project development, to include but not 
exhaustive any feasibility or viability studies and any external advice 
that may support the project development. 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

These recommendations to Cabinet are required to demonstrate to our partner, 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), the support of Boston Borough Council to the 
Midlands Connect feasibility study and to provide ongoing support for project 
initiation and development. Without this funding, the project would not be able to 
progress to the next stage and the LCC will not support a Midlands Connect 
submission. 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 

If funding is not approved, the project will not progress and this will impact on the 
economic environment and future job stability for our communities.

Page 14



REPORT 

1. Background 

1.1 Our starting point was to set out our economic vision to capitalise on the 
economic potential of the Port Of Boston - post leaving the European Union on 01 
January 2021.   

“To create a successful, resilient and connected economy which can compete 
on a national scale and deliver sustainable infrastructure that’s fit for the future 
enabling economic, environmental and social regeneration”. 

1.2  For this, the economic rationale behind the Gateway to Growth project is clear 
and will provide huge opportunities for local and sub-regional areas to strengthen 
their economies, enhance and create further job opportunities, add value to 
private sector investment and carbon reduction related strategies and enhanced 
connectivity that supports the Midlands Engine for growth and the manufacturing 
belt of the UK. 

1.3  The vision to create a successful, resilient and connected economy chimes 
with Boston Borough Council’s own economic strategy, investments and assets, 
and by working across the public and private sectors in partnership we can create 
a super efficient logistics hub, and through the Port of Boston be a ‘slick service’ 
catalyst which can compete on a national scale and deliver sustainable 
infrastructure that’s fit for the future enabling south east Lincolnshire to safe 
guard the existing 40,000+ jobs, and through new innovation create further 
employment opportunities to inspire our communities to realise their full potential 
and deliver a step change in economic, environmental and social 
regeneration.  

1.4  The East of England, and especially south east Lincolnshire is synonymous with 
the fresh produce food sector, including having the largest food logistics and 
storage cluster, servicing the UK via 1000 trucks per day. Over 1/5th of all freight 
commodities transported by road in 2017 was food related. Successful areas and 
regions capture and harness current and emerging opportunities from their local 
assets and investments and where we see the Port of Boston affirming south east 
Lincolnshire as a place to invest. 

1.5  To deliver our economic vision and unlock the huge potential of the Gateway to 
Growth project, we need to invest in projects of significance that will open up and 
create economic interventions which stimulates a confident environment that 
retains and attracts businesses, a diverse skills base and a physical, social and 
culture infrastructure building on the overall competitiveness of the area. 

1.6  The UK food industry is keen to deliver substantial growth after leaving the 
European Union by adding value to food imports and driving strong export growth, 
and we believe that working closely with our commercial partners with the right 
skills and a World Class efficient Port logistics hub with improved road and rail 

Page 15



infrastructure, supporting the UK and international markets, sustainable growth is 
deliverable. 

1.7  Centred between the manufacturing heartland of the Midlands and mainland 
Europe, the Port of Boston is suitably positioned to take full advantage of the 
economic growth potential that is location, scale of potential fresh produce 
imports & exports through its proximity to the Dutch ports of Amsterdam and 
Rotterdam, multi-modal connectivity and the real opportunity to become the food 
port of the UK. 

1.8  The Borough of Boston and south east Lincolnshire is a strategic economic 
location for food production, processing, logistics & storage and associated 
supply chains and why, as part of the Town Deal Investment Plan, the Centre for 
Food and Fresh Produce Logistics was developed.  

1.9  The concept is for a Centre for Fresh Produce (or all Food) Logistics to include:  
• Enhanced Port facilities with dedicated, enlarged capacity for food trade 

(imports & exports); 

• A linked food trade & logistics skills, knowledge & innovation centre 
(Boston College & NCFM). 

1.10  However, as the project developed it became apparent very quickly, through 
consultation with fresh produce supply chains, importers, wider partners including 
the Fresh Produce Network (FPN), the volumes of imported perishable goods that 
arrive into South Lincolnshire, together with the clustering of food production 
locally, there is the opportunity for a wider project to be considered. 

1.11 The Lincolnshire food sector is based on both strong local and regional food 
production as well as processing millions of tonnes of imports each year from 
over 39 countries worldwide Appendix 2. Efficient, timely and reliable 
international and national logistics are essential to sustain the 90,000 jobs in 
agriculture and food processing in Lincolnshire and neighbouring Local Enterprise 
Partnership areas in the East Midlands and East Anglia, known as the UK Food 
Valley. 

1.12  The food industry is keen to deliver post Brexit growth and we believe that with 
the Port of Boston front and centre, delivering the right skills through the Centre of 
Food and Fresh Produce Logistics, creating the right environment for business 
investment and through improved connectivity this growth is deliverable. The Port 
of Boston already plays a critical role in receiving and moving “just in time” coiled 
steel for the automotive industries into the West Midlands by road and rail, 
delivering confidence within that sector that Boston is ideally placed as an 
entrance point for the manufacturing cluster in the Midlands. 

1.13 There are no immediate implications arising from this report but there may be 
issues affecting third party organisations as the project develops and they will 
consider those if relevant at the appropriate time. 

  

Page 16



2. Current Position 

2.1  As a result of the above information and the opportunities that this presents, 
Officers developed a steering group of strategic partners to identify and resolve 
key issues connected with expansion of the port. The group includes Lincolnshire 
County Council, South Holland District Council, the Port of Boston, the Chamber 
of Commerce - Fresh Produce Network (FPN), Lincoln University several major 
importers and associated supply chains businesses. 

2.2 Following the launch of the Port of Boston - Gateway to Growth project on 14 
September with wider strategic partners, a series of subgroups have been 
created and who are already meeting to focus on specific issues and will report 
back to the steering group. 

 The four subgroups are: 

• Logistics  
• UK Food Valley 
• Trade and Inward Investment 
• Research, Innovation and Skills 

2.3 However, with the designation of Greater Lincolnshire as part of the High 
Potential Opportunities scheme, the UK Food Valley sub-group is likely to evolve 
into a group led by the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership 
(GLLEP). 

2.4 There are no immediate implications arising from this report but there may be 
issues affecting third party organisations as the project develops and they will 
consider those if relevant at the appropriate time. 

3. Midlands Connect 

3.1 Highways infrastructure, both the ability for the existing network to support 
current traffic demands and also the additional demands generated through 
anticipated growth in the area as a result of the Port of Boston, the Food Valley, 
the designation of Greater Lincolnshire as one of an area of High Potential 
Opportunity (HPO) and the impact of the investment generated through the Town 
Deal, is a key priority. 

3.2  Discussions have been taking place with Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) 
regarding the possibility of a submission to Midlands Connect for a feasibility 
scheme in connection with roads around the Port of Boston. Noting the wider arc 
of growth, LCC have agreed to support a bid, providing the Borough Council 
makes a financial contribution of unto £20,000. 

3.3 This bid for funding to review strategic transport connectivity and the 
reassessment of the current Lincolnshire County Council’s Route Action Plan 
(RAP) along key strategic routes would greatly enhance and expand the 

Page 17



economic opportunity in and around Boston (A16) and the vitally important 
economic routes of (A15 & A17), support the continued economic growth and 
identify a series of priority schemes to address congestion and pinch points in the 
network to unlock freight movement to improve the efficiency of the Boston and 
South East Lincolnshire agri-food sector. The RAP Review will therefore be 
undertaken with a view to: 

• identifying schemes that require further investigation and 
• interventions that are required to address the routes affected by existing 

congestion and which will unlock potential growth  

3.4 Midlands Connect researches, develops and recommends transport projects 
which will provide the biggest possible economic and social benefits for the 
Midlands and the rest of the UK. 

3.5 Midlands Connect examine every option for improving major transport 
infrastructure in the Midlands region. The fundamental aim of these improvements 
is to transform regional and UK gateways, bringing the Midlands closer together 
and accelerating cost-effective improvements to unlock east-west connectivity 
that will enable the Midlands’ economies to work more effectively together. 

3.6 Discussions continue to take place between both LCC and South Holland District 
Council (SHDC) as to how to progress this opportunity for South Lincolnshire and 
members may find more information on Midlands Connect at https://
www.midlandsconnect.uk/ 

3.7 There are no immediate implications arising from this report but there may be 
issues affecting third party organisations as the project develops and they will 
consider those if relevant at the appropriate time 

4.    The Food Valley and designation of Greater Lincolnshire as a High 
Potential Opportunity Scheme (HPO) 

4.1 Councillor Davie, the Portfolio Holder for Economy and Place at LCC, recently 
said Lincolnshire is the food capital of the UK, because it provides an eighth of 
the country’s food (see Appendix 2) and furthermore, this is very much about 
reminding the nation that Lincolnshire is strategically important for what they put 
on their table. The developments at Holbeach, including the Food Enterprise 
Zone, which will deliver approximately 59,500 square metres of work space. The 
Food Valley is likely to stretch from South Lincolnshire into the West Midlands.  

4.2 On 9 October, it was announced that Automation and Robotics in the food sector 
in Greater Lincolnshire has been chosen as one of the Government’s 19 new 
investment opportunities across the UK. The announcement means this area will 
now work with the Department for International Trade (DIT) to attract overseas 
investment into agri-food automation and robotics projects and businesses in 
Greater Lincolnshire. The High Potential Opportunities (HPO) scheme aims to 

Page 18

https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/
https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/


increase inward investment into the UK and help the country build back better. 
The press release is attached at Appendix 1 for information. 

These initiatives will create benefit to the proposals within the Town Deal and 
Boston College for skills  

  
4.3 These projects provide a significant platform from which Boston can promote the 

skills and learning agenda and commercial opportunities as set out in the Boston 
Town Investment Plan and link in the Port of Boston. 

4.4 There are no immediate implications arising from this report but there may be 
issues affecting third party organisations as the project develops and they will 
consider those if relevant at the appropriate time. 

  CONCLUSION 

5.1 As previously mentioned, there are 40,000+ jobs within South East Lincolnshire 
that are linked to the logistics industry. Whilst the majority of key employers are 
based in SHDC’s area, many Boston residents commute to work with those 
employers. This project, through seeking improvement in the road infrastructure, 
will help keep those employers based in our area and we have already seen 
some success through the agreement of LCC to agree to submit a Midlands 
Connect feasibility scheme. 

5.2 In addition, this project is not simply about preserving existing jobs, but also 
creating the environment for continued growth and prosperity not just for Boston, 
but the wider geographical area, and indeed the wider UKPLC agenda, which will 
lead to an increase in employment opportunities, including higher skilled 
employment. 

5.3  South Lincolnshire is on the cusp of significant growth. The Port of Boston - 
Gateway to Growth project provides an opportunity for Boston to facilitate and 
lead on the further development of this project and directly link into other major 
projects that are taking place within the region to ensure that Boston as a 
Borough, is included in the projected outcomes of those projects, for the wider 
benefit of our communities. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

The financial commitments will be met from the Transformation Fund. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no direct legal or equality implications arising directly from this report.

Page 19



CONSULTATION 

There has been a briefing to wider members on the Port of Boston, Gateway to 
Growth, a presentation to the Corporate & Community scrutiny committee.  

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 

There are no climate change implications associated with this report. However 
there may be issues affecting third party organisations as the project(s) develop 
and they will consider those if relevant at the appropriate time. 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None arising directly from this report 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX1 (Title ofGreater Lincolnshire LEP - News release 9 
October 2020 - Global Spotlight on Greater 
Lincolnshire Food Automation and Robotics 
Research document)

APPENDIX 2 Current economic outputs in relation to South 
East Lincolnshires Agri-food sector

Page 20



APPENDIX 1 

 
News release 

9th October 2020 

Global Spotlight on Greater Lincolnshire 
Food Automation and Robotics Research 

Automation and robotics in the food sector in Greater Lincolnshire has been chosen 
as one of the Government’s 19 new investment opportunities across the UK. 

The announcement means our area will now work with the Department for International 
Trade (DIT) to attract overseas investment into agri-food automation and robotics projects 
and businesses in Greater Lincolnshire. 

The High Potential Opportunities (HPO) scheme aims to increase inward investment into the 
UK and help the country build back better.  

Last night (Thursday) the Investment Minister Gerry Grimstone MP announced that the bid 
submitted by the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership in the second round 
has been successful. 

DIT’s global network based in 177 cities around the world will now provide support to our 
agrifood automation and robotics cluster by showcasing opportunities internationally and 
contacting investors to promote the opportunities. 

Next month partners from DIT, the Greater Lincolnshire LEP, Lincolnshire County Council, 
district councils, universities and industry will meet to start work on Greater Lincolnshire’s 
HPO in food processing, automation and robotics. 

DIT will then use the resulting commercial proposition to put Greater Lincolnshire on an 
international stage through its sector teams and network of posts across the globe. 

The expectation is that the HPO will attract more inward investment to the area and create 
more high-quality jobs in the agrifood sector. 
  
Pat Doody, Chair of the Greater Lincolnshire Local Enterprise Partnership, said: "Food 
production is a cornerstone of the Greater Lincolnshire economy and indeed the UK. It has 
created more growth and high-value jobs in the last five years than any other sector so we 
are delighted this is recognised nationally, and we will work with the Department for 

Page 21

http://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk


International Trade to develop our pitch for additional investment opportunities to bring 
automation and robotics companies to Lincolnshire. 
  
“Partners locally are working together to develop Greater Lincolnshire into the ‘UK Food 
Valley’ which will compete globally. In the last five years we have seen a real upturn in this 
sector, with at least £500 million being invested locally, including £90 million on research and 
development and innovation. Key schemes such as the development of the South 
Lincolnshire Food Enterprise Zone and the growth of the agri-robotics research hub have 
been influential in growing the cluster.  

“However, I am really clear that there are significant opportunities for growth, particularly 
around food production and logistics in Boston, automation and robotics, AI, and 
nutrition. These are exciting times for Greater Lincolnshire food production.” 

Karen Seal, Principal Officer for Place and Investment at Lincolnshire County Council, said: 
"The HPO will give us a fantastic opportunity to showcase our region on an international 
platform, promoting our assets, attracting new inward investments and creating highly skilled 
jobs. 

“We need investors to know that Greater Lincolnshire is the UK and European leader for 
agri-robotics and automation, and to be based here opens up a wealth of opportunities for 
their business." 

Professor Simon Pearson, Professor of Agri-Food Technology at the Lincoln Institute for Agri-
Food Technology, said: "We’re delighted to be engaged in this opportunity. Clearly agrifood 
technology is a significant strength of the University of Lincoln and we’re looking forward to 
collaborating with the Greater Lincolnshire LEP and the Department for International Trade to 
support inward investment into the area. 

"It’s a wonderful way to exploit the research capacity at the university which now includes the 
largest group of agri-roboticists in the EU.” 

Councillor Nick Worth, Lincolnshire County Councillor for Holbeach and Deputy Leader of 
South Holland District Council, welcomed the announcement, saying: “This is really positive 
news for the area, and the additional support, promotion and resource will be invaluable as 
the district and wider county continues to promote itself to investors as the home of the 
largest cluster of agri-food businesses anywhere in the country. 
  
“With the Department for International Trade’s assistance we can begin to build new global 
connections and highlight some of the fantastic projects taking place in the area, such as the 
Food Enterprise Zone in Holbeach. Working with our partners I am excited to help put 
Lincolnshire on the map worldwide and encourage new investment, businesses and jobs into 
the county.” 
  
The Minister for Investment Gerry Grimstone MP said: “The UK has so much to offer 
international investors across a variety of key sectors and regions. Our HPO programme 
looks at some of the sectors and sites across the UK where we see some of the world’s 
greatest challenges being solved.   
  
“Inward investment will help the UK build back better while levelling up all parts of the UK. 
This is just the start of the steps we are taking to increase inward investment and drive 
economic recovery.”   

Notes to Editors 

About the Greater Lincolnshire LEP: 

Page 22



• The Greater Lincolnshire LEP was set up in 2010 and works with businesses and local 
authorities to develop and grow Greater Lincolnshire’s diverse economy. 

• It is a public / private partnership led by the private sector. 
• It works with central Government and the private sector to invest in infrastructure, skills, 

innovation and productivity. 
• More than 100 businesses are involved in its strategies, and 80 business people sit on its 

boards. 
• The LEP has an ambitious and balanced strategic economic growth plan for Greater 

Lincolnshire. 
• The LEP’s six priority sectors are agri-food, the visitor economy, manufacturing, logistics, 

health and care and low-carbon energy. 
• The LEP has invested £307 million in local economic growth schemes in Greater Lincolnshire 

since 2014. 
• The Greater Lincolnshire LEP covers an area including North Lincolnshire, North East 

Lincolnshire, Rutland and the administrative county of Lincolnshire and is led by a LEP board 
made up of leading figures in the public and private sector. 

• To find out more visit http://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk or follow the LEP on Twitter 
@greaterlincslep, Facebook or LinkedIn. 

About DIT and inward investment: 

• The UK continues to be the top destination in Europe for attracting foreign direct 
investment. Results published by UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development) show that by the end of 2019 the UK’s inward FDI stock levels reached 
USD2.1 trillion, second only to the United States.   

• The Financial Times FDI Report 2020 highlights that the UK remains top in Europe on 
attracting FDI projects and on green field capital expenditure. This demonstrates that 
the UK continued to attract FDI throughout 2019 at an unbeaten rate in Europe.   

• The most recent FDI figures show 1,852 projects were recorded, 56,117 new jobs 
were created and 9.021 were safeguarded in 2019/20 thanks to FDI. [Source: DIT 
Figures July 2020]. 

• Regionally, FDI contributes to around 12% to 17% of employment in every region of 
the UK and contributes to more than a quarter of the business turnover in every 
region of the UK, with the exception of London, where the share of employment and 
business turnover is 24% and 52% respectively.  

• It is observed that businesses that receive inward FDI were 74% more productive 
than non-FDI firms.   

• There is high productivity disparity within the UK regions, with relatively higher 
productivity in London and the south-east (where the presence of foreign-owned 
firms is more than proportional to other regions). Thus, attracting additional FDI can 
be a part of the solution to the UK’s long-standing productivity challenge and 
particularly for the levelling up agenda.   

For media information contact: 
Jez Ashberry 
Director  
Shooting Star 
01522 528540 
jez@weareshootingstar.co.uk  
[LEP250HPO] 

Page 23

http://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk
http://www.greaterlincolnshirelep.co.uk
mailto:jez@weareshootingstar.co.uk


APPENDIX 2 

1.0     The evidence base emerging as part of the consultation with fresh produce 
supply chains, importers, wider partners including the University of Lincoln and 
Boston College and the FPN, highlighted the following:- 

• The UK fresh produce sector has grown faster than agriculture as 
demand has been increasing and both retailers and consumers are 
keen to increase UK sourcing.  From 2015-19 turnover increased by 
22% to £3.8billion, which rises to circa £4.5billion with potatoes 
included. 

• However, the UK continues to import 65% of the fresh produce it 
consumes and whilst UK production has been rising so have imports.  
Total food imports are over 12 million tonnes per year, with fresh 
produce over 50% of this total.  Currently the UK imports: 

▪ 2.3 million tonnes or 66% of its vegetable and salad supply, worth 
£2.5bn; 

▪ 3.8 million tonnes or 86% of its fruit supply, worth £ 3.6bn; 
▪ 51% ornamentals, worth £1.2bn. 

• Exports in all these crops are only 5-10% of imports, but have in most 
cases grown faster than imports.  The industry think there is a big post 
Brexit opportunity for further export growth, but to realise this potential 
‘slick’ logistics, in terms of cost, time and reliability are essential. 

• Horticulture only uses 3.5% of the UK’s crop land, but produces 38% of 
the value of crop output.  Growing this sector will increase UK output 
and Lincolnshire is well placed to lead this process. 

• Total UK imports of food and drink were £48 billion in 2019, with a large 
concentration in sourcing: 12% from Netherlands; Ireland 10%; 
Germany 10%; France 9%; Spain 7% - 5 countries represent 47% of all 
UK food and drink imports.  Adding Italy, Belgium, Poland and Denmark 
means 70% of UK food and drink imports come from North Sea and 
Mediterranean states. 

• The destinations the UK exports food and drink to is also concentrated - 
5 countries represent 50% of all exports: Ireland 17%; USA 10%; 
France 10%: Netherlands 7.3% and Germany 6.1%. 

• Overall 75% of UK food and drink import and exports are with the EU 
and most with states clustered around the North Sea, which are easily 
accessible from Boston. 

• Non EU trade is growing faster than EU trade, but often accessed via 
EU ports, mainly Rotterdam, with global connectivity and links to the 
Netherlands global food trading hub and industry suggests Rotterdam 

Page 24



is a potential key to future UK food imports and exports.  This would 
use Boston to Rotterdam feeder vessels (150-200 containers) to serve 
UK and Northern European markets, with global trade using boats with 
capacities 10-50 times this to connect to global markets. 

• The food industry is growing increasingly concerned that existing UK 
ports have capacity issues for food trade (London Gateway, Dover) 
which Brexit may make worse and are difficult to access (e.g. M25/
London congestion).  Long term they expect these challenges to be 
solved, but if Boston can move forward quickly there is potential to 
secure long-term market share.   

• Given the growing importance of logistics efficiency and reliability to 
supply chain success food companies want to look at alternative ports 
and, if these could offer a ‘slick service’ and/or lower end to end costs, 
are keen to transfer their business.  Netherlands based food companies 
have given the same feedback and have suggested a long-term 
strategic partnership is desirable. 

1.2 Another key factor of why the Port of Boston becoming a gateway for import 
into the region is due in part to the number of jobs that are connected to the 
logistics industry within South East Lincolnshire which amount to 40,000 and it 
is essential to address this to safeguard jobs. The existing importers are under 
pressure to relocate to the South East to be closer to the London/Channel 
ports and one of the drivers for this pressure is linked to the impact of hauliers' 
journey times and haulage costs. As an example, the distances from UK ports 
to Spalding are as follows:- 

• Felixstowe - 113 miles 
• Tilbury - 121 miles 
• Thames Gateway - 121 miles 
• Southampton - 178 miles 
• Boston - 14 miles 

1.3 By reducing the mileage that produce travels, this has the ability to improve 
the distribution on adjusting time system and improve the carbon footprint.  

1.4 The importer/logistic companies need to see commitment to an improvement 
to unlock this potential for trade (millions of tonnes per year), which is only 
possible if the Port has access to efficient road and rail links which connect it 
to the regional food industry and national markets and to provide a base for 
them to remain in our locality. On the whole they do not wish to relocate 
because of the skilled workforce, access to high quality training provision, low 
wage costs and existing supply chain connections. 

1.5 Industry are very keen to develop new skills and innovation in parallel to the 
port to support the trade and supply chain efficiency.  Dutch colleagues have 
suggested a strategic NL/UK partnership in this area. This links to the 
Government's decision to choose automation and robotics in the food sector in 

Page 25



Greater Lincolnshire as one of their 19 new investment opportunities across 
the UK (see Appendix 1 - Greater Lincolnshire LEP's press release dated 9 
October 2020). 

Page 26



 

 

 

 
 
 
 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 2nd DECEMBER 2020 

SUBJECT: ROUGH SLEEPING ACCOMMODATION PROGRAMME  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR MARTIN GRIGGS, PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
FOR HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES  

REPORT AUTHOR: MICHELLE HOWARD, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – 
HOUSING AND WELLBEING  

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 
 

SUMMARY 
 
The Government has placed significant emphasis on addressing rough sleeping 
during the Covid 19 pandemic. Building on an existing focus on reducing rough 
sleeping, Boston Borough Council has been successful in accessing additional 
funding for emergency accommodation provision and has repurposed existing rough 
sleeping funding to ensure a proactive and effective response.  
 
The next phase of the Governments Covid19 response to homelessness is to make 
accommodation available longer term for those who have been accommodated 
during the pandemic, and to make this accommodation available for the purpose of 
providing accommodation for current and future rough sleepers on a longer term 
basis (30 years) through the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP). 
 
In August 2020, Local Authorities were invited to bid to the Governments Rough 
Sleeping Accommodation Programme. Local Authority bidders to this capital 
programme were required to either have Homes England Investment Partner status 
or to work with a suitably experienced partner with this in place.  
 
A bid was submitted by Boston Borough Council endorsing Framework Housing 
Association as its delivery partner. This has been accepted by MHCLG and Homes 
England who have agreed an allocation of £739,297 (capital and associated support 
revenue costs) to deliver ten units of accommodation in the Borough of Boston. 
These units would be available for occupation by 31st March 2021. Allocation of these 
units would be prioritised for rough sleepers / those at risk of rough sleeping. It is 
proposed that this is managed via a specific allocations agreement (known as a local 
lettings policy).  
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5



 

 

Homes England are currently in the final stages of a due diligence process and are 
preparing to issue contracts. The funding would be allocated directly to Framework 
Housing Association.  
 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. That Cabinet members agree to a partnership arrangement with Framework 

Housing Association to allow for the delivery of ten units of accommodation 
through the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme.  

 
2.  That Cabinet members delegate to the Portfolio Holder, Housing & Communities 

the development of a local lettings policy to ensure that the units of 
accommodation delivered through this scheme are allocated to rough sleepers or 
those at risk of rough sleeping and that these units are available for this purpose 
for a minimum of 30 years. 

 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To enable the delivery and allocation of move on accommodation for rough sleepers, 
or those who would otherwise be at risk of sleeping rough. 
 

 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Boston Borough Council was unable on this occasion to bid for capital funding itself to 
deliver the RSAP due to not being a housing provider and not having Homes England 
Investment Partner (IP) status. The steps to achieve IP status were prohibitive within 
the timescales. The ongoing administrative requirements were prohibitive for a 
scheme of this scale.  
 
Whilst other providers had expressed an interest in working on this bidding 
opportunity in Boston, there were no other proposals submitted within the short 
bidding timescale. Framework HA is an experienced provider with a strong track 
record and ability to deliver this scheme in Boston Borough. Due diligence is currently 
being carried out by Homes England prior to contracts being issued.  
  

 
 
REPORT 
 
1.0 The Government has placed significant emphasis on addressing rough 

sleeping during the Covid 19 pandemic. Building on an existing focus on 
reducing rough sleeping, Boston Borough Council has been successful in 
accessing additional funding for emergency accommodation provision and has 

Page 28



 

 

repurposed existing rough sleeping resource to ensure a proactive and 
effective response. 

 
2.0 The next phase of the Governments Covid19 response to homelessness is to 

make accommodation available longer term for those who have been 
accommodated during the pandemic, and to make this accommodation 
available to rough sleepers on a longer term basis (30 years) through the 
Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme (RSAP). 

 
3.0 Local Authority bidders to the RSAP capital programme were required to either 

have Homes England Investment Partner status or to work a suitably 
experienced partner with this in place. Whilst securing Investment Partner 
status was explored, it was not feasible for Boston Borough Council to secure 
this for the purposes of this bidding programme.  

 
4.0 Partner organisations with this status were asked to put forward proposals to 

enable submission to the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme 
funding opportunity.  

 
5.0 One detailed proposal was received from Framework Housing Association, an 

experienced provider of supported accommodation for homelessness.  
 
6.0 A bid was submitted by Boston Borough Council endorsing Framework 

Housing Association as its delivery partner. This has been accepted by 
MHCLG and Homes England who have agreed an allocation of £739,297 
(capital and associated support revenue costs) to deliver ten units of 
accommodation in the Borough of Boston.  

 
7.0 These units would be available for occupation by 31st March 2021. Allocation 

of these units would be prioritised for rough sleepers / those at risk of rough 
sleeping.  

 
8.0 Homes England are currently in the final stages of a due diligence process 

and are preparing to issue contracts. The funding would be allocated directly 
to Framework Housing Association.  

 
9.0 The RSAP was heavily oversubscribed. Scheme proposals considered viable 

and deliverable by MHCLG were subject to further assessment and refinement 
prior to these provisional allocations being made.  

 
10.0 If successful, the capital funding (and associated revenue costs for support in 

those units) will be awarded to Framework Housing Association. Management, 
repairs and other associated costs would be the responsibility of Framework 
HA.  

 
11.0 To protect the units of accommodation and ensure they are prioritised for 

rough sleepers / those who would otherwise be at risk of sleeping rough in 
Boston Borough, Local Authorities have been asked to develop local lettings 
policies to sit alongside their Housing Allocations Schemes. This would guide 
nomination and allocation arrangements. 

Page 29



 

 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
The Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme is a key step in Boston Borough 
Councils efforts to address rough sleeping and homelessness. To enable the delivery 
and allocation of move on accommodation for rough sleepers, or those who would 
otherwise be at risk of sleeping rough in Boston it is recommended that: 
 

 Cabinet members agree to a partnership arrangement with Framework 
Housing to allow for the delivery of this initial ten units of accommodation 
through the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme 

 Cabinet members delegate to the Portfolio Holder, Housing & Communities 
the development of a local lettings policy to ensure that the units of 
accommodation delivered through this scheme are allocated to rough sleepers 
or those at risk of rough sleeping for a minimum of 30 years 

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no budget implications for Boston Borough Council. However, by endorsing 
Framework HA as its delivery partner, BBC is able to secure significant funding for 
the area to deliver ten units of accommodation by the end of the financial year.  
 
The allocation £739,297 is to deliver ten units of accommodation. A due diligence 
process is being finalised prior to contracts being issued. Contracts will be issued to 
Framework HA directly by MHCLG / Homes England  
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Officers are sighted on the following advice from CIPFA. ELDC officers working on 
the same funding programme with a similar proposal to partner with Framework HA 
have provided BBC with this advice. Subject to Cabinet approval, officers will work 
with Boston Borough Council’s procurement and contracting colleagues to ensure all 
steps and recommendations are followed. It should be noted the MHCLG colleagues 
have confirmed that the funding allocation and grant arrangements would be directly 
between MHCLG / Homes England and Framework HA.  
 

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is 
providing funding to local authorities, registered providers, and their local 
partners to engage with the next stage of their COVID-19 Rough Sleeping 
response. Initial proposals must be submitted by 20 August so it there is a very 
short timescale. I am of the view that there is no direct procurement issue to 
consider as regards the application for funding. However the grant application 
process required local authorities to engage across departments and with 
partners in order to explore options for acquiring, refurbishing, leasing and 
building of property. The council will therefore need to ensure that it has 
satisfied these assessment requirements. Whilst acquisition of properties is 
outside the ambit of the Public Contract Regulations 2015, if the funding is to 

Page 30



 

 

be transferred to Framework Housing Association or to another provider, the 
council will also need to consider:  

 
1. Is this the most effective way of spending the money (the council is unable 

itself to meet some of the conditions of grant and therefore needs to partner 
with a third party to make housing provision available). For e.g. should the 
council retain some rights in the lease purchase to allow revenue return on 
investment? 

2. Ensure that it complies with any conditions of grant stipulated by MHCLG.  
3. Whether other providers may still be interested in working with the council and 

should have been given the opportunity  
4. If the council enters into any contractual arrangement with a third party for 

interim accommodation, procurement rules may be applicable. Where the 
funding will be used for the acquisition of properties, this will most likely fall 
outside PCR 15, however, if the council will have a SLA with the housing 
provider, this will have to be looked at in further detail at the appropriate time. 
As I stated it is very possible to structure this under Reg 12(7) PCR15 to fall 
outside the regulations provided all of the conditions are satisfied 

 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no implications relevant to this report.  
 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
Progressing this partnership arrangement will better enable BBC to meet the needs of 
vulnerable individuals.  
 
A local lettings policy will ensure the accommodation units can be prioritised for rough 
sleepers / those at risk of rough sleeping. This will not impact on the availability of 
existing accommodation in Boston Borough to households on the housing register.  
 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
Resources 
 
As the contract would be awarded to Framework HA, there are no resource 
implications for BBC outside of normal service delivery. Management, repairs and 
other associated costs would be the responsibility of Framework HA. 
 
An SLA between Boston Borough Council and Framework HA will be required 
 
Risk 
 
Contract between Homes England and Framework HA will include risk 
considerations / risk register. BBC will support Framework HA to identify suitable 
accommodation for this scheme. Acquisition, management, repairs and other 

Page 31



 

 

associated costs would be the responsibility of Framework HA. 
 
Officers will work with Procurement and Legal colleagues to ensure all arrangements 
are in place to work in partnership with Framework HA on this programme (please 
note CIPFA advice at section 11). An SLA between BBC and Framework HA will be 
required. 
 
A Local Lettings Policy will be developed to ensure a clear framework for prioritising 
and allocating these accommodation units to rough sleepers / those who would 
otherwise be at risk of sleeping rough in Boston Borough. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
Not applicable 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
None  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Next Steps Accommodation Programme guidance 
 

Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme – Provisional Allocations  
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
2nd December 2020: Cabinet (for approval) 
 

 

Page 32

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907977/NSAP_Guidance.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/930786/RSAP_allocations.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 2ND DECEMBER 2020 

SUBJECT: TOWNS FUND ACCELERATOR PROJECT 
‘EXPERIENCE BOSTON’ 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: CLLR RICHARD AUSTIN – PORTFOLIO HOLDER - 
HERITAGE 

REPORT AUTHOR: LUKE SKERRITT – MUSEUM, ARTS AND HERITAGE 
MANAGER 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
This report details the content of the Towns Fund Accelerator Project ‘Experience 
Boston’ and requests that a £60K procurement exemption be made for contracting 
the delivery of the interpretative element of the scheme. 
 
Experience Boston is an £80K project that builds on both the interpretative, 
wayfinding and placebranding project ‘Boston: Explore and Discover’ (completed 
2017) and ambitions to enrich the historic and cultural experience of Boston’s offer. 
This project must be initiated and completed by March 31 2021. 
 
The scheme will be split in commissioning between two complimentary programmes. 
Firstly an extension of signage and interpretative public realm interventions, which will 
engage and inform on the towns historic environment, its heritage and its influence. 
Secondly the commissioning of an arts trail through the town inspired by the same 
underpinning themes. 
 
We will work with our existing arts delivery partners ‘Transported Arts’ and their 
accountable body, the University of Lincoln who will procure, manage and deliver the 
artist commission. 
 
We wish to work directly with ‘Placemarque’ the deliverers of our successful ‘Boston: 
Explore and Discover’ to deliver the consultancy, design, manufacture and installation 
of the interpretative signage element of the project.  
 
The interpretative element of the programme will account for £60K of the total project 
cost with the artist commissioned trail costing £16K and the remainder covering 
contingency and anticipated resources including trail and guide development. 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



The procurement exemption is requested so we can contract with the appointees 
from our previous tender exercise that successfully delivered our initial scheme and 
normal procurement timeframes are not a viable route to implement and deliver this 
project by March 31 2021. 
 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That a procurement exemption is approved by Cabinet to allow the direct award of a 
contract to Placemarque for £60K and that the wider scope of the project delivery and 
work with partners is noted. 
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To provide viable delivery timescales that comply with the requirement to expend the 
Towns Fund Accelerator Funding by 31 March 2021 and achieve delivery of quality 
enhancements of the public realm of Boston further developing its historic and 
cultural offer, increasing its attraction as a destination as well as a place for people to 
live work and invest. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Production of Request for Quotation and invitation for open tender which would give a 
delayed opportunity to contract. 
 
 

 

Page 34



 
REPORT 
 
1. This section is in specific regard to the request to have a procurement 

exemption approved. 
 
2. As part of the Towns Fund Accelerator project ‘Experience Boston’ we wish to 

contract directly with the deliverers of the previous phase of Interpretation, 
Wayfinding and Placebranding  scheme ‘Boston: Explore and Discover’. 

 
3. We wish them to undertake all aspects of consultancy, design, manufacture, 

delivery and installation of the scheme within the short timescale afforded by 
the accelerator fund of 31st March 2021. 

 
4. The accelerator funding was agreed during September, and provided only a 

small window during October to initiate and develop the project to a point 
which we could procure. 

 
5. Our Original contract delivered by Placemarque after a tender exercise 

conducted with assistance from West Norfolk Procurement was for £60K. 
 
6. Placemarque have already engaged with Boston and responded to 

consultation. They have the entire design toolkit and official ‘masters’ of the 
mapping levels and documentation to work direct from without having to be 
inducted through the whole process 

 
7. They are specialist wayfinding and interpretation specialists with an impressive 

portfolio www.placemarque.com  
 
8. Placemarque in addition to developing the graphic toolkit also undertook a 

wayfinding analysis of Boston which could also help inform locations of 
signage in the proposed new scheme. 

 
9. They have significant experience, including of our own scheme, of doing all 

design to install. 
 
10. Given the critical timescales it is important to contract and deliver and 

Placemarque would be most expedient in initiating and commencing the work 
and prove best value due to having undertaken previous Boston works as well 
as maintaining and extending the high quality of the streetscape and public 
realm within the town and its surrounds. 

 
11. We have sought an opinion from West Norfolk Procurement Advisor, who 

advised there is a reasonable case to seek an exemption in these 
circumstances.  

 
12. Normal procurement timeframes are not a viable route to be able to implement 

and deliver this project. 
 

Page 35

http://www.placemarque.com/


13. Rationale in Boston Borough Council Contract Procurement Procedures can 
be found in Section 1  para 3.1.2 (1) which states there may be a legitimate 
case for exemption where  the contract can only be supplied or provided by 
one specialist firm. 

 
14. In the particular circumstance of pressing need to contract and the quality of 

the scheme delivered by the apointees of the previous open tender exercise 
conducted with West Norfolk Procurement. And the endorsement to seek and 
exemption by West Norfolk Procurement it is believed that Placemarque are 
the only specialist firm able to deliver the project in this instance. 

 
15. It is also believed that a change of supplier would cause technical difficulties 

and diseconomies in delivery of this project. 
 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
This report expresses the ambitions of the project and also presents a proposal for 
expedient delivery of a quality scheme. Due to the timescales indicated by the Towns 
Fund Accelerator Programme where works are to be complete by 31 March 2021 
normal procurement timeframes are not a viable option for delivery of the scheme. 
 
As well as expedience this proposal is based upon the quality of the delivery of the 
initial scheme in both concept and design, as well as manufacture and installation of 
the physical elements and there intentional cohesiveness with the historic 
environment of Boston. 
 
As such we believe that Placemarque are best placed to deliver this project and 
recommend that the requested procurement exemption be endorsed. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no additional financial or budget implications as the project is externally 
funded. 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There is unlikely to be any legal implications in this regard. 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 

Page 36



EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
None 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
No consultation has been undertaken 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A Boston Design Toolkit developed with 
Placemarque 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Boston Borough Council Contract 
Procedure Rules 

www.boston.gov.uk  

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
 A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body.  
 

 
 

Page 37

http://www.boston.gov.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Version 2
Sept 16

GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT

BOSTON 

APPENDIX A

P
age 39



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     01

INTRODUCTION  02

THE WAYFINDING JOURNEY  03

VISUAL IDENTITY 05
-About 

THE LOGO 06
-Design
-Specifications

TYPOGRAPHY 09 

IDENTITY COLOUR PALETTE 10

SKYLINE OF BOSTON  11
- Design 
- For Print

SIGN LAYOUT 13
- Sign front
- Sign Back 
- Design Arrangement

MAPPING  16
- On Signs
- In Print

SIGN LOCATIONS 18

SIGN MAINTENANCE 24

CONTENTS

P
age 40



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     02

Boston is a compact market town with an active 
small port and is home to the iconic landmark St 
Boltoph’s Church ‘The Stump’. The town is rich in 
heritage, full of historic stories with international 
connections. The town centre is a small area and 
very walkable, and being relatively flat makes it 
easy to explore on foot. 

The aim of the project was to design a strategy 
for wayfinding and interpretation, leading to a 
tool kit for the delivery of signage on site. The 
toolkit guidelines and pallette are also intended 
to inform the wider placemarketing and 
accesibility of other sites and attractions within 
the borough. 

The project has been to design an updateable 
pedestrian wayfinding system as well as 
updating existing fingerpost structures so that 
the wayfinding journey becomes seamless 
across the town. 

Placemarque were commissioned by Boston 
Borough Council to develop the pedestrian 
wayfinding scheme to improve the accessibility 

and place making within the town, reinforce 
local brand identity and deliver the heritage 
stories.

This tool kit sets out the strategy for raising 
the awareness of the heritage and local stories 
and improving the navigation of people in the 
town, and sets out guidelines on how to apply 
the brand through other public realm elements 
within the town and borough and in print. The 
tool kit also includes sign record information and 
maintenance requirements.

INTRODUCTION

P
age 41



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     03

THE WAYFINDING 
JOURNEY

Visitors may arrive in Boston by train, bus, coach 
or car, or they may be locals who walk or cycle 
from close-by residential areas. Many visitors, 
through lack of information, may focus their 
time in one particular destination. The aim of 
the wayfinding system is to encourage users to 
extend their visit and area of focus to include 
alternative streets, and leisure and cultural 
facilities. 

This is done by reinforcing connections along 
the town centre circuit and emphasising links 
to areas such as the Grand Sluice and Marina, 
Central Park, the lanes and the peripheral walking 
areas to the central retail zone. The wayfinding 
system can be used to communicate the full 
visitor offer, encouraging the visitor to see more 
and explore further, stay longer and return again, 
along with highlighting the key local stories.

Central Retail Zone 

Boston 
Court
House

Railway 
Station

Hussey 
Tower

Central Park

Boston 
Marina

B O S T O N

M
A

U
D

 FO
STER

 D
R

A
IN

The Market Place
The Stump
Assembly Rooms
Library

Grand 
Sluice

Maud 
Foster 
Mill

Coach park 
Health centre

CinemaRetail 
Zone 

KEY VIEW
S

K
E

Y
 V

IE
W

S

KEY VIEWS

KEY VIEW
S

Guildhall & TIC
Fydell House & 
Gardens
Blackfriars Art 
Centre

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Bus 
Station

P
age 42



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     04

THE ORIGIN
For most people the journey starts by 
planning ahead.  This initial information is 
mainly sourced in your place of origin. For 
visitors the extent of research will be 
greater than perhaps a local resident 
however the majority still need to 
understand what a place o�ers, how to 
get there and where to go once there. This 
information can all be accessed through 
online systems, or booklets for tourists.

THE USER TRAFFIC
We understand that every journey 
varies with each individual however to 
develop a system that accommodates 
the majority of users we have divided 
the tra�c analysis into 5 categories, 
including The Tourist, The Business 
Visitor, The Shopper, The Family 
Resident and The Elderly Resident. 

THE SHOPPER

“I’m driving into town this morning for 
some retail therapy. The markets are on 
today so I want to go to them first. Then 
head towards Pescod Square for some 
new clothes. I’ll probably break for lunch 
at a café before my nail appointment this 
afternoon in the salon.”

THE BUSINESS VISITOR

“I’m getting the train down to Boston for 
a business meeting near the Court 
House. But I will have some spare time 
before I need to catch my train back, I  
thought I might visit The Stump while I’m 
in town.” 

THE ELDERLY RESIDENT

“I need to get the bus into town today
because I have to return a book to the
library, there are some benches near the
memorial garden which is just a short 
walk where I can have my sandwiches.”

THE FAMILY RESIDENT

“It’s a lovely morning, me and my eldest 
are going out on the bikes. My wife and 
younger daughter are going to walk and 
meet us at the bird aviary in Central Park. 
The kids want to see a new film at the 
cinema so will probably pick up the car 
and treat them to dinner and a movie 
later on.” 

POINT OF TRANSPORT

The information needed will vary 
depending on peoples method of 
transport. For those using public transport, 
route maps and timetables will be required. 
People who are driving to their destination 
will need to know parking availability. 
Cyclists and walkers will want to know the 
best routes. It is also important to 
understand some journeys may require 
multiple methods of transport.

ON FOOT CAR

CYCLE

BUS TRAIN

Origin

Arrival

JOURNEY TYPES

Within each audience category there are 
also a variety of journey types, depending 
on the extent of the journey the more 
directional information will be required.

AN EFFICIENT JOURNEY

Expert Strider 
Has internalised just what is strictly 
necessary to fit with their daily routine. 
Uses transport system for maximum 
e�ciency

A LEARNING JOURNEY

Novice Strider
Has a specific destination in mind but 
doesn’t know the town too well. 
Interested in learning quicker ways from 
A to B. Uses transport systems 
cautiously.

AN OPEN ENDED JOURNEY

Expert Stroller  
Has an idea of where places 
are and is happy to engage and use 
transport systems opportunistically

A WANDERING JOURNEY

Novice Stroller
Uses their intuition to explore and 
discover interesting places, no time 
pressure so prefers to walk.

CAR
BUS
WALK

TRAIN
WALK

TRAIN
WALK

TRAIN
BUS
WALK

ARRIVAL POINTS

While on the move each journey will 
become more customised. It is important 
at key arrival points such as the train 
station, bus station and car parks to 
reinforce directional information. This may 
come in the form of mobile and hand held 
mapping, as well as on street signs.

Central Retail Zone 

Boston 
Court
House

Railway 
Station

Hussey 
Tower

Central Park

Boston 
Marina

B O S T O N

M
A

U
D

 FO
STER

 D
R

A
IN

The Market Place
The Stump
Assembly Rooms
Library

Grand 
Sluice

Maud 
Foster 
Mill

Coach park 
Health centre

CinemaRetail 
Zone 

KEY VIEW
S

K
E

Y
 V

IE
W

S

KEY VIEWS

KEY VIEW
S

Guildhall & TIC
Fydell House & 
Gardens
Blackfriars Art 
Centre

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Parking

Bus 
Station

ON THE MOVE

At this point a person has passed the what 
and how section of their journey and is 
now looking for where their destination is. 
Static wayfinding structures are key at this 
point to reinforce routes and connections 
through the town. Heads up mapping, 3D 
elevations, walking times and pictograms 
give users a better understanding of their 
surroundings and make wayfinding 
information accessible.   

Origin

Arrival

Origin

Arrival

REACHING THE DESTINATION

Although this is the end point, it is 
important to remember that wayfinding 
will help navigate back to the previous 
stages for the journey home. For elderly 
people, visitors and some residents this 
can be just as confusing. With the 
placement of wayfinding structures in the 
town people are encouraged to develop a 
mental map of their routes making for an 
easier journey. 

THE TOURIST

“I’ve come to town to see The Stump and 
memorial, but I have some time before 
my train so will take a walk along the 
river. ” 

THE WAYFINDING 
JOURNEY

P
age 43



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     05

VISUAL IDENTITY 
- About

The new signage expresses local identity 
and brand in the public realm, this has been 
achieved through a combination of colour, form, 
typography, imagery and mapping. This sets a 
tone of voice unique to Boston town. 
The town traces it roots in the river, being 
a port and point of arrival and leaving, for 
trade and people. In this way the river and its 
location in the town is a key starting point for 
the development of the identity and graphic 
treatment. 

A logo has been developed, along with the 
town skyline picking up the key town landmarks. 
This identity should be extended through other 
public realm elements and on printed visitor 
information, giving a consistent identity to the 
town. 

P
age 44



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     06

THE LOGO
- Design

The Boston Lincolnshire logo is made up of three 
graphic elements. The logo combines the town’s tallest 
landmark, St Boltoph’s Church, with the Town and 
County name. Both elements are then locked in place 
by a blue coloured base reflecting the town’s river 
connections.

The introduction of Lincolnshire County provides 
Boston with a sense of place and offers a unique 
destination name. 

The logo sections are not be used separately. Vectored 
artwork is available.

P
age 45



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     07

THE LOGO 
- Specif ications

These guidelines specify how the logo should be used 
to create a visual unity when used in print. 

The logo should never be recreated and is available in 
vector format on request. 

To ensure legibility the logo should always be 
surrounded by clear space, free from other graphic 
elements such as typography and imagery. The 
minimum clear space should be the height of the ‘B’.

COLOUR SPECIFICATION

The above colour palette should be used to form the 
logo. 

RAL colours should be used in sign manufacturing. 
Pantone colour should be used whenever possible.  
When pantone colours are not available CMYK should 
be used.

RAL : 5001
Pantone: 7700c
C 89 M 56 Y  31 K16

RAL : 9003
C 0 M 0 Y 0  K 0

Use this preferred logo where possible

Use on lighter solid 
colour backgrounds

Use when colour is not
available

P
age 46



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     08

THE LOGO 
- Specif ications

Do not change the layout of 
the logo

Do not use sections of the logo 
separately

Do not apply secondary 
colours to the logo

Do not stretch the logo Do not outline the logo Do not use logo on a busy 
background

P
age 47



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     09

TYPOGRAPHY

The typeface used in the wayfinding 
scheme is a licensed typeface which 
can be purchased from 
www.typography.com.

T I T L E  F O N T 
G O T H A M  B O L D
2 0 0  L E T T E R  T R A C K I N G 
U P P E R  C A S E  O N LY

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U
V W Y Z  1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0 ” : ; , . ? ! @ £
& ) ( * #
Subtitle/Copy Font 
Gotham Book
0 Letter Tracking
Upper and Lower case

abcdefjhijklmnopqrstuvwxyz ABCDEF
GHIJKLMNOPQRSTUVWXYZ12345678
90 ”:;,.?!@£&)(*#
Arrow Font
DIN Regular

<≤>≥>

P
age 48



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     10

IDENTITY COLOUR PALETTE 

The overall colour palette for the brand is shown below 
setting out the primary and secondary colours. The 
secondary colours are used primarily in the mapping.

C38 M0 Y80 K0 C56 M29 Y100 K0 C41 M54 Y19 K3

C64 M76 Y40 K37 C46 M4 Y25 K0 C0 M18 Y93 K0

C65 M44 Y20 K7 C45 M25 Y18 K2 C34 M23 Y21 K3

C14 M10 Y8 K2 C52 M38 Y28 K10 C73 M9 Y5 K0

C0 M83 Y65 K0 C89 M56 Y31 K16 C1 M94 Y91 K0
RAL : 5001
Pantone: 7700c
C 89 M 56 Y  31 K16

RAL : 9003
C 0 M 0 Y 0  K 0

SECONDARY COLOUR PALETTEPRIMARY COLOUR PALETTE

P
age 49



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     11

SKYLINE OF BOSTON
DESIGN 

The identity of the brand also includes a town specific 
skyline of key landmarks and heritage features unique 
to Boston. This skyline will appear on the top of signs, 
and the landmarks are also identified in their location 
on the mapping. 

Railway 
Station

Council 
Offices

White Hart 
Hotel

Town 
Foot Bridge

Assembly 
Rooms

Five 
Lamps

Guildhall

Blackfriars 
Art Centre

Fydell 
House and 
Gardens

St Botolph’s  
Church

Hussey 
Tower

County Hall

Grand Sluice

Centenary 
Methodist 

Church

War 
Memorial

Maud 
Foster

 Mill

West End 
Cinema

Landmark 
Building

P
age 50



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     12

SKYLINE OF BOSTON
FOR PRINT

The skyline can also be used on print media, and should 
be used only in the following formats.

The Skyline should always be surrounded by clear 
space. Similar to the logo format, the minimum clear 
space should be equivalent to the height of the first 
building in the skyline. See diagram below.

Skyline should only be used as a header or footer and should appear in 
its own space without conflicting graphic elements. 

Do not group logos and 
skyline

Apply logos to 
opposite corners

Do not rotate Do not partition skyline

MIN 
SPACE

PAGE EDGE

P
age 51



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     13

SIGN LAYOUT

The layout of the graphics on the signs has specific 
requirements.

SIGN FRONT

The template for the graphic panel shows the sign front 
is made up of 6 elements. 

1. Skyline of Boston Lincolnshire.
2. The location identification name to reinforce the key 

places and spaces of the town as people navigate 
their way around.

3. Key destinations with directional arrows and 
approximate walking times.

4. The map is shown in a circle with items off the map 
arrowed, and the river graphic extending out of the 
map across the whole sign face to show the origins 
of the town as a point along the river. The mapping 
on the signs is always heads up so the river graphic 
rotates as the map is rotated.

5. The key to explain the destinations and icons on the 
map.

6. The partners logos are shown below the map 

The town logo is placed in the lower panel of the sign.

1

2

3

4

5
6

P
age 52



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     14

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M6_Side_A_vectors.pdf   1   26/05/2016   16:09

SIGN LAYOUT

The layout of the graphics on the signs has specific 
requirements.

SIGN BACK

The back panel of the sign again has 6 graphic 
elements but rather than navigate the user the back 
panel highlights a local story about Boston.

1. Skyline of Boston
2. Key Space name
3. Directions to key destinations
4. Story of Boston. The story text is approximately 

250 Words, and tells about a specific theme or 
historic event for the town. An elevation relates to 
the positioning of the sign and is positioned with 
the text. Both of the graphic treatments are set in a 
white overlay box. 

5. The photographic image that accompanies the 
photo is a simple black and white tone image with a 
strong visual detail. The format of the photos needs 
to work in portrait.

6. The partners logos.

Artwork templates have been set up with guides. 

1

2

3

4

5
6

P
age 53



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     15

Map Panel Story Panel Side Panel 

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

Side_panel.pdf   1   10/06/2016   15:42

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

monolith base panel.pdf   1   10/06/2016   15:42

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M4_Side_A_vector2.pdf   1   09/06/2016   09:36

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

monolith base panel.pdf   1   10/06/2016   15:42

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M4_Side_B_vector .pdf   1   26/05/2016   15:59

SIGN LAYOUT 
DESIGN ARRANGEMENT 

710 x 1280 
toughened glass 
panel with reverse 
applied graphics.

Masked and 
painted town logo

Aluminium Frame 
RAL 5001
Powder coated 
finish

Aluminium base 
panel 
RAL 5001
710x895 powder 
coated finish

Masked and 
painted town 
name

750 140

710

22
0

0

9
15

12
8

5

710 x 1280 
toughened glass 
panel with reverse 
applied graphics.

Aluminium side 
panel
RAL 5001

P
age 54



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     16

MAPPING
ON SIGNS

The map shows the centre of the town and is always 
shown heads up on the signs but is north up when used 
in print.

The map master can be accessed through Boston 
Borough Council. 
And any changes will need to be made only on the 
master map, and the master rotations to ensure there is 
only one set of master maps. 

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

NU with Key.pdf   1   16/06/2016   16:56

P
age 55



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     17

T
H

E
 H

A
V

E
N

M
A

U
D

 F
O

S
T

E
R

 D
R

A
I N

Five 
Lamps

Centenary 
Methodist
Church

Health 
Clinic

Job 
Centre

Len Medlock
Volunteer 
Centre

Police 
Station 

Pescod 
Hall

Superstore

Salvation
Army

Boston United 
Football Club

War 
Memorial

Ingram 
Memorial

Geo� Moulder 
Leisure Complex

Coach 
Park

Bus 
Station

Boston 
Court 
House

Boston 
Shopping 
Park

Pescod Square 
Shopping Centre 

Council 
O�ces

Railway
Station

WEST STREET BRID
GE S

TREET

LAW
RENCE LANE 

EMERY L
ANE

SPAYNE ROAD

PILGRIM ROAD

ROWLEY ROAD

Y
O

R
K

 S
T

R
E

E
T

Y
O

R
K

 S
T

R
E

E
T

JA
M

E
S

 S
T

R
E

E
T

STATION STREET
LINCOLN LANE

TOWER STREET 

IR
BY

 PLA
C

E 

T
R

IN
IT

Y
 S

T
R

E
E

T

ST
A

T
IO

N
 A

P
P

R
O

A
C

H

B
O

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

      

WEST ROW

P
IP

E
 O

F
F

IC
E

 L
N

FYDELL STREET 

IRBY STREET

TATTER
SH

A
LL R

O
A

D
 

W
ITHAM STREET

ECALP NOINU

E
C

AL
P 

M
A

HT
I

W  
   

   
   

 

TS
 

N
OI

N
U

RED LION STREET

COLLEY STREET

FOUNTAIN LANE

B
A

N
K

 S
T

R
E

E
T

R
ED

 LIO
N

 STR
EET

F
O

U
N

TA
IN

 P
L

ARCHER LN

W
IT

HAM G
REEN

LANE

PARK 

   
  

E
C

AL
P 

KL
OF

R
O

N

TU
N

N
A

R
D

 STR
EET

NORMAN AVENUE

TH
O

R
O

LD
 STR

E
E

T

W
H

ITIN
G

 SQ

TAW
N

EY
 STR

EET

W
IL

LO
U

G
H

B
Y

 R
O

A
D

STAFFORD ST

SPIL
SBY R

OAD

Q
U

E
E

N
S R

O
A

D

FOSTER STREET

GROVE ST EAST

MAUD STREET

W
IN

D
SO

R
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

MAIN RIDGE EAST 

P
E

N
 STR

E
E

T 

GROVE STREET WEST

BOTOLPH STREET

JO
H

N
 A

D
A

M
S

 W
A

Y

WIDE BARGATE

MAIN RIDGE WEST

W
ID

E B
ARGATE

TH
R

EA
D

N
EED

LE STR
EET 

PA
RKG

ATE

WIDE BARGATE

P
E

N
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 

   SPAIN LN

CRAYTHORNE LANE

SIBSEY LANE

S
N

E
D

R
A

G 
R

O
N

A
M

H
IG

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

WEST STREET

P
A

D
D

O
C

K
 G

R
O

V
E

CUSTOM HOUSE LN

W
O

RM
G

ATE

BRADY
STR

EE
T

TATTER
SH

A
L

L
R

O
A

D

JOHN
ADAMS

W
AY

 

 

CHA
PEL STR

EET
      PETTICOAT LAN E    

    
    

    
    

  

  
   

   
ST

RAIT

 B
ARGATE

N
EW

 ST

DOLPHIN LANE

STILL LANE

SHODFRIARS LANE

  
  

  
   

  
  

  
Q

U
A

K
E

R
 L

A
N

E 

SPAIN
 P

L
A

C
E

 

 S
O

U
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T           FYDELL CRESCENT

   
   

   
   

  G
EO

R
G

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T

WEST STREET

ST GEORGES ROAD ROSEGARTH ST
R

E
E

T

 T
O

W
N

 B
R

ID
G

E 
  

  W
ITHAM BANK EAST

JUBILEE AVENUE

         TAW
N

EY
 STR

EET

    
    

 N
ORFO

LK S
TR

E
E

T 
   

   
   

   
   

    
     

     
     

    
    

   
   

   
   

N
O

R
FO

LK STREET    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
   

   
   

   
   

NORFOLK STREET    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    
    

    

H
O

R
N

C
A

S
T

L
E

 R
O

A
D

BARGATE BRIDGE

FREISTO
N

 R
O

A
D

MAUD STR
EE

T

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

   
   

    
   FIEL D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

F
IE

L
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

ARTILLER Y R
O

W

CHURCH STREET

SOUTH STREET

CHURCH LANE

     
     

      
   HARTLEY STREET

M
ITR

E LA
N

E

     SILV
E

R
   S

T
R

E
E

T

NATI ONAL TERR

Maud 
Foster 
Mill

Grand 
Sluice 

Library

Fydell House 
and Gardens

Guildhall 
and TIC

Blackfriars 
Arts CentreCinema

St Botolph’s Church 
‘The Stump’

Boston 
Marina 

PESCOD 
SQUARE

BARGATE
GREEN

M A R K E T  
P L A C E  

C E N T R A L  
P A R K

PUMP 
SQUARE 

FISH 
HILL

CUSTOM 
HOUSE 
QUAY 

SOUTH 
SQUARE

WORMGATE

SCHOOL 
PLAYING 
FIELDS

HAVEN 
BANK

P

P P

PP P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

PP

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P
P

P

P

P

<  Hussey Tower

Bus Station

Coach Park

Railway Station

Car Park

Cycle Parking

Cycle Route

Walking Route

Tourist Information Centre

Shopping

Museum

Cinema

Theatre

Library

Public Toilets

Leisure Boats

Aviary

Tennis Court

Play Area

Leisure Complex

Hotel

Shopping Area

Market Area

Attractions

Other Destination

Pedestrian Routes

Explore Boston Route

G E T T I N G  A R O U N D  
B O S T O N  T O W N

 
 

P

P

P

MAPPING
IN PRINT
Minimum print scale at A4 Landscape 
See template below:

Cropped destinations should be arrowed off

Key should always 
be shown with town 
map/ minimum font 
size 8pt. 

Town logo to 
reinforce wayfinding 
scheme on printed 
information

Template has a consistent graphic 
styling with on street mapping For clear legibility map should be 

scaled to maximum of 50%

P
age 56



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     18

SIGN LOCATIONS

Currently there are 6 monoliths installed in the town. 
The locations are shown on the following pages.

Phase 1 

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M1_Side_A_Vector2.pdf   1   09/06/2016   09:28

 

  

Boston: A Short Introduction
Welcome to Boston; a lively historic port and market 
town located on the River Witham, joining the North 
Sea at a part of the coast known as ‘The Wash’. 

Boston and its magnificent church are named after St 
Botolph, an Anglo Saxon monk, who according to tradition visited the area in the 7th 
Century. 

Its position on the edge of the North Sea and its river connection with the city of 
Lincoln, allowed the town to develop as an important trading centre. 
 
In the early medieval period, only London was richer and more important than Boston 
as a port; Boston’s wealth was based on wool. During the time when wool was England’s 
main export, the town was sending three million fleeces a year abroad, making a 
significant profit.
 
Boston’s medieval wealth can be seen from surviving buildings in the town; St Botolph’s 
Church (known locally as ‘The Stump’), St Mary’s Guildhall and the town’s stunning 
Market Place are just three examples. The large weekly markets each Wednesday and 
Saturday and its annual May Fair, are also legacies from the medieval period.
 
As the value of wool declined, the town changed. By the 1700s, the agricultural 
revolution provided another economic boost. During this time, Boston supplied one 
third of London’s grain directly from granaries situated along the riverside. Once again, 
this wealth influenced the architecture of the town and many fine Georgian buildings 
still remain.
 
Boston today is a diverse and vibrant town to explore and discover, with a range of 
quality national and independent shops, wonderful dining experiences and a unique 
history and heritage.
For a translation please visit: www.boston.gov.uk/explorestories 

RAILWAY STATION

<

Station Entrance

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M1_Side_B_vector .pdf   1   26/05/2016   15:46

Sign Number: M1
Location Title: Railway Station
Story: Boston: A Short Introduction

Side A: South Up Mapping Side B: Interpretation Panel

M
I

P
age 57



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     19

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M2_Side_A_vector .pdf   1   26/05/2016   15:49

Sign Number: M2
Location Title: Foot Bridge
Story: The History of St Botolph’s 
Church

Side A: Interpretation Panel Side B: East Up Mapping

SIGN LOCATIONS

Phase 1

M I

P
age 58



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     20

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M3_Side_A_vector2.pdf   1   09/06/2016   09:43

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M3_Side_B_vector.pdf   1   26/05/2016   15:54

Sign Number: M3
Location Title: Strait Bargate
Story: Boston and the Water

Side A: South Up Mapping Side B: Interpretation Panel

SIGN LOCATIONS

Phase 1

M
I

P
age 59



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     21

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M4_Side_A_vector2.pdf   1   09/06/2016   09:36

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M4_Side_B_vector .pdf   1   26/05/2016   15:59

Sign Number: M4
Location Title: Market Place
Story: The Reverend John Cotton and 
Boston’s American Legacy

Side A: North Up Mapping Side B: Interpretation Panel

SIGN LOCATIONS

Phase 1

M
I

P
age 60



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     22

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M5_Side_A_vector 2.pdf   1   09/06/2016   09:37

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M5_Side_B_vector.pdf   1   26/05/2016   16:05

Sign Number: M5
Location Title: Fish Hill
Story: Markets and Fairs

Side A: South Up Mapping Side B: Interpretation Panel

SIGN LOCATIONS

Phase 1

M
I M

I

P
age 61



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     23

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M6_Side_A_vectors.pdf   1   26/05/2016   16:09

C

M

Y

CM

MY

CY

CMY

K

D7.M6_Side_B_vector2.pdf   1   09/06/2016   09:39

Sign Number: M6
Location Title: Market Place
Story: The Pilgrims in Boston

Side A: Interpretation Panel Side B: South Up Mapping

SIGN LOCATIONS

Phase 1

M
I M

I

P
age 62



BOSTON GRAPHIC & SIGN TOOLKIT                     24

SIGN MAINTENANCE

Boston wayfinding signage 

Monolith Frame specification: 
• Integral aluminium sub frame.
• Aluminium header and bottom panels.
• 8mm Low Iron Toughened Glass panels.
• Aluminium channel to hold glass.
• High Res 1700Dpi removable reverse printed vinyl 

graphics to each glass panel. Applied to the rear / 
internal side of the glass.

• Painted in a single colour in standard RAL / 5001.
• Painted internal steel ground feet.
• Masked and painted logos and side names

Measurements:
750mm (w) x 2200mm (h) x 140mm (d)
Glass: 710mm (w) x 1300mm (h) x 8mm (d)
Bottom: 710mm (w) x 850mm (h) x 8mm (d) + 50mm 
Paint: RAL 5001 (Matt Finish)

Framework: 
Aluminium

Fixing Method: 
Painted steel holding down feet for mounting directly 
into the ground without the need for a base

The signs can be updated by producing a new vinyl 
graphic for the glass, peeling off the old graphic and 
adding in a new one on to the existing glass, and the 
refixing the glass.

Cleaning and maintenance routines:
The signs are robust and do not require any specialist 
maintenance routines. 
Due to the busy nature of the environment, signage 
should be externally cleaned as required. 
Clean all polyester powder coat finishes with a weak 
solution of a mild detergent, e.g. Fairy Liquid or similar, 
and water. Avoid detergents containing acid. It is 
preferable to use a soft Polypropylene cleaning sponge 
cloth, of the tightly packed closed cell type, and a spray 
bottle or atomiser to apply only a small amount of the 
cleaning solution to the surfaces. Once the surface has 
been cleaned thoroughly it should be wiped off with 
clean water and a clean Polypropylene sponge cloth to 
prevent smearing. 
Stainless steel ground plates should be cleaned using a 
proprietary stainless steel cleaner as required.
Clean glass using a proprietary anti static glass cleaner 
such as Nilglass.

P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  CABINET 

DATE:  2 DECEMBER 2020 

SUBJECT: CCTV ANNUAL POLICY UPDATE 2020 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

REPORT AUTHOR: ANDREW HAW, CCTV MANAGER 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Version 1.0 of the Council’s CCTV Policy became effective in December 2015.  The 
Policy covers the scope and operation of; the “public realm” CCTV systems owned 
and managed by the Council, the CCTV systems operated within a number of the 
Council’s operational buildings and the CCTV system installed on the Council’s 
primary refuse fleet.    
  
In accordance with its own requirements, it has been reviewed by the Assistant 
Director for Regulation with members of the Corporate Management Team and 
approved by the Portfolio Holder.  The policy was scrutinised by the Environment and 
Performance (E&P) Committee at its meeting on 14 July 2020; the Committee 
resolved to recommend the policy to Cabinet for adoption.   The CCTV policy is 
presented at Appendix A.  
 
The formal minutes from the E&P Committee held on the 14 July 2020 state: 
 
“Referencing ( ) the CCTV Policy, the CCTV Manager confirmed that there had been 
no amendments to the existing policy and that the recommendation was for Cabinet 
to agree the continuation of the existing policy.”  
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet adopt the CCTV policy presented at Appendix A and that it becomes 
effective on Monday 14th December 2020 and will remain effective until further 
review.  
 
 

 

 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To accord with the requirements of the policy for its own review. 
 
 

 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
No other reasonable alternatives have been considered 
 
 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications associated with adopting the revised draft that are 
not already within the Council’s budgetary framework 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
In respect of CCTV data, the Council is required to comply with all prevailing statutory 
requirements which include but are not limited to the Data Protection Act 2018, The 
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000, the Human Rights Act, the Equalities 
Act 2010 and the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. The Council also has to take 
proper regard to the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 issued by the 
Surveillance Camera Commissioner.    
  
Regularly reviewing and updating the Council’s CCTV Policy in light of these Acts and 
Codes also ensures that the Council meets its wider Public Sector Equality Duties in 
terms of its use of CCTV and CCTV data.  

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified 
 

 
 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
None identified 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
None identified 
 

 

Page 66



CONSULTATION 
 
CMT 
DATA PROTECTION OFFICER 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A BBC CCTV Policy 2020 – Version 1.6 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Data Protection Act 
2018 

 

Regulation of 
Investigatory 
Powers Act, 2000 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/ 23/contents 

Protection of 
Freedoms Act, 2012 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted 

Surveillance 
Camera Code of 
Practice”, Home 
Office, June 2013 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/surveillance-
camera-code-of-practice 

Surveillance 
Camera 
Commissioner   

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-
camera-commissioner 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Environment and Performance Committee 14 July 2020 
 

 
 
  

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Version 1.6 

Published December 2020 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CCTV POLICY 

APPENDIX A 

Page 69



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

1. INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................... 3 

2. PURPOSE ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

3. PRIVACY ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 

4. LEGISLATION ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

5. THE MANAGEMENT GROUP AND CHANGES TO THE POLICY .................................................... 7 

6. GUIDING PRINCIPLES ............................................................................................................................. 8 

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER .................................................................................................. 9 

8. PUBLIC INFORMATION AND ACCOUTABILITY ................................................................................. 9 

9. ASSESSMENT OF THE SCHEME .......................................................................................................... 9 

10. CONTROL ROOM STAFFING ........................................................................................................... 10 

11. BREACHES OF THIS POLICY ........................................................................................................... 11 

12. CONTROL AND OPERATION OF CAMERAS ................................................................................ 11 

13. ACCESS AND SECURITY OF CONTROL ROOM AND POLICE AIRWAVES .......................... 11 

14. RECORDED MATERIAL AND STILL IMAGES ............................................................................... 12 

15. DEALING WITH INCIDENTS .............................................................................................................. 13 

16. POLICE CONTACT AND USE OF THE COUNCIL’S CCTV SYSTEMS ..................................... 13 

17. MAJOR INCIDENTS ............................................................................................................................ 14 

18. COMPLAINTS ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

19. LEAD AND DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS ................................................................................. 15 

20. APPENDIX 1: DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS ............................................................................ 16 

21. APPENDIX 2 – POLICY REVISION HISTORY ................................................................................ 17 

22. REFERENCES AND USEFUL LINKS ............................................................................................... 19 

 

  

Page 70



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 3 

1. INTRODUCTION AND DEFINITIONS 

1.1. Boston Borough Council (BBC) has installed a comprehensive public realm 

CCTV surveillance system which covers key public spaces, namely town 

and village centres, car parks, playing fields and other Council assets in 

Boston and Kirton.   In addition, the Council has installed a number of 

separate systems at key Council premises and on a number of its 

operational vehicles.  The Council also provides public realm CCTV services 

to neighbouring authorities under individual monitoring agreements.   The 

following CCTV systems are in use by Boston Borough Council: 

 General Public Space CCTV System – this is the Council’s main 

system which covers key public spaces, namely town centre areas, 

car parks, playing fields and other Council assets in Boston and 

Kirton and in neighbouring authority areas.   The cameras within this 

system are monitored in the Council’s central CCTV Control Suite.   

Live images are visible to staff on site; recorded images are 

accessible to duly authorised officers in accordance with this policy 

 GMLC CCTV System – this system provides internal and external 

CCTV coverage of the Council’s Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre.   Live 

images are visible to staff on site.   Images from GMLC are also 

visible to staff in the Council’s CCTV Control Suite.   Live images are 

visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to duly 

authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 St John’s Depot CCTV System – this system provides internal and 

external CCTV coverage of the Council’s operations depot.   Live 

images are visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to 

duly authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Boston Crematorium CCTV System - this system provides internal 

and external CCTV coverage of the Council’s crematorium.   Live 

images are visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to 

duly authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Boston Guildhall CCTV System – this system provides internal 

CCTV coverage within the Council’s Guildhall.   Live images are 

visible to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to duly 

authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Municipal Buildings CCTV System - this system provides internal 

CCTV coverage within the Council’s Municipal Buildings.  This 

system was upgraded in March 2018 to meet the security 

requirements of the Department of Works and Pensions who are co-

located in the Council’s offices.   Live images are visible to staff on 

Page 71



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 4 

site; recorded images are accessible to duly authorised officers in 

accordance with this policy. 

 IT Server Room CCTV System - this system provides internal CCTV 

coverage within the Council’s IT server room.  Live images are visible 

to staff on site; recorded images are accessible to duly authorised 

officers in accordance with this policy. 

 Operational Vehicle CCTV System – the Council has fitted a 

number of its operational vehicles with CCTV cameras.   Live images 

are visible within the vehicle; recorded images are accessible to duly 

authorised officers in accordance with this policy. 

1.2. Definitions: 

 “BBC”    The Council of the Borough of Boston. 

  “The Surveillance Area” The areas covered by the CCTV cameras 

“Duly Authorised Officer”  The Lead Officer and other Officers duly 

authorised by the Policy (and where necessary, 

Licensed) to review recorded images captured by 

the relevant CCTV systems. 

“CCTV Operator”   Any member of staff employed by BBC to monitor 

CCTV images at the Control Room. 

“The Management Group” The group comprising of members of the 

Corporate Management Team (CMT) and Lead 

Officers (Service Managers) responsible for the 

services where CCTV systems are in use. 

 “Control Room”   The central monitoring centre operated by Boston 

Borough Council in Boston.   

“DPA”    Data Protection Act 2018. 

“RIPA”    The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 

“Police airwaves”    The radio communication network used by the 

police. 

1.3. The CCTV system is owned by Boston Borough Council and the control 

room is staffed by trained Council employees. 

1.4. The CCTV Control Room will monitor and control the system for 24 hours 

per day, each day of the year. 

1.5. In addition to BBC staff, this policy applies to the Police and other interested 

parties.   It provides a clear statement of the purpose of the scheme and 

Page 72



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 5 

gives guidance on the operation and management of the system.  This 

Policy applies to the operation and use of all camera systems monitored by 

Boston Borough Council under all of its monitoring agreements. 

1.6. All recorded material is owned by Boston Borough Council and each system 

and will be used in accordance with all prevailing statutory requirements 

including but not being limited to the Data Protection Act 2018, the General 

Data Protection Regulation, The Law Enforcement Directive (EU Data 

Protection Directive 2016/680), The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 

2000 and the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012.  The Council also takes 

proper regard to the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice 2013 issued by 

the Surveillance Camera Commissioner and will work to develop the good 

practice advice set out in ‘In the picture: A data protection code of practice 

for surveillance cameras and personal information’ published by the 

Information Commissioner’s Office in May 2015. 

 

2. PURPOSE 

2.1. The primary objectives of the Council’s CCTV systems (and those 

monitored by the Council under its various agreements) are to provide a 

safe environment for the benefit of those who live, work, trade, visit, service 

and enjoy local facilities.   Their collective purpose is to:  

 Reduce the fear of crime and provide reassurance to the public 

through provision of a Public Space CCTV System. 

 Assist in the detection and prevention of crime, anti-social 

behaviour and the maintenance of public order. 

 Facilitate the apprehension and prosecution of offenders in 

relation to crime, public order and anti-social behaviour. 

 To collect and provide evidence for the purpose of criminal and 

civil litigation by the police or other bodies with a responsibility for 

enforcing law, licensing regimes and other regulatory functions. 

 To protect Council assets, resources, staff, land and other public 

facilities and ensure reasonable, justified and proportionate 

compliance with Council Policy and Procedure. 

 To assist in improving the environment of the area. 

 To provide assistance to emergency services. 

2.2. The primary objectives have been drawn up by the Management Group and 

approved by BBC.   They are based on local concerns and pressing needs 

Page 73



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 6 

and will be reviewed at least annually by the Management Group and 

reported accordingly. 

2.3.  The CCTV systems will be primarily used for the provision of recordings for 

evidential purposes to the Police and other bodies who have relevant 

enforcement powers.   Any data captured by any system may also be used 

for other purposes where it is reasonable, justified and proportionate to do 

so and where relevant authorisation exists.    

2.4. This Policy will be supplemented with a separate operational procedural 

guide for authorised officers and system operators.    

3. PRIVACY 

3.1. The CCTV systems will be included in BBC’s Data Protection Register and 

registered with the Information Commissioner and operate in accordance 

with all data protection requirements.   

3.2. Every consideration will be given to the right of the general public to go 

about their daily business with minimum loss of privacy.   Whilst total privacy 

cannot be guaranteed within a CCTV area, the cameras and their 

recordings will not be used to unduly monitor persons going about their 

lawful business.   Where appropriate, cameras will be configured with 

‘privacy screening’ preventing privacy intrusions. 

3.3. Persons will only be actively monitored for any length of time if there is 

suspicion or knowledge that an offence may have occurred or be about to 

occur or where other relevant authorisation is in place, e.g., an authorisation 

to use Directed Covert Surveillance under RIPA.   In any event, a 

comprehensive incident log will be recorded giving a reason for the 

monitoring of the individual.  All operators and duly authorised officers must 

be able to justify their actions at all times.   

3.4. CCTV Operators using and monitoring the General Public Space CCTV 

system must only use the cameras to view public areas and not to look into 

the interior of any private premises or any other area where an infringement 

of privacy of individuals may occur.   The only exceptions to this rule are: 

 If an authorised operation is mounted under the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act  

 Response to police or other relevant enforcement agencies’ request for 

assistance following a crime being committed 

 A CCTV Operator happens to observe something which they 

reasonably, justifiably and proportionately believe indicates that a crime 

is being, or is about to be committed in a non-public area.    

Page 74



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 7 

 Any event where an Operator takes a decision positively to view a 

private area must be comprehensively recorded in an incident log.  

Operators will be required to justify their actions.   Any breach of this 

condition of employment will result in disciplinary proceedings and may 

lead to the dismissal of the Operator. 

3.5 Any changes to the processing of CCTV derived information, footage or 

stills will be assessed by the Data Protection Officer to determine if a 

formal Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) is required (GDPR: 

Article 35(2)) 

 

4. LEGISLATION 

4.1. The CCTV systems will be operated in accordance with all prevailing 

legislation and Statutory Codes of Guidance, including but not being limited 

to: the Human Rights Act 1998, Data Protection Act 2018, Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Protection 

of Freedoms Act 2012 and the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (June 

2013). 

4.2. Where any doubt exists about the lawful and proper use of any of the 

Council’s CCTV Systems, the data they capture or data gathered by way of 

any monitoring contract, legal advice or advice from the Surveillance 

Commissioner’s Office will be sought. 

 

5. THE MANAGEMENT GROUP AND CHANGES TO THE POLICY 

5.1. The Management Group will oversee compliance with this policy and 

collectively recommend any changes necessary.  At all times the 

Management Group will have due regard to the 12 guiding principles 

set out within the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice, 2013. 

5.2. Minor and consequential changes to this policy can be made by the CCTV 

Manager on behalf of the Management Group.  Any changes necessary will 

be fully documented and communicated to all relevant staff and external 

agencies where appropriate.   

5.3. This policy is subject to version control and will be formally reviewed 

annually where it will be approved by the Council’s Cabinet.  Any major 

changes necessary outside of the annual review will also require formal 

approval by the Council’s Cabinet.  APPENDIX 2 provides the revision 

history.  

 

Page 75



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 8 

6. GUIDING PRINCIPLES 

6.1  In accordance with the Surveillance Camera Code of Practice (2013), the 

following 12 guiding principles have been adopted within the Boston 

Borough Council CCTV system.  They are: 

 Use of a surveillance camera system must always be for a specified purpose 

which is in pursuit of a legitimate aim and necessary to meet an identified 

pressing need. 

 The use of a surveillance camera system must take into account its effect on 

individuals and their privacy, with regular reviews to ensure its use remains 

justified. 

 There must be as much transparency in the use of a surveillance camera 

system as possible, including a published contact point for access to 

information and complaints. 

 There must be clear responsibility and accountability for all surveillance 

camera system activities including images and information collected, held and 

used. 

 Clear rules, policies and procedures must be in place before a surveillance 

camera system is used, and these must be communicated to all who need to 

comply with them. 

 No more images and information should be stored than that which is strictly 

required for the stated purpose of a surveillance camera system, and such 

images and information should be deleted once their purposes have been 

discharged. 

 Access to retained images and information should be restricted and there 

must be clearly defined rules on who can gain access and for what purpose 

such access is granted; the disclosure of images and information should only 

take place when it is necessary for such a purpose or for law enforcement 

purposes. 

 Surveillance camera system operators should consider any approved 

operational, technical and competency standards relevant to a system and its 

purpose and work to meet and maintain those standards. 

 Surveillance camera system images and information should be subject to 

appropriate security measures to safeguard against unauthorised access and 

use. 

Page 76



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 9 

 There should be effective review and audit mechanisms to ensure legal 

requirements, policies and standards are complied with in practice, and 

regular reports should be published. 

 When the use of a surveillance camera system is in pursuit of a legitimate 

aim, and there is a pressing need for its use, it should be used in the most 

effective way to support public safety and law enforcement with the aim of 

processing images and information of evidential value. 

 Any information used to support a surveillance camera system which 

compares against a reference database for matching purposes should be 

accurate and kept up to date. 

7. RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER 

7.1. The “owner” of the systems set out at section 1.1 is Boston Borough 

Council, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR. 

7.2. Where Boston Borough Council monitors cameras ‘owned’ by another local 

authority or private operator and regardless of whether or not it is the Data 

Controller, the Council will apply this policy.   

7.3. Spot monitoring or audits may be carried out at any time by at least two 

members of the Management Group.   If the audit involves the duties of one 

member of the Group, then that member should not be part of the audit 

team and the other representatives should carry out the audit. 

 

8. PUBLIC INFORMATION AND ACCOUTABILITY  

8.1. Cameras used within any of the CCTV Systems set out in section 1.1 will 

not be hidden. 

8.2. Signs that CCTV cameras are operating will be displayed in and around 

surveillance areas in visible locations.  There is however no requirement to 

place signs directly under individual cameras. 

8.3. Copies of this Policy and the Council’s Complaints Procedure will be made 

freely available.  

8.4. An Annual CCTV Report will be published by the owner as set out within 

section 9.     

 

9. ASSESSMENT OF THE SCHEME 

Page 77



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 10 

9.1. The “Owner” is responsible for ensuring that the Council’s CCTV Systems 

are evaluated at least annually. 

9.2. Evaluation of the Council’s General Public Space CCTV System will 

include data on the following performance indicators.      

 Logged number of incidents 

 Logged number of incidents involving arrests 

 Number of evidential packages produced 

 Number of  incidents  

9.3  This information will be reported on a quarterly basis to Scrutiny, Cabinet 

and Council.  Quarterly performance information will be amalgamated into an 

annual report that will also include an evaluation of the Council’s other CCTV 

systems. 

 

10. CONTROL ROOM STAFFING 

10.1. The owner will be responsible for the selection and recruitment of all staff 

employed to work with the CCTV Control Room. 

10.2. An effective and fair system of recruitment has been established and is 

maintained by the Council.  Staff to be employed within the Control Room 

are all subject to Police standard vetting (NPPV Level 2) and Enhanced 

Disclosure and Barring Service checks (DBS). 

10.3. All staff must undertake the necessary accredited Public Space Security 

Industry Authority CCTV Training and become a licensed Public Space 

CCTV Operative under the Security Industry Authority requirements.   

Training will be provided by the Council. 

10.4. All employees are bound by a Confidentiality Agreement which is 

enforceable both during and after cessation of employment.   The Council 

also has a comprehensive Disciplinary Policy and Staff Code of Conduct, 

both of which are rigorously implemented.     

10.5. Staff are appropriately trained in Data Protection, Equality and Covert 

Surveillance in order to avoid any misappropriation of data or breach of an 

individual’s Human Rights. 

10.6. The Council has a robust staff supervision and appraisal system in place 

which supports compliance with all Council Policy and Procedure. 

 

Page 78



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 11 

11. BREACHES OF THIS POLICY 

11.1. Responsibility for dealing with any breach of this Policy rests with the 

appropriate member of CMT. Any breach will be addressed using the 

relevant Council Policy and Procedure.  

11.2. Any loss or risk of loss to personal data must be reported to the statutory 

Data Protection Officer (DPO) as soon as practicable to allow the DPO to 

conduct a suitable investigation. 

 

12. CONTROL AND OPERATION OF CAMERAS 

12.1. Only staff with responsibility for using CCTV equipment shall access the 

systems operating controls (other than those under supervised training) 

12.2. All use of cameras and control equipment shall be in accordance with the 

purposes and primary objectives of this policy.   

 

13. ACCESS AND SECURITY OF CONTROL ROOM AND POLICE 

AIRWAVES 

13.1. Only those individuals with a legitimate reason to do so will be allowed 

access to the Council’s CCTV Control Room. 

13.2. Public access to the Control Room or the demonstration of equipment will 

be allowed subject to the primary objectives of the scheme and only upon 

authorisation from the operational manager or their superiors.   In these 

circumstances a log of visitors will be kept, logging the purpose of the visit, 

names of visitors, date and times of the control room visit. 

13.3. A licensed SIA operator will be present during the operation of the 

monitoring equipment.   If monitors are to be left unattended, the room must 

be secured against unauthorised entry.  The operation of the monitoring 

equipment shall be limited to staff with the correct authorisation, training and 

responsibility (other than those under supervised training). 

13.4. An Incident Management log shall be maintained to record operator 

activities and incidents witnessed.  In addition any visitor will be required to 

sign a Visitor Log detailing the purpose of the visit.  Duty Operators will also 

log the times of their period of duty (shift) at the start and end of each shift. 

13.5. The Incident Management log will be maintained on the basis of date and 

time of day throughout operations and include sufficient details of all 

incidents observed within the Control Room. 

Page 79



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 12 

13.6. All systems must be fully maintained and any faults or defects reported 

appropriately according to the fault reporting procedure. 

13.7. The Owner will comply with the controls placed upon users of the Airwaves 

system.  This includes holding a TEA2 sub-license and NPPV Level 2 

vetting of control room staff. 

 

 

14. RECORDED MATERIAL AND STILL IMAGES 

14.1. All recorded material produced from the Council’s CCTV systems remain 

the property of the Council and are protected by copyright.  Recorded 

material is held for a maximum of 30 days unless retained for evidential or 

training purposes. 

14.2. Recorded material shall only be used for the purposes defined in the Policy. 

14.3. Access to recorded material will only take place as defined in this Policy, ie. 

by duly authorised officers. 

14.4. The release of recorded material to the public will only be allowed in 

accordance with the law.  Recorded material will only be used in accordance 

with the primary objectives as set out in this Policy and in accordance with 

the Data Protection Act.   

14.5. A Media Management log will be maintained giving the exact date and time 

of the production of each evidential package, the name of the person 

requesting the evidence and the reason for the request. 

14.6. Evidential packages will be signed over to an Authorised Body, with no 

Master Copies retained by BBC.  Evidential packages not collected by the 

requesting officer within six months will be destroyed. 

14.7. Before any copies are removed from the Control Room or other location, a 

log of the media transaction will be recorded and signed by a duly 

authorised officer and the Authorised Body.  By signing for the media, the 

Authorised Body accepts responsibility for the use, retention, secure storage 

and destruction of the evidential copies. 

14.8. Police may apply for access in accordance with an agreement made with 

the owner where the Police reasonably believe that access to specific 

recordings is necessary for the proper investigation and detection of a 

particular offence or offences or for the prevention of crime and disorder. 

14.9. Evidence provided to the Police shall at no time be used by the police for 

anything other than the purpose specified and identified when the discs are 

Page 80



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 13 

released to them by the Control Room. 

14.10. Third party access to CCTV images will be considered in accordance with 

the objectives of this policy.  Charges will be incurred to cover operational, 

administration and recording media costs.  Details of current charges can be 

found on the Boston Borough Council website. 

14.11. Access to recordings may be obtained in connection with civil disputes by 

Court Order or be extended to lawyers acting for defendants or victims in 

connection with criminal or civil proceedings. 

14.12. Insurance Companies may have access to recordings of incidents in 

connection to their enquiries (e.g.  road traffic collisions).  Details of current 

charges can be found on the Boston Borough Council website. 

14.13. No other access to data will be allowed unless approved by a duly 

authorised officer 

14.14. Still images should not be taken as a matter of routine.   The taking of each 

still image must be for justifiable reasons. 

14.15. All still images will remain the property of the owner.   A record will be kept 

of the reason for production of the photograph, date and time, the particulars 

of production, and information identifying the Control Room staff member 

responsible for producing the photograph. 

14.16. At no time should a still image be used for anything other than the purpose 

specified and identified when released to the Police or other body. 

14.17. Still images may be sent electronically via secure email to named officers. 

 

15. DEALING WITH INCIDENTS 

15.1. Locally agreed procedures provide for: 

 Referral to Police who will respond according to local agreement. 

 Compliance with local arrangements for reporting incidents or concerns. 

 Compliance with local arrangements for reporting matters to emergency 

services. 

 Referral to security staff according to local arrangements. 

 

16. POLICE CONTACT AND USE OF THE COUNCIL’S CCTV 

SYSTEMS 

Page 81



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 14 

16.1. Access to any Council CCTV recordings and the Control Room must comply 

with the Policy and the time and date and purpose of such access will be 

recorded and monitored. 

16.2. All incidents and occurrences involving the Police will be recorded on the 

relevant CCTV System’s Incident Log. 

16.3. Use of any CCTV system by the Police must be in accordance with the 

Policy, any operations manual, and agreed protocols and should be subject 

to procedural safeguards and audit. 

16.4. The control of cameras and their monitoring is, unless covered by RIPA or 

other authorisation, the responsibility of duly authorised staff only.   The 

Police may request assistance in order to: 

 Assist with the deployment of resources. 

 Monitor potential public disorder or other major security situations. 

 Assist in the detection of crime. 

 Facilitate the apprehension and prosecution of offenders in relation to 

crime and public order. 

 Assist with the detection of moving traffic offences where it is 

considered that the public safety is at risk. 

16.5. In circumstances when problems are anticipated, arrangements may be 

made for a Police Officer to be present within the CCTV Control Centre or 

other CCTV system location for liaison purposes.   On each occasion a 

record must be made in the relevant system Incident Log. 

 

17. MAJOR INCIDENTS 

17.1. Use of the Council’s General Public Space CCTV System is integrated into 

the Council's Emergency Planning Procedures for major civil emergencies.  

If required, the Council’s Gold or Silver Commander can authorise the 

deployment of a Liaison Officer from the major civil emergencies team into 

the CCTV Control Centre.  The CCTV Operator will give assistance and 

technical advice as required in all matters concerning the deployment and 

use of the facilities within the CCTV Control Centre. 

 

18. COMPLAINTS 

18.1. Complaints regarding any aspect of any Council CCTV system should be 

Page 82



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 15 

made through the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.   

18.2. All investigations following a complaint will be carried out in full accordance 

with the policy. 

 

19. LEAD AND DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS 

19.1. Recorded images are personal data under the Data Protection Act 2018.  

Boston Borough Council is the Data Controller for the purpose of the Act.  

The Lead Duly Authorised Officer for each system is set out at within 

APPENDIX 1 and is the Information Asset Owner.   Additional Duly 

Authorised Officers within each function are also identified within the 

Appendix. 

19.2. In addition to staff viewing live images, duly authorised officers with 

reasonable, justified and proportionate grounds can view recorded images 

in order to undertake audit checks, system checks and checks to ensure 

compliance with Council Policy and Procedure.     

19.3. Each Lead Officer will be responsible for maintaining and implementing 

appropriate Operating Protocols for their respective CCTV system and 

ensuring that Data Access/Incident Logs for each system are maintained.  

As members of the Management Group, Lead Officers will be supported by 

the full Management Group. 

19.4. Prior to any decision to procure additional cameras or new CCTV systems, 

a Privacy Impact Assessment must be undertaken to inform the decision 

making process. 

 

  

Page 83



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 16 

20. APPENDIX 1: DULY AUTHORISED OFFICERS 

CCTV SYSTEM LEAD OFFICER 1 ADDITIONAL DULY 

AUTHORISED 

OFFICERS1 

BBC General Public 

Space CCTV System 

CCTV Manager* 

 

Community Safety 

Manager* 

CCTV Operators 

GMLC CCTV System Leisure Services Manager Community Safety 

Manager 

CCTV  Manager 

CCTV Operators 

St John’s Depot CCTV 

System 

Operations Manager Operations Supervisors, 

Assistant/Relief 

Supervisor and Operations 

Administrator. 

Boston Crematorium 

CCTV System 

Principal Officer, 

Bereavement and 

Cleaning 

Operations Supervisor - 

Bereavement and 

Cleansing 

Boston Guildhall CCTV 

System 

Principal Museum, Arts 

and Heritage Officer 

Collections Officer 

Municipal Buildings 

Customer Services CCTV 

System 

CCTV Manager* Community Safety 

Manager* 

CCTV Operators 

IT server Room CCTV 

System 

IT Manager IT Senior Operations 

Engineers 

IT Projects & Development 

Officer 

Operational Vehicles 

CCTV System 

Operations Manager Operations Supervisors, 

Assistant/Relief 

Supervisor and Operations 

Page 84



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 17 

Administrator 

1 For the purpose of Authorisation, officers filling any of the posts within this table in 

an acting, interim or seconded capacity are also designated as Authorised Officers. 

*The Community Safety Manager and CCTV Manager, as Public Space SIA Licence 

Holders, are ‘Duly Authorised’ to access data held within any of the Council’s CCTV 

Systems where it is reasonable, justified and proportionate to do so.  The Assistant 

Director responsible for CCTV is the Council’s corporate lead and duly authorised 

Proper Officer for CCTV and Community Safety. 

 

21. APPENDIX 2 – POLICY REVISION HISTORY 

 

VERSION 

SERIALISATION 

REASON: EFFECTIVE 

FROM: 

AMENDED 

BY: 

POSITION 

AND DATE 

APPROVED 

BY: 

POSITION 

AND DATE 

PUBLISHED 

ON: 

1.0 Full review of 

Policy 

14 December 

2015 

Re-drafted 

by Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

Cabinet, 2 

December 

2015 

14 

December 

2015 

1.1 Annual Review 1 June 2017 Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

Cabinet, 

17 May 

2017 

1 June 

2017 

1.2 Addition of IT 

Server Room 

CCTV System 

at p.4 and 

Addition of 

Lead Officer 

and additional 

Duly 

Authorised 

9 November 

2017 

CCTV 

Manager in 

consultatio

n with the 

Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

CCTV 

Manager 

as a minor 

and 

inconsequ

ential 

change to 

policy as 

per para 

9 

November 

2017 

Page 85



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 18 

Officers at 

p16. 

y Services 5.2. 

1.3 Addition of 

Assistant/Relie

f Supervisor 

and 

Operations 

Administrator 

at Appendix 1 

in respect of St 

john’s Depot 

CCTV System 

and 

Operational 

Vehicles 

CCTV System.  

Addition of 

Note1 at 

Appendix 1 -  1 

For the 

purpose of 

Authorisation, 

officers filling 

any of the 

posts within 

this table in an 

acting, interim 

or seconded 

capacity are 

also 

designated as 

Authorised 

Officers. 

21 November 

2017 

CCTV 

Manager in 

consultatio

n with the 

Head of 

Housing, 

Health and 

Communit

y Services 

CCTV 

Manager 

as a minor 

and 

inconsequ

ential 

change to 

policy as 

per para 

5.2. 

21 

November 

2017 

1.4 Annual Review June 2018 Head of 

Regulatory 

Services 

Cabinet 27 

June 2018 

9 July 

2018 

1.5 Annual Review July 2019 Head of 

Regulatory 

Services 

  

Page 86



Boston Borough Council – CCTV Policy – Version 1.6, December  2020 

 19 

1.6 Annual Review July 2020 Head of 

Regulatory 

Services 

  

      

      

      

 

 

22. REFERENCES AND USEFUL LINKS 

 

Data Protection Act, 2018 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act, 2000  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents  

Protection of Freedoms Act, 2012 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents 

‘Surveillance Camera Code of Practice’, Home Office, June 2013 - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/28277

4/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf  

‘In the picture: A data protection code of practice for surveillance cameras and 

personal information’, ICO, May 2015 - https://ico.org.uk/media/for-

organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf  

Surveillance Camera Commissioner - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner  

Page 87

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/23/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/282774/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/282774/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://ico.org.uk/media/for-organisations/documents/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET  

DATE: 2 DECEMBER, 2020 

SUBJECT: PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) 
“ALCOHOL” REVIEW 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  

REPORT AUTHOR: 

COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER 

PETER HUNN – COMMUNITY SAFETY MANAGER  

EXEMPT REPORT? NO  

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
Boston Borough Council’s Public Spaces Protection Order (in relation to Alcohol) 
commenced on Monday 12th January 2015. (Appendix 1)  
 
It is a statutory requirement that a public space protection order may not have effect 
for a period of more than 3 years, unless extended by the local authority responsible 
for granting the original order. 
 
Cabinet held on 6th September 2017 reviewed and extended the original order for a 
further 3 years, which commenced from 12th January 2018. (Appendix 2)  
 
Boston Borough Council’s Public Spaces Protection Order (Alcohol) currently 
expires on 11th January 2021. 
 
A local authority making a PSPO may extend the period for which it has effect if 
satisfied on reasonable grounds that doing so is necessary to prevent – (a) 
occurrence or recurrence after that time of the activities identified in the order, or (b) 
an increase in the frequency or seriousness of those activities after that time.  
 
An extension may not be for a period of more than 3 years and must be published in 
accordance with regulations made by the Secretary of State. 
 
Enforcement action (Appendix 4) shows that 1269 individuals have been dealt with 
under a tiered approach to enforcement since the order came into force and that 121 
of those 1269 were repeat drinkers stopped by a police officer or police community 
support officer within the controlled area.  
 
Only 2 people have breached the Public Spaces Protection Order since it first 
commenced in January 2015. These two individuals failed to comply with either a 
police officer or police community support officer when they failed to leave the 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 89

Agenda Item 8



controlled area or stop consuming alcohol with immediate effect. These individuals 
were issued with a fixed penalty fine of £100.  
 
Lincolnshire Police have been fully consulted throughout the whole process of 
reviewing and writing this report and are in agreement that the current order should 
be extended for a further three year period. 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Public Spaces Protection Order area (alcohol) and its enforcement 
provisions are extended for another three year period, commencing from 12th 
January, 2021, and the area remains the same as the original order which came into 
force on 12th January, 2015 and which was also extended for a further 3 year period 
from 12th January, 2018.  
 
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The data presented within this report suggests that the continuation of the Order in 
the original area is necessary to prevent the occurrence or recurrence of the street 
drinking activities identified in the granting of the original order.  In addition, 
continuation in its original format for a further three years is likely to prevent an 
increase in the frequency or seriousness of the street drinking issues that led to the 
introduction of the Order. 
 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
To discharge the order– this is not recommended as evidence has shown that 
behaviour identified in the original order is still occurring, mostly within the controlled 
area. 
 
 

 

Page 90



 
REPORT 
 
1 Background and Chronology 
 
1.1  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 (the Act) commenced 

on 20 October 2014.  All of the powers set out within the Act, except Civil 
Injunctions, came into force on this date.  The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014, (Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) 
Regulations 2014 also came into force on 20 October 2014 and set out the 
procedure for declaring a Public Spaces Protection Order 

 
1.2  On 8/12/14, Full Council approved that a Public Space Protection Order (in 

relation to Alcohol) commenced on Monday 12th January 2015. Appendix 1 
provides a weblink to the full report and appendices submitted at the time of 
the commencement of this Order. 

 
1.3  It set out with the Act that a Public Spaces Protection Order may not have 

effect for a period of more than 3 years, unless extended under this section. 
Boston’s Public Spaces Protection Order (Alcohol) was first set to expire on 
11th January 2018. On 6/9/17, Cabinet approved that the Public Spaces 
Protection Order (Alcohol) would be extended for a further 3 years, 
commencing again from 12th January 2018, for a further 3 year period. 
Appendix 2 provides a weblink to the full report and appendices submitted at 
the time of this first review and extension of the original Order. 

 
1.4 The statutory requirement also states that before the time a Public Spaces 

Protection Order is due to expire, the local authority that made the order may 
extend the period for which it has effect if satisfied on reasonable grounds that 
doing so is necessary to prevent – (a) occurrence or recurrence after that time 
of the activities identified in the order, or (b) an increase in the frequency or 
seriousness of those activities after that time. An extension under this section 
(3) (a) may not be for a period of more than 3 years (b) and must be published 
in accordance with regulations made by the Secretary of State. A Public 
Spaces Protection Order may be extended under this section more than once.  

 
1.5  It is also a statutory requirement made under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime 

and Policing Act 2014, Part 4 – Community protection, Chapter 2, Section 61 
– Variation and discharge of orders (1) Where a Public Spaces Protection 
Order is in force, the local authority that made the order may vary it (a) by 
increasing or reducing the restricted area; (b) by altering or removing a 
prohibition or requirement included in the order, or adding a new one. (2) A 
local authority may make a variation under subsection (1)(a) that results in the 
order applying to an area to which it did not previously apply only if the 
conditions in section 59(2) and (3) are met as regards activities in that area. 
(3) A local authority may make a variation under subsection (1)(b) that makes 
a prohibition or requirement more extensive, or adds a new one, only if the 
prohibitions and requirements imposed by the order as varied are ones that 
section 59(5) allows to be imposed. (4) A Public Spaces Protection Order may 
be discharged by the local authority that made it. (5) Where an order is varied, 

Page 91



the order as varied must be published in accordance with regulations made by 
the Secretary of State. (6) Where an order is discharged, a notice identifying 
the order and stating the date when it ceases to have effect must be published 
in accordance with regulations made by the Secretary of State. 

 
1.6 A weblink to the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act, 2014 can be 

found under Appendix 3 of this report. 
 
 
2.0 Enforcement and Incident Data Review 
 
2.1 Appendix 4 gives a full statistical update of enforcement action undertaken by 

the local police and community safety team made under this order since its 
commencement (January 12th 2015 to September 30th 2020).  A total of 1269 
individuals have been spoken to by the police during that time period for 
consuming alcohol within the controlled area. 121 of the 1269 were found to 
continue to consume alcohol within a six month period of receiving both a 
verbal and written advice not to do so and have been dealt with under a tiered 
approach to enforcement during that time period.  It should be noted that 
currently only two people have breached the Public Spaces Protection 
Order legislation as all the other people spoken to by the police have 
complied with the instructions of the attending authorised officer to 
leave the controlled area or stop consuming alcohol with immediate 
effect.   

 
2.2 The data provided shows that the volume of enforcement action has declined 

considerably since the PSPO was first introduced.  It could therefore be 
argued that the PSPO has achieved what it set out to do; and that it could be 
discharged.  However, street drinking is an issue that the public often raise 
when consulted on, and talk about on social media.  It is vital that the local 
community are reassured that the Police and Boston Borough Council are 
responding to their concerns, and take street drinking seriously.  Discharging 
the PSPO at this stage could have a detrimental impact on perceptions of 
street drinking and how it is managed, and on feelings of safety within the 
town. 

 
2.3      Appendix 5 includes data provided by Police Sector Inspector Fran Harrod, 

covering the number of Drunken Behaviour and Street Drinking incidents in 
the beat areas that incorporate the PSPO (from 1st January 2017 to 30th 
September 2020), along with comparisons to the rural areas. 

 
2.4 This data shows that the majority of both Drunken Behaviour and Street 

Drinking incidents can be attributed to the town centre.  Drunken Behaviour 
incorporates all of that incident type in public or private areas; so a good 
proportion of this will never be seen on the street, for example poor behaviour 
of the intoxicated in A&E. 

 
2.5 Purely street drinking incidents are low compared to general drunken 

behaviour incidents, however, not so low that it is considered that the PSPO is 

Page 92



no longer required.  Inspector Harrod recommends that there is a need to 
maintain the status quo, but no need to extend the scope of the area covered. 

 
2.6 Lincolnshire Police continue to address the issues caused by drunken 

behaviour, both publicly and privately, by a number of different complementary 
methods, one of which is maintenance of the PSPO. 

 
 
3.0  CONCLUSION 
 
3.1 Based on the evidence to hand, it is recommend that the Cabinet extend the 

Public Spaces Protection Order area (alcohol) for another three year period, 
commencing from 12th January, 2021, and the area remains the same as the 
original order which came into force on 12th January, 2015. 

 
 
3.2  That evidence has shown in appendices to the report that the existing 

controlled area of the Public Spaces Protection Order is still where the main 
reports of street drinking are occurring within the borough and that members 
are satisfied on reasonable grounds that the continuation of the order in the 
original area is necessary to prevent occurrence or recurrence of activities 
identified in the granting of the original order and that it’s continuation in its 
original format for a further three years will prevent an increase in the 
frequency or seriousness of the same identified activities.  

 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The resources necessary to procure / replace any existing relevant signage, literature 
and media Notices would be available from in-year budget savings. 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
It is essential that due legal process is followed and that any Notice issued accords 
with the requirements of the Act.  Appropriate legal advice has therefore been taken 
to date and, subject to Council’s decision, Legal Services Lincolnshire could be 
instructed to draft the appropriate Statutory Notices setting out the full terms of the 
Order. 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 

Page 93



EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
None 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
Throughout this process full consultation has taken place with Lincolnshire Police 
(namely Sector Inspector Harrod).  
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APP 1 http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=132&MeetingId=687&DF=08%2f12%2f2014&Ver=2 

APP 2 https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1153&Ver=4 

APP 3 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted 

APP 4 Enforcement data from January 2015 to September 2020  

APP 5 Drunken Behaviour and Street Drinking data submitted by Lincolnshire Police  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

 
Full Council Meeting – Monday 8th 
December 2014 
 

 
Link to this report can also be found under 
Appendix 1 of this report. 

 
Cabinet – Wednesday 6th September 

 
Link to this report can also be found under 
Appendix 2 of this report. 
 

Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014:  
Reform of anti-social behaviour 
powers 
Statutory guidance for frontline 
professionals 

 
Link to this report can also be found under 
Appendix 3 of this report. 
 

Page 94

http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/CeListDocuments.aspx?CommitteeId=132&MeetingId=687&DF=08%2f12%2f2014&Ver=2
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1153&Ver=4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/contents/enacted


 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Name of body Date 
 

Full Council Meeting 
 
Link to this report can also be found 
under Appendix 1 of this report 
 

Monday 8th December 2014 

Cabinet  
 
Link to this report can also be found 
under Appendix 2 of this report 
 

Wednesday 6th September 2017 

 

Page 95



 
Appendix 4 Enforcement data from January 2015 to September 2020 
 

  
*Please note the PSPO process was changed in August 2015 (by removing Stage 1 
& Stage 2 and replacing with PSPO Warning and CPNW). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Public Spaces Protection Order - Enforcement Action 

 

Jan to Dec 
2015* 

Jan to Dec 
2016 

Jan to Dec 
2017 

Jan to Dec 
2018 

Jan to Dec 
2019 

Jan to 
Sept 
2020 

Total 

Advice 364 264 153 179 54 84 1098 

Stage 1 20 0 0 0 0 0 20 

Stage 2 3 0 0 0 0 0 3 

PSPO Warning 2 35 5 21 6 12 81 

Community Protection 
Notice Warning 

4 14 4 7 1 3 33 

Community Protection 
Notice 

3 2 0 1 0 0 6 

Community Protection 
Breaches 

0 4 0 0 0 0 4 

Fixed Penalty Notice 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 

Stopped without details 
taken 

0 0 0 0 22 0 22 

Total 396 319 163 209 83 99 1269 

Page 96



 
Appendix 5 Lincolnshire Police Data on Drunken Behaviour and Street Drinking  
 
The beat codes that incorporate the PSPO are: NC32 Town Centre, NC31 Town 
West, and NC30 Town East (highlighted in yellow below).  NC28 and NC29 are the 
rural beats.  The boundary line between NC32 and NC30 is the Market Place. 
 

  ASB - DRUNKEN BEHAVIOUR 
 

 

Rural Beat 
(NC28) 

Rural Beat 
(NC29) 

Town East 
(NC30)  

Town West 
(NC31) 

Town Centre 
(NC32)  

Total 

2017 6 8 74 38 110 236 

2018 20 3 74 31 106 234 

2019 12 3 44 17 54 130 

2020* 10 3 33 22 39 107 

Total 48 17 225 108 309 707 

*Up to the end of September 2020 
 

 
ASB - STREET DRINKING 

 

 

Rural Beat 
(NC28) 

Rural Beat 
(NC29) 

Town East 
(NC30)  

Town West 
(NC31) 

Town Centre 
(NC32)  

Total 

2017 6 2 30 8 43 89 

2018 4 0 30 4 16 54 

2019 4 0 12 5 7 28 

2020* 2 0 12 1 14 29 

Total 16 2 84 18 80 200 

*Up to the end of September 2020 
 
 

Page 97



 

Page 98



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  CABINET 
 

DATE:  2ND DECEMBER 2020 
 

SUBJECT:  AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  COUNCILLOR YVONNE STEVENS 
 

 

REPORT AUTHOR:  ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - REGULATION:  
 CHRISTIAN ALLEN 
 

 

EXEMPT REPORT?  NO 
 

 

SUMMARY 
 
A report on the Council’s revised Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) was brought before 
Cabinet in May 2020 following a consultation exercise with a number of organisations 
and the wider public to seek Cabinet’s formal approval of the AQAP and its 
submission to DEFRA. An Air Quality Action Plan is required where Air Quality 
Managements Areas have been declared because of a failure to meet national air 
quality standards. The AQAP sets out a series of actions the Council will pursue to 
improve air quality in these areas. 
 
Cabinet approved the AQAP and its submission to DEFRA and requested that a 
report be brought back to Cabinet every six months following DEFRA approval to 
report on progress on the plan. 
 
This report is to fulfil Cabinets request. It reports on the outcome of the DEFRA 
submission, which resulted in some minor changes to the AQAP and informs Cabinet 
of progress on the action plan to date. 
 
Progress has been made in a number of areas particularly those that Environmental 
Health in collaboration with other sections of the authority are concerned despite 
resources being drawn away to other duties required by regulation and enforcement 
around COVID19 and increased demands on the service. A number of these are 
highlighted at point 7 of the main report and a full progress list against actions can 
found in Appendix 1.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet support the aims and measures within the Air Quality Action Plan and 
delegate the Assistant Director Regulation and the Portfolio Holder for Environmental 
Service to ensure its advancement and provide progress reports to Cabinet and/or 
Scrutiny Committee at appropriate junctures. 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To ensure the Council fulfils its legal obligations under the Environment Act 1995 in 
terms of air quality. To improve the health and wellbeing of the town’s residents. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
The assessment and management of air quality is a statutory requirement as is the 
declaration and implementation of an AQAP where it has been necessary to declare 
an Air Quality Management Area for breaches of national air quality standards. 
 
 

 

REPORT 
 
Approval of Air Quality Action Plan 
 

1. A report on the Council’s revised Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) was brought 
before Cabinet in May 2020 to seek Cabinet’s formal approval of the AQAP 
and its submission to DEFRA following a consultation exercise with a number 
of organisations and the wider public. An Air Quality Action Plan is required 
where Air Quality Managements Areas have been declared because of a 
failure to meet national air quality standards. The AQAP sets out a series of 
actions the Council will look to pursue to improve air quality in these areas. 

 
2. Cabinet approved the AQAP and its submission to DEFRA and requested that 

a report be brought back to Cabinet every six months following DEFRA 
approval to report on progress on the plan. This report is to fulfil Cabinet’s 
request. 
 

3. The draft AQAP was uploaded to the Local Air Quality Management website in 
June 2020 for DEFRA consideration. On the 24th July 2020 notification was 
received from DEFRA that ‘The measures put forward in this AQAP are 
deemed to be well considered and hence the AQAP as a whole is considered 
acceptable’. There were however a number of comments and 
recommendations made by DEFRA regarding the draft report. Two of these 
comments resulted in minor changes to the AQAP in terms of its commentary 
and the addition of a further AQAP measure. 
 

4. DEFRA commented that ‘One of the main measures, No 1, ‘Provision of the 
Outer Distributor Road for Boston’ is not scheduled for completion until post-
2036, so will not have a notable impact on concentrations within the AQMAs 
for some time, nor during the proposed lifetime of the AQAP’. As a result of 
this comment the following commentary was added to the AQAP final report 
within the consultation section acknowledging the comment : 
 

Page 100



Whilst it is the case that the provision of the ‘Boston Distributor Road’ (BDR) 
will not occur during the life of the AQAP it does remains a key objective of the 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan and the Boston Transport Strategy. The 
provision of a distributor road remains an aim for both Boston Borough Council 
and Lincolnshire County Council and is supported by the local MP, Matt 
Warman who continues to press central Government for funding for such a 
scheme. The potential air quality benefits of the BDR are such that its 
provision may resolve wholly the air quality issues within Boston. It would of 
course also bring major economic benefits. 
  
The Councils will continue to work with developers to deliver elements of the 
Boston Distributor Road (BDR), which in the long term will provide a western 
link road between the A16 in the south of the town and the A16 in the north, 
and serve new developments to the west of Boston. Phase 1 of the Quadrant 
development should see the completion of phase 1 of the link corridor this 
year. Opportunities to complete further phases through development schemes 
will be pursued with the private sector during the lifetime of the current AQAP 
however it is recognised that delivering some elements of the BDR cannot be 
brought forward by the private sector alone. 

 
 

5. DEFRA also commented ‘LGVs are afforded little specific focus within the 
measures, although they are contributing up to a quarter of road NOx 
concentrations at locations exceeding the objective. These vehicles can be 
targeted through partnership with local businesses, which could be explored 
further in the AQAP.’ Again commentary was added to the final report within 
the consultation section acknowledging the comment and a further action was 
added to the plan itself: 

 

Possible actions have been considered in response regarding the targeting of 
such vehicles. The prohibition or time related restriction for these vehicles 
within the AQMA’s is not an option as Boston is divided in two by a tidal river 
with only one main crossing point known as Haven Bridge which forms part of 
one AQMA and alternative routes for such vehicles are not possible. In fact 
the single major crossing point is the reason for high traffic volumes within the 
AQMA and hence why the Boston Distributor Road remains an objective to 
create alternative routes.  
This does not of course mean we cannot do anything in relation to LGV’s and 
we have therefore added a further action to promote good fleet management, 
fuel efficiency and new technologies with local business operators. 

 
The final AQAP has now been published on our website. 

 
Progress on Specific Air Quality Actions with the AQAP 
 

6. As stated at the time of the original presentation of the draft AQAP to Cabinet 
progress on a large number of the actions within the plan cannot be delivered 
by Environmental Health alone or in fact Boston Borough Council alone. It will 
be necessary to engage and work with numerous partners primarily 
Lincolnshire County Council (Highways and Public Health in particular) as well 

Page 101



as the general public. To date whilst time from publication of the AQAP has 
been short a number of actions have been commenced and are ongoing, 
particularly those that can be progressed by this council alone. However some 
actions primarily around road junction improvement (6 of 9) are now not to be 
progressed by Lincolnshire County Council. Lincolnshire County Council 
highways advise that traffic modelling had shown that none of these schemes 
identified make significant improvements in the traffic flows in the town and 
LCC have subsequently advised these will not be progressed. Three 
schemes, A16 Bargate roundabout, Bank Street and Lister Way are 
undergoing feasibility studies. 

 
7. A full list of progress on each specific action point within the AQAP can be 

found within Appendix 1 of this report. Some highlights are listed below: 
 
a) EV charging points installed within 6 council owned car parks providing 23 

charging points. 
b) EV changing points installed/required as part of planning consents is 

delivering expanded network at new commercial development and giving 
green choice options to home owners in line with National Planning Policy. 
Appendix 2 provides a list of sites. 

c) Potential delivery of improvements in cycling infrastructure through the 
‘Town Fund’/LCC Boston Transport Strategy 

d) Council replacement of 3 fleet vehicles with modern Euro 6 engines. 
e) Provision of guidance to developers in terms of construction management 

plans to reduce construction impacts including those on air quality.  
f) Commencement of work with Licensing Manger to develop a revised taxi 

licensing policy to introduce air quality measures. 
g) Promotion exercise carried out with 30+ HGV/LGV fleet operators to 

promote Energy Savings Trust free assistance to fleet operators on eco 
management and eco driving. 

 
 

Other Air Quality Developments of Note 
 

8. During 2019, there were no exceedances or concentrations within 10% of the 
AQS objective for nitrogen dioxide (annual mean 40μg/m3) within the Bargate 
Bridge AQMA. The last exceedance within the Bargate Bridge AQMA was 
reported in 2017 – DT9 (43.6μg/m3), which then reported 38.7μg/m3 following 
distance correction to the nearest receptor. As a result, consultants Bureau 
Veritas who assist the council in the completion of our Annual Status Reports 
(ASR’s) to DEFRA advise we should be considering de-declaring the Bargate 
Bridge AQMA due to air quality in this area now consistently meeting AQS 
objectives. The Council’s intention to consider revocation of this AQMA was 
included in our most recent ASR submission to DEFRA. DEFRA in their 
appraisal of the ASR stated ‘A plan to review the Bargate Bridge AQMA for 
potential revocation as it has demonstrated long term compliance with the 
AQOs. This is supported.’ A separate report with the supporting data will 
therefore be made to Cabinet with a recommendation to revoke the AQMA at 
Bargate Bridge in the next few months. 

 

Page 102



9. The Government has this year consulted on bringing forward the end to the       
sale of new petrol and diesel cars and vans from 2040 to 2035, or earlier if a 
faster transition appears feasible, as well as including hybrids for the first time. 
This reflects the Independent Committee on Climate Change’s advice on what 
is needed in order for the UK to end its contribution to climate change by 2050. 
The proposals relate to new cars and vans - owners of existing petrol, diesel 
and hybrid cars and vans will still be able to use these vehicles and buy and sell 
them on the used market. Such measures will likely accelerate the uptake of 
electric vehicles substantially prior to this date and will not only help the UK 
meet its climate change targets but have a significant impact on improving air 
quality nationally and locally. 

 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Boston Borough Council has a duty to provide an Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to 
lay out how the Council will look to make improvements in air quality where national 
air quality objectives are not being met or only just being met. Whilst the adopted 
plan is in its infancy progress the Council has already made some progress in 
delivering against some of the objectives set out in the plan. This report also satisfies 
Cabinet’s request to be kept informed of progress in meeting the objectives set out in 
the AQAP.  
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no direct cost implications relating to this report which is informative. 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Under the provisions of the Environment Act Boston Borough Council is required to 
produce an Air Quality Action Plan to improve air quality in areas where Air Quality 
Management Areas have been declared. Boston Borough Council has a legal duty to 
report to DEFRA through the Local Air Quality Management website on an annual 
basis. This report is known as an Annual Status Report and has to include progress 
against the AQAP. 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Areas of poor air quality in terms of nitrogen dioxide in Boston are primarily 
associated with traffic. Vehicular transport also releases greenhouse gases which 
have implications for climate change. Therefore any improvements in traffic 
management and infrastructure, modal shifts away from private vehicles or to cleaner 
vehicle technology not only helps to improve air quality but reduces greenhouse gas 
emissions. 
 

Page 103



 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts. Additionally air 
pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 
and those with heart and lung conditions. Improving air quality reduces the impact on 
these vulnerable groups in particular. 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
A number of the actions under consideration in the action plan also support other 
policies and strategies of the Council relating to climate change, transport and health 
and wellbeing. 
 
The actions within the plan are both within and beyond the powers the council has 
alone. As such a number of the actions will rely on engaging with our partners 
particularly Lincolnshire Country Council Highways, Public Health, the local 
community as well as departmentally across the council. The support of all these 
other parties is crucial to improve air quality in the town. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
Portfolio holder: Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 Progress to date against specified action within 
AQAP 

APPENDIX 2 List of planning consents with embedded EV 
requirements 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 
 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 
 

Air Quality Action Plan 2020 https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-
content/uploads/2020/08/Boston-Borough-Council-
AQAP2020-Final-1.pdf 

Annual Status Report 2020 https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-
content/uploads/2020/08/Annual-Status-Report-
2020.pdf 

 

Page 104

https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Boston-Borough-Council-AQAP2020-Final-1.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Boston-Borough-Council-AQAP2020-Final-1.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Boston-Borough-Council-AQAP2020-Final-1.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Annual-Status-Report-2020.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Annual-Status-Report-2020.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/Annual-Status-Report-2020.pdf


 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
A report was taken to Cabinet on the 13th May 2020 which sort approval for the Air 
Quality Action Plan. The plan was supported and a request was made by Cabinet to 
have a 6 monthly update on progress with the action plan once approved by DEFRA 
 

Name of body Date 
 

Cabinet 13th May 2020 

 
 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix1 
 
AQMA 

Measure 
No. 

 

 
Measure 

 
Progress to Date 

 
1 
 

Provision of outer distributor road for Boston Phase 1 of BDR near completion as part of Quadrant development – linking A16 with London Road 
B1397. Support and funding by Midlands Direct required for feasibility study in to whole scheme 
however not currently on their radar. DfT will not fund feasibility study directly. 

 
2 
 

Improved traffic flows – junction improvements During the development of the AQAP LCC Highways advised, they were undertaking 
modelling/feasibility studies on 9 locations in Boston with the view of improving traffic flows. In 
terms of these 9 highway improvements identified, 3 have been taken forward to feasibility and 
additional modelling has taken place on all the proposed schemes. The 6 schemes identified and 
subsequently not pursued were found to make no significant improvements in the traffic flows in 
the town and LCC have subsequently advised these will not be progressed. 
 
3 schemes moving forward to feasibility 

1. A16 Bargate Roundabout-re-designate to lane on to John Adams Way to increase capacity 
2. Lister Way – 2 lane between Sleaford Road and first roundabout 
3. Bank Street – extend current restriction on Wednesday & Saturday to daily 

 
6 schemes not currently being pursued 

1. 2 schemes -A16 John Adams Way-South Street – right turn previously banned. Junction 
priority, move pedestrian crossing back, traffic to filter as and when required 

2. Norfolk Street-Witham Place – no exit from Witham Place 
3. A16/A52 roundabout (Liquorpond Street) Extra lane at junction Liquorpond Street to Haven 

Bridge Road 
4. John Adams Way/Botolph Street – changes to light phasing 
5. A16/B1397 ATS roundabout – modification of lane to reduce queueing  

 
LCC advise that they are working on a right turn ban for Norfolk Place. Also road improvement works 
planned on link from Haven Bridge to Port of Boston. 
 
In addition, it was noted that during COVID restrictions McDonalds on re-opening altered traffic 
arrangements to queueing system on Queen Street retail park. They did not allow cars to turn right 
directly into the drive through and instead made them turn left and queue around the main car 

P
age 107



Appendix1 
 

park. Previously at peak times queues had back up into the traffic on Queen Street causing 
congestion and delays. This has not been occurring with the new arrangement.  
 
Requested information from LCC Highways if they have any powers to require this arrangement to 
be made permanent in light of traffic issues caused despite the site being privately owned. As no 
progress or response from LCC approached CM Restaurants Ltd operator of McDonalds at Boston 
directly. Operator to raise with owner of estate. Followed up at Boston Transport Strategy Group 
and Kyra Nettle, LCC Local Network Manager South, is to look into and contact site operator/owners 
with LCC support. 
 

 
3 
 

Investigate setting emission standards for taxis 
and anti-idling on taxi ranks 

Meeting with Licensing & Land Charges Manager, Fiona White, on 29th July & 30th September 2020.  
Existing taxi fleet fairly modern however agreement reached to modify taxi licensing policy. Fiona 
White to draft policy with assistance of ND and take through consultation and council committee 
procedure. Hope to have a policy in place early 2021,  

 
4 
 

Encourage the use of electric vehicles by 
providing public charging points 

Increasing the number of accessible charging points will clearly promote Boston as a place that is 
actively encouraging alternative vehicle technologies to improve its air quality and the wider 
environmental impact. Also by making, the town of Boston more accessible to electric vehicle 
owners there is an opportunity to make our shopping areas, parks and attractions a destination of 
choice. 
 
Electric charging has been installed in the following locations with funding from OLEV (Office of Low 
Emission Vehicles) 
 
Staniland Car Park: Two units allowing 4 vehicles to be charged simultaneously. 
Bargate Green Car Park: Two units allowing 4 vehicles to be charged simultaneously. 
Cattle Market Car Park: Two units allowing 4 vehicles to be charged simultaneously. 
West End Car Park: One unit allowing 2 vehicles to be charged simultaneously. 
Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre: One unit allowing 2 vehicles to be charged simultaneously. 
Municipal Buildings Car Park: One unit allowing 2 vehicles to be charged simultaneously and a 
further 5-wall charging points. 
 
Numerous charging points have be also provided/requested using planning conditions attached to 
commercial developments/businesses 

 

 Encourage electric charging points to be Air Quality statement or assessments now required as part of applications checklist for all planning 

P
age 108



Appendix1 
 

5 
 

installed in new build homes and commercial 
premises through the development process 

applications dealt with by Boston Borough Councils Development Control function. Environmental 
Health routinely requesting provision of electrical charging points on new residential/commercial 
developments where appropriate and conditions attached to consents for such provisions. List of 
such examples attached as appendix. 
 
Air quality draft guidance as part of South East Lincolnshire Local Plan offers information as to air 
quality mitigations required for all types of development including electric charging point provision 
and low NOx boiler for homes. 

 
6 
 

Into town bus service – increase 
patronage/service provision 

Contact made with Anita Ruffle at LCC requesting information on potential expansion of service 
routes, real-time information at bus stops and bus shelters on routes. No response to date. Local 
Transport Strategy Group advised due to COVID pandemic bus operators struggling to maintain 
existing routes. AR to update next group meeting in November. 

 
7 
 

Investigate the provision of cleaner buses for 
into town services (other bus services) 

Contact made with Anita Ruffle at LCC requesting information on this measure. No response to date. 
See above. 

 
8 
 

Request air quality assessments for proposed 
developments that are likely to have significant 

impact on local air quality 

Air quality draft guidance as part of South East Lincolnshire Local Plan based around national 
guidance. Environmental Health will and does request through planning such assessments. 
Environmental Health also regularly contacted by scheme developers over air quality where 
potential significant AQ impacts where pre-application discussion can look at developing scheme 
with in built mitigations.  

 
9 
 

Investigate reduced car parking charges for 
EV/Hybrid vehicles in LA car parks and priority 

parking for such vehicles 

As a result of COVID 19 all car parking charges were reduced to zero in council operated can parks to 
July 4th. Subsequently this has been extended as a result of the Strategic Alliance with ELDC. Whilst 
this may be seen as helpful in terms of supporting businesses in the town which may be operating 
under difficult trading conditions this may discourage the use of greener forms of transport. 
 
Central Government looking to bring in new green number plates for low emission vehicles that may 
make the introduction of a reduced cost scheme to these vehicles easier to implement when 
charging reapplied. 

 
10 

 

Promote cycling and walking as an alternative to 
cars 

Proposal made under the Towns Fund scheme by LCC Highways to improve cycling infrastructure 
and connectivity in the town. Unlikely to be perused as a standalone item in Town Funds bid but 
may be taken forward by LCC in any case under Boston Transport Strategy umbrella. 
 
The proposal includes the following: 

n Equality Act Access Audit to assess what improvements can be made for those who 
have difficulties travelling around the town centre. 

P
age 109



Appendix1 
 

Safety Improvements for people on foot and cycle 

where clusters of accidents involving pedestrians and cycle users have been recorded, such as the 
A52/West Street, Fydell Street/Norfolk Street and A52/A16 junctions. 

speeds and promote safety for people using cycles. 
Cycle facilities at destinations 

key destinations in the town centre, at schools and at public transport interchanges to facilitate 
cycle travel. 

educational institutions. 
Promotion of walking and cycling 

-out of Bikeability and associated initiatives to schools to 
encourage and facilitate more pupils to cycle to school. 

 
Cycle route infrastructure 

 on key routes into the town centre that address the issue of 
safety, which is a key barrier to increasing cycle use. Utilise best practice from the UK and Europe to 
develop innovative approaches within the constraints of the highway network. 

traffic free’ routes on waterways to improve connectivity between residential areas, 
the town centre and areas of employment, such as along the River Witham between St. Botolph’s 
footbridge and Carlton Rowing Club. 

by building new bridges/upgrading existing bridges 

Boston Woods path network, Black Sluice trail, Coastal footpath and the RSPB reserve. 
 shared cycleway/footways and consider alternatives, such as segregated facilities. 

connectivity for pedestrians and cycle users. 
edestrians and cycle users to assist way-finding. 

 
11 

 

Encourage use of low emission vehicles in the 
wider community 

The council promotes electric vehicles on its website with links to GO ULTRA LOW and OLEV grant 
schemes. This is not however prominent on the councils site and a dedicated page to this and other 
greener forms of transport needs to be pursued and made prominent. To discuss with senior 
management and IT.  
 

P
age 110



Appendix1 
 

See measure 4 – installation of charging points has occurred in six council owned car parks. 

 
12 

 

Implement standards for control of dust from 
and emissions from large construction sites 

Through the planning process, construction management plans are now routinely requested and as 
part of this plan issues such as controlling dust from construction and traffic are considered. 
Complaints regarding dust from such sites are very low however where these do occur they are 
investigated by planning enforcement or EH promptly to ensure good practice being employed. 
 
Environmental Health have developed guidance note to provide information to developer of key 
issues that require addressing in submitting construction management plans. Planning have agreed 
to publish on their webpages and direct developers to this advice. 

 

 
13 

 

Promote travel plans for new developments The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 Policy 33 ‘Delivering a More Sustainable Transport 
Network’ is supported by planning validation checklists. Validation of major applications that would 
have significant transport implications will not be validated without a ‘Transport 
Statement/Assessment and Travel Plan’. The primary purpose of a Travel Plan is to identify 
opportunities for the effective promotion and delivery of sustainable transport initiatives e.g. 
walking, cycling and public transport to reduce reliance on the car. 
Major developments are site with 10+ dwellings/>1hectare or with a floor space of >1000m2 

 
14 

 

Liaise with Environment Agency in respect of 
industrial emissions from permitted sites to 

ensure AQMA considered when setting emission 
standards 

Environmental Health act as a statutory consultee on Part A(1) permit applications, MCPD 
applications and certain permitted waste operations made to the Environment Agency. 
Environmental Health continues to ensure AQMA’s considered and request stricter emission 
standards where appropriate. 

 
15 

 

Promote green waste services and discourage 
use of bonfires for disposal of waste at domestic 

and commercial sites 

Regular publicity around the brown bin waste collection – this year 11 846 signed up for garden 
waste collection. A large proportion of this waste may have previously have been burned on garden 
fires causing localised nuisance and contributing to poor air quality. 
Robust enforcement of complaints regarding burning and the promotion of other more appropriate 
routes of disposal. 

 
16 

 

Investigate the use of council procurement 
procedures as a tool to encourage greener 

transport services 

Council has small fleet of vehicles – replaced street sweeper, 7 refuse collection vehicle and tractor 
– all latest Euro 6 compliant 

 
17 

 

Provision of air quality information to public, 
schools to allow healthier choices 

Dedicated webpages to transport/AQ issues all in one prominent place could help fulfil at least part 
of this measures objective. To discuss with senior management and IT.  

 

 
18 

 

Work with operators to increase the use of rail 
freight/shipping and passenger services 

As part of Boston’s Town Fund bid East Midland rail has made a number of proposals relating to rail 
to other transport connectivity including – station enhancements, transport interchanged and rail to 
town centre cycle routes. 

P
age 111



Appendix1 
 

 
Port of Boston moving 225,000 tonnes year of freight out of port by train, which saves 18,000 lorry 
movements in a year ( 50 a day on average) 

 
19 

 

Workplace parking levy/Lift sharing schemes Sean Johnson of Public Health at LCC is interested in trying to set up a scheme with BBC although 
this has not progressed at this time due to COVID crisis and social distancing does not lend itself to 
car sharing. There exist already a national scheme liftshare.co.uk which could be publicised across all 
local authorities and beyond via councils websites – this links to measure 11 – dedicated webpages 
to transport/AQ issue. 

20 
 
 
 

Promote good fleet management, fuel efficiency 
and new technologies with local LGV/HGV 

business operators  
 

Promotion of Energy Saving Trust free guidance and assistance to fleet operators and ‘eco-driving’ 
Circular sent to local fleet operators in September 2020 – positive response by some larger 
operators who advised they will look to see what assistance energy savings trust can offer – Port of 
Boston, Kimes Transport. 

 P
age 112



Appendix 2 – Examples of where planning conditions have secured provision of EV Charging 

 

B/18/0413 Application for approval of reserved matters (matters including appearance, layo 13/12/2018 Plots C and D, The Quadrant, Land adjacent to A16, Wyberton, Boston 

B/19/0016 Office building with workshop 09/05/2019 Murlec Electrical Contractors Ltd, Eden Business Park, Avalon Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1QR 

B/19/0235 Extension to existing holiday cottages and of existing car park 11/09/2019 Elms Farm Cottages, The Elms, Boardsides, Hubberts Bridge, Boston, PE20 3QP 

B/19/0090 Demolition of existing house and proposed replacement two storey dwelling includ 24/09/2019 Butler, The Gauntlet, Back Lane, Bicker, Boston,PE20 3BB 

B/19/0239 Outline application with all matters (Access, Appearance, Landscaping, Layout an 04/10/2019 Land to the West of Chapel Road, Leake Commonside 

B/19/0374 Outline application with all matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout, a 06/11/2019 Blue Bungalow, Pode Lane, Old Leake, Boston, PE22 9NB 

B/19/0326 Outline application with all matters (Access, Appearance, Landscaping, Layout an 11/11/2019 Land off Kirton Holme Road, Kirton Holme, Boston, PE20 1TE 

B/19/0090/CD1 Application for the approval of Conditions 4 (Materials), 5 (Brick and mortar ma 02/12/2019 The Gauntlet Bicker, Butler, Back Lane, Bicker, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE20 3BB 

B/19/0359 Erection of one detached dwelling and detached garage approved under application 13/11/2019 84 Boston Road, Kirton, Boston,  PE20 1ER 

B/19/0333 Application for approval of reserved matters (appearance, landscaping, layout an 03/12/2019 Plot C, The Quadrant, Land Adjacent to A16, Wyberton, Boston 

B/19/0068 Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4 dwellings with new access an 11/12/2019 118 Church Road, Boston,  PE21 0LG 

B/19/0430 Outline application for residential development with all matters reserved 17/12/2019 Ivy House, Chain Bridge Road, Wyberton, Boston PE21 7LE 

B/19/0308 Erection of office building following demolition of existing office 18/12/2019 Woad Farm, Fishtoft Road, Fishtoft, Boston,  PE21 0QP 

B/19/0438 Demolition of existing buildings, outline planning permission for 5 two storey d 03/01/2020 Land off Commonside Road, Old Leake, Boston, PE22 9PR 

B/19/0453 Conversion of existing house into 2 dwellings and erection of 2 new dwellings wi 22/01/2020 80 Sleaford Road, Boston, PE21 8EU 

B/19/0397 Demolition of existing buildings. Erection of 11 industrial commercial units (Us 23/01/2020 Boston Industrial Centre, Norfolk Street, Boston PE21 9HG 

B/19/0317 Erection of 31 dwellings, new access and infrastructure following demolition of 30/01/2020 Land off Station Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1LQ 

B/18/0528 85 dwellings with associated infrastructure including new estate roads, public o 10/08/2020 Land adjacent and to the south of Hawthorn Tree School on the east side of Toot Lane, Boston, PE21 0PT 

B/18/0435 Demolition of dwelling and outbuildings; Outline planning permission for up to 4 17/03/2020 Land North of Langrick Road, Boston, PE21 8HT 

B/19/0068/CD1 Application to discharge Condition 3 (Flood Risk Assessment) , C4 (Water Consump 27/03/2020 118, Church Road, Boston, PE21 0LG 

B/19/0514 Construction of 41 affordable dwellings with associated car parking and access, 24/03/2020 Land off Alcorn Green, Boston, PE21 0NA 

B/18/0399 Proposed residential development consisting of 61 dwellings and construction of 26/06/2020 Land to the west of 90, 92 and 94 Fenside Road, Boston 

B/20/0053 Barn conversion and formation of domestic curtilage 01/04/2020 Marsh Mill Farm, Mill Lane, Bicker, Boston, PE20 3AD 

B/19/0359/CD1 Application to have details approved relating to condition 5 (Pollution reductio 01/05/2020 84, Boston Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 1ER 

B/20/0070 Approval of reserved matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout, scale) fo 14/04/2020 Land adjacent to Knebworth House, Church End, Wrangle, Boston, PE22 9EW 

B/20/0006 Outline planning application for the erection of one detached dwelling with mean 21/04/2020 Land adjacent to Mayfield, Church Lane, Wrangle, Boston PE22 9ET 

B/19/0519 Construction of drive-thru coffee shop (Mixed Use Class A1/A3) including vehicul 09/06/2020 Land at 19, Swineshead Road, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7JE 

P
age 113



B/19/0453/CD1 Application to have details relating to condition C4 (walls and fences), C6 (har 02/10/2020 80, Sleaford Road, Boston, PE21 8EU 

B/18/0528/CD1 Application to approve Conditions C7 (Surface Water Drainage), C10 (Ecology), C1 Land adjacent and to the south of Hawthorn Tree School on the east side of Toot Lane, Boston, PE21 0PT 

B/20/0191 Construction of office units (comprising 8 units) including associated car parki 04/09/2020 Endeavour Park, Gilbert Drive, Boston, PE21 7TR 

B/19/0520 Hybrid planning application seeking full planning permission for the part change 22/09/2020 Boston West Golf Centre, Langrick Road, Hubberts Bridge, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE20 3SG 

B/20/0267 Proposed replacement dwelling including demolition of existing dwelling 05/10/2020 The Cottage, Common Lane, Old Leake, Boston PE22 9RH 

B/18/0399/CD3 Application to discharge Condition 6 (Air Quality & Renewable Energy) and C 9 ( Land to the west of 90, 92 and 94, Fenside Road, Boston 
 

P
age 114



 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  CABINET 

DATE: 2 DECEMBER 2020 

SUBJECT: QUARTER 2 REPORT –  
PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR SKINNER – LEADER (PERFORMANCE) 

COUNCILLOR NOBLE – FINANCE & RISK 

REPORT AUTHOR: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – ORGANISATION & 
CORPORATE SERVICES 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – SUPPORT SERVICES & 
PARTNERSHIP 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 
This is the quarterly report covering performance, risk and finance monitoring 
information for Quarter 2 of 2020/21 (April to September 2020). 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q2. 

2. To agree the specific finance recommendations, summarised below: 

 F1: To approve the reserve movements detailed in Table 6 

 F2: To approve the updated capital programme as detailed in Table 8 

 F3: That the supplementary estimates in respect of Accelerated Towns’ Fund 
be approved, as set out in Table 11 

 F4: That the supplementary estimates in respect of COVID-19 be approved, as 
set out in Table 12 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
Members are accountable for the delivery of the Council’s priorities and this 
monitoring information should be used as a tool to report on progress and highlight 
any key challenges forecast 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
Alternative reporting arrangements 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



REPORT 
 

Performance (Appendix A) 

 

1. Areas of success / improvement 

 Overall and long term sickness absence (Cllr Skinner) 

 Major and minor planning applications and appeals (Cllr Welton) 

 Supporting business growth and promoting the Borough (Cllr Welton) 

 Switchboard (Cllr Welton) 

 Benefit and Council Tax Support processing times (Cllr Noble) 

 Information requests (Cllr Noble) 

 Broadly compliant food businesses (Cllr Stevens) 

 Fly tip response times (Cllr Stevens) 

 Swim sessions (Cllr Stevens) 

 Number of non-local authority owned empty properties returned into 
occupation (Cllr Griggs) 

 
2. Areas of concern / watching brief 

 Short-term sickness absence (Cllr Skinner) 

 Impacted by Covid-19: 
o Council tax collection rates (Cllr Noble) 
o Car parking income (Cllr Noble) 
o Household waste reused, recycled, composted; and residual 

household waste per household (Cllr Stevens) 
o Gym memberships (Cllr Stevens) 
o Event income (Cllr Stevens) 
o Market income (Cllr Abbott) 
o Housing completions and housing standards (Cllr Griggs) 

 
3. Other items of note 

 The Food Standards Agency suspended the food safety inspection 
programme towards the end of March 2020 in light of Covid-19. The 
Environmental Health team have been dealing with a high number of Covid 
related service requests since then. 

 Significant increase in fly tipping incidents 
 

Risk (Appendix B) 

 

 

4. Update on risks in Quarter 2 

4.1 Each quarter we monitor our strategic risks – those risks which could impact 
most on the achievement of our corporate priorities as set out in the current 
Corporate Plan – Prosperity; People; Place; Public Service. 

 
4.2 The strategic risks have been reviewed in light of the change in management 

structure in Q2 and will be reviewed in light of the new Corporate Plan in Q3/4. 
 
4.3 Summary of strategic risks (full details in Appendix B) 

 

Page 116



 

Corporate 
Priority 

Risk name Risk owner 
Risk 
score 

Risk 
rating 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

1: Prosperity 

Flood risk 
Mike 
Gildersleeves 

8 Medium Amber 

Growth and local 
economy 

Neil Cucksey / 
Lydia Rusling 

12 High Red 

2: People 

Housing Michelle Howard 16 High Red 

Welfare Phil Perry 4 Medium Green 

Health Michelle Howard 9 Medium Green 

3: Place Town Centre 
Neil Cucksey / 
Lydia Rusling 

12 High Amber 

4: Public 
Service 

Population 
change 

Michelle Howard 6 Medium Green 

Budget Adrian Sibley 12 High Amber 

Capacity James Gilbert 9 Medium Green 

Transformation 
Programme 

Adrian Sibley 6 Medium Amber 

Brexit Rob Barlow 9 Medium Green 

Overall 

Civil contingency 
risks 

Christian Allen 16 High Amber 

Compliance James Gilbert 6 Medium Green 

Reputation James Gilbert 6 Medium Green 

Strategic Alliance Rob Barlow 8 Medium Amber 

 
4.4 The two high strategic risks in Q2 remain housing and budget. There has been 

no change to the strategic risk scores in Q2. 
 
4.5 One exception report for operational risks in Q2 – cremator risk remains high 

as reported in Q1. 
 

Financial management (Appendix C) 

 
5. Finance headlines: 

 Key financial events during Quarter 2 2020/21 (section 1) 

 Revenue budget (section 2): table 1 details net spend for the year against 
budget by service area, table 2 by portfolio holder and table 3 by corporate 
priority. 

 Variations to budget (section 3) 

 Controlling Migration Fund (section 4, table 4) 

 Trading income (section 5; table 5) 

 Earmarked reserves (section 6; table 6) – recommendation for Cabinet to 
approve the reserve movements as detailed in the table 

 Treasury management (section 7; table 7) 

 Capital (section 8; table 8) – recommendation for Cabinet to approve the 
updated capital programme as detailed in the table 

 Consultancy costs (section 9; table 9) 

 Debt collection (section 10; table 10) 

Page 117



 Supplementary estimates (section 11; table 11) – recommendation for 
Cabinet to approve the supplementary estimates in respect of Accelerated 
Towns’ Fund as set out in the table 

 Supplementary estimates – COVID-19 (section 12; table 12) – 
recommendation for Cabinet to approve the supplementary estimates in 
respect of COVID-19 as set out in the table 

 Insurance (section 13; table 13) 

 Procurement exemptions (section 14) – none in Quarter 2 

 Localisation of Business Rates and Council Tax Support Scheme (section 
15; table 14) 

 Other financial matters (section 16) 
 

CONCLUSION 
Overall, performance in Quarter 2 of 2020/21 was in line with targets but has been 
heavily impacted by Covid-19 restrictions as anticipated. 
 
Strategic and operational risks continue to be managed in accordance with the Risk 
Management Framework. 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
The financial implications are set out in the ‘Finance’ section of the report, with 
specific recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at the 
beginning of this covering report 
 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
Local Government Act 1999 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
The performance and risk implications are set out in the relevant sections of the 
report, with specific recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at 
the beginning of this covering report 

 
CONSULTATION 

Consultation has been undertaken with CMT. 

 

APPENDICES 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report:- 

APPENDIX A Q2 performance 

APPENDIX B Q2 risks 

APPENDIX C Q2 finance 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report 

 

Page 118



 

 

Boston Borough Council Performance Q2 2020/21 
 
Performance measures: directly within the Council’s control; used to monitor how our services are 
performing against set targets 
 
Trend measures: provide context and not directly within the Council’s control; used to inform decision 
making and policy. 
 
Key to abbreviations: 
Performance: : Performance better than target; : Performance on target; : Performance worse than 
target 
 

Assistant Director lead: AF: Andy Fisher, Assets; CA: Christian Allen – Regulation; JG: James Gilbert – 
Organisation & Corporate Services; LR: Lydia Rusling – Towns Fund; MG: Mike Gildersleeves – Planning; 
MH: Michelle Howard – Housing and Wellbeing; NC: Neil Cucksey – Economic Growth; PP: Phil Perry – 
Support Services & Partnerships; VB: Victoria Burgess – Operations  
 
Portfolio: JN: Jonathan Noble, Finance & Commercial; MG: Martin Griggs, Housing and Communities; NW: 
Nigel Welton, Deputy Leader – Economic Development and Planning; PS: Paul Skinner, Leader; RA: Richard 
Austin, Heritage; TA: Tracey Abbott, Town Centre; YS: Yvonne Stevens, Environmental Services 
 

Corporate Priority: 1: Prosperity; 2: People; 3: Place; 4: Public Service 
 

Scrutiny: CC: Corporate and Community Committee; EP: Environment and Performance Committee 
 

 

Portfolio: Leader – Cllr Paul Skinner 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 
(full year) 

2020/21 
Q2 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Sickness absence – overall (days) JG PS 4 CC 7.75 7.0  2.72 3.5  
Sickness absence – long term (days) JG PS 4 CC 4.68 5.0  1.24 2.5  
Sickness absence – short term (days) JG PS 4 CC 3.06 2.0  1.48 1.0  
 
Leader: trend measures 
 
Corporate Priority 3: Place 

 

Trend measures 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Number of Stage 1 Antisocial 
Behaviour (ASB) letters 

14 11 21 26 19 15 22 25 13 9 31 8 1 23 

Number of Stage 2 Antisocial 
Behaviour (ASB) letters 

7 7 5 7 3 6 1 6 5 5 23 47 2 4 

Number of Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements (ABAs) 

1 5 6 0 1 0 0 0 6 0 7 3 0 0 

APPENDIX A 

Page 119



 

 

Trend measures 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Number of Civil Injunctions 
secured 

0 1 1 1 3 0 0 0 0 6 2 0 0 0 

Number of Community 
Protection Notice Warnings 
issued 

0 0 0 0 0 5 1 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 

Number of Community 
Protection Notices (CPNs) 

1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 

Number of Criminal Behaviour 
Orders issued (CBOs) 

New measure 2 0 0 0 0 0 

 

 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q2 109 128 170 61 129 73 53 32 

Q1 154 106 114 98 73 70 57 32 

154 

106 114 
98 

73 70 57 
32 

109 

128 

170 

61 
129 

73 

53 

32 

Number of CCTV directed/assisted arrests 

Page 120



 

 

 
 

 
 
RIPA 
 
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) regulates the powers of public bodies to carry out 
surveillance and investigation. There were no RIPA applications in Q2. 
 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q2 50 75 98 49 52 51 47 35 

Q1 43 52 70 70 60 51 59 26 

43 
52 

70 70 
60 

51 59 

26 

50 

75 

98 

49 
52 

51 
47 

35 

Number of CCTV evidential packages 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q2 220 449 418 234 323 164 174 101 

Q1 354 228 324 215 287 184 138 175 

354 

228 
324 

215 
287 

184 
138 175 

220 449 

418 

234 

323 

164 
174 101 

Number of CCTV incidents recorded 

Page 121



 

 

Complaints 
 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Complaint against attendees at 
Cabinet on 9 September 

Organisation & 
Corporate 
Services 

No Investigated; no further action 

Complaint alleging 
unprofessional behaviour and 
inaction by the Council in 
regard to removing travellers 
from Woodville Park 

Regulation No 

Investigated; no evidence of wrongdoing. 
Details of all the work undertaken by the 
Council in relation to this incident given to 
the complainant. The outcome was 
achieved as quickly as the law would 
allow. 

 
Compliments 
 

Compliment Service area 

Communication during lockdown. “Thank you for this update. As usual it was written 
in clear and concise language and was directly relevant to the Borough. Please keep 
them coming, they are very useful.” 

Organisation & 
Corporate Services 

Communications: “Enjoyed reading the bulletin, full of positive news.” 
Organisation & 
Corporate Services 

 

  

Page 122



 

 

Portfolio: Deputy Leader – Economic Development and Planning – Cllr Nigel Welton 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 
(full year) 

2020/21 
(Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

% of major planning applications 
determined on time* 

MG NW 1 EP 91% 75%  90.74% 75%  

% minor planning applications 
determined on time* 

MG NW 1 EP 83% 65%  81.99% 65%  

% of all other applications determined 
on time* 

MG NW 1 EP 89% 80%  87.67% 80%  

% of major appeals allowed against the 
number of major applications 
determined by the authority within the 
previous 2 years 

MG NW 1 EP 2.78% 10%  0% 10%  

% of minor and other appeals allowed 
against the number of minor and other 
applications determined by the 
authority within the previous 2 years 

MG NW 1 EP 1.32% 20%  1.34% 20%  

Comment: The Government measure planning performance over a 2 year period. The performance figures 
above show Boston’s overall performance over the last 2 years against target and the graphs over the page 
show the trend by quarter. 

Number of businesses visited to 
support business growth 

NC NW 1 EP 79 50  30 25  

Comment: Due to the pandemic some of these visits either took place via Teams/Zoom/phone or face2face 

Number of initiatives to support skills, 
in partnership with the business 
community 

NC NW 1 EP 11 10  6 5  

Number of business events attended to 
promote the Borough 

NC NW 1 EP 8 4  4 2  

Comment: 2 events attended online 

Switchboard - % of abandoned calls PP NW 4 CC 5% 15%  3% 15%  

Switchboard – average waiting time (in 
seconds) 

PP NW 4 CC 42 60  33 60  

 
  

                                                
*
 ‘On time’ – within statutory target determination period or such extended period as agreed in writing with the 

applicant/agent 

Page 123



 

 

Deputy Leader: trend measures 
 
Corporate Priority 1: Prosperity 
 

 
 

 

 
 

18/19: Q3 18/19: Q4 19/20: Q1 19/20: Q2 19/20: Q3 19/20: Q4 20/21: Q1 20/21: Q2 

Major 93% 78% 75% 89% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Target 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Major planning applications determined on time 

18/19: Q3 18/19: Q4 19/20: Q1 19/20: Q2 19/20: Q3 19/20: Q4 20/21: Q1 20/21: Q2 

Minor 68% 83% 89% 88% 76% 81% 85% 93% 

Target 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Minor planning applications determined on time 

Page 124



 

 

 
 
Income from planning applications in Q2 was £83,489. Income continues to be below target - approx 36% 
down year to date. Overall volume of applications is only marginally lower than equivalent period in 2019. 
Likely linked to effect of Covid-19. 
 
33 planning applications were determined with time extensions in Q2 (46% of applications determined in 
the quarter). This is a slight increase owing to staffing issues over the summer period. 
 
Complaints 
 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Complaint about a 
misplaced document x2 

Support Services & 
Partnerships 

Yes 
Procedure reviewed and improvements made. 
Customers reimbursed for cost to replace 
documents. 

Complaint about 
planning decision 
B/19/0363 

Planning No 
Planning decision reviewed and satisfied that 
it was made lawfully and following correct 
procedures. 

 
Complaint monitoring – corporate view 
 
19 complaints received in Q2 
 
Average time taken to respond to a complaint: 10 working days 
 
Range: 2 to 23 working days 
 
All complaints were Stage 1 complaints (investigated by the service area). No complaints in Q2 were 
referred to Stage 2 to be investigated by another manager or more senior officer. 
 
  

18/19: Q3 18/19: Q4 19/20: Q1 19/20: Q2 19/20: Q3 19/20: Q4 20/21: Q1 20/21: Q2 

Other 88% 74% 85% 93% 96% 80% 97% 90% 

Target 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Other planning applications determined on time 

Page 125



 

 

Councillor Complaints 
 
Four complaints about Councillors were received in Q2 and are under investigation. Three complaints, 
received in Q1, remain under investigation. 
 
Local Government Ombudsman (LGO) 
 
There were 2 LGO investigations in Q2. 
 
One, relating to non-collection of garden waste, was closed as the LGO found that there was no reason to 
investigate. The Council had already apologised to the complainant and rearranged collection. 
 
The other one, relating to alleged nuisance, is with the complainant to decide if they are satisfied with the 
Council’s latest response or would like the LGO to consider investigating it further. 
 
Compliments 
 
No compliments relating to this portfolio in Q2. 
  

Page 126



 

 

Portfolio: Finance & Commercial – Cllr Jonathan Noble 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 (full year) 2020/21 (Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Benefit processing time – 
new claims (days) 

PP JN 2 CC 4.03 10  6.37 10  

Benefit processing time – 
change in circumstances 
(days) 

PP JN 2 CC 5.42 14  2.92 14  

Council Tax Support 
processing – new claims 
(days) 

PP JN 2 CC 4.91 10  6.86 10  

Council Tax Support 
processing time – change 
in circumstances (days) 

PP JN 2 CC 7.77 14  11.51 14  

Business Rates collection 
(% collected) 

PP JN 4 CC 97.79% 98.00%  49.79% 48.91%  

Council Tax collection (% 
collected) 

PP JN 4 CC 95.88% 96.00%  43.05% 45.60%  

Average time taken to 
respond to information 
requests (working days) 

JG JN 4 CC 10 20  11 20  

% of information 
requests responded to 
within statutory 
timescales 

JG JN 4 CC New measure 92% 94%  

Average time taken to 
respond to Subject Rights 
requests (calendar days) 

JG JN 4 CC 1 month 1 month  
1 

month 
1 month  

Car parking income 
against monthly profile* 

AF JN 3 EP £885,940 £860,000  £98,731 £430,000  

Comment: Free parking was implemented from 27 March - 15 June due to Covid 19 lockdown, and re-
introduced again for 2.5 hour slots from 29 June 2020 to encourage shopping in the town. 

Car Parking permit 
income vs budget 

AF JN 3 EP £99,744 £89,950  £19,765 £44,960  

Comment: Free parking was also available to permit holders from 27 March – 15 June. 

 
  

                                                
*
 This includes income from tickets purchased via the MiPermit app 

Page 127



 

 

Finance & Governance: trend measures 
 

Corporate Priority 1: Prosperity 
 

 
 

Collectable debit less than previous years due to reliefs awarded to support businesses in 2020/21 
following Covid-19 outbreak. 
 
Every non-domestic property has a rateable value (RV) which is determined by the Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA). The RV is broadly representative of the amount for which the premises could be let per annum. 
 

The council multiplies the RV of an individual property, by a 'multiplier' (the national non-domestic 
multiplier) set by central government. It is set for the whole of England and is effective from the 1 April 
each year. 
 

This gives the gross rates payable for each property before any entitlement to reliefs, exemptions or 
discounts are applied. 
 

Depending on the individual circumstances of the ratepayer, there are a range of reliefs, discounts and 
exemptions that they may be entitled to in order to lower the amount of business rates payable. After 
these reliefs have been applied to a business rates account, the amount payable is referred to as the net 
rates payable. 
 

Both the amount of gross and net rates payable fluctuate on a daily basis. Some examples that are likely to 
change the amount of gross and/or net rates payable are shown below: - 

 Increases and decreases to the RV of a property 

 New properties entering the rating list 

 Properties being deleted from the rating list 

 Changes to the structure of a property (merges/splits) 

 Entitlement to discounts, reliefs and exemptions being applied to accounts 

 Entitlement to discounts, reliefs and exemptions being removed from accounts 
 

More detailed information can be found on our website  
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Business-rates-2020-21.pdf 

 -  

 5.000  

 10.000  

 15.000  

 20.000  

 25.000  

 30.000  

17/18
: Q3 

17/18
: Q4 

18/19
: Q1 

18/19
: Q2 

18/19
: Q3 

18/19
: Q4 

19/20
: Q1 

19/20
: Q2 

19/20
: Q3 

19/20
: Q4 

20/21
: Q1 

20/21
: Q2 

Gross (£m) 24.32 24.26 25.53 25.36 25.45 25.40 26.54 26.37 26.31 26.33 27.26 26.55 

Net (£m) 19.87 19.73 20.63 20.30 20.31 20.24 20.71 20.28 20.07 19.90 11.58 10.65 

Collectable business rates 

Page 128

https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Business-rates-2020-21.pdf


 

 

 
Corporate Priority 2: People 

 
New trend measures as recommended by Corporate & Community Committee in July 2019 
 

Trend measures 
2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Caseload – Housing Benefits 5430 5361 5324 5228 5148 5106 

Caseload – Council Tax Support 4836 4805 4797 4755 4634 4612 

New claims 428 432 448 429 518 370 

Change of circumstances 4176 3502 2734 11999 6865 2708 
 

Corporate Priority 4: Public Service 
 

 
 

Complaints 
 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Complaint about council tax 
charge for an empty property 

Support 
Services & 
Partnerships 

Partly 
The Council has apologised for an 
administrative error. The charge for the 
empty property is correct. 

Allegation of harassment 
after receiving 3 letters over 
the last year checking living 
arrangements 

Support 
Services & 
Partnerships 

No 

No intention to cause harassment. The 
process for reviewing claims and prompting 
for changes in circumstance explained to 
complainant. Correct procedure was 
followed.  

Complaint about a 
discretionary grant 

Support 
Services & 
Partnerships 

No 

Criteria reviewed and was correctly applied 
at the time. The application criteria has now 
been widened so the application will be re-
assessed. 

Complaint that council tax 
personal details have been 
amended 

Support 
Services & 
Partnerships 

No 

Records show there has been no 
amendment to the personal details held 
since the current system was introduced in 
2004. 

 
  

0 

2000 

4000 

6000 

8000 

10000 

12000 

14000 

17/18: 
Q3 

17/18: 
Q4 

18/19: 
Q1 

18/19: 
Q2 

18/19: 
Q3 

18/19: 
Q4 

19/20: 
Q1 

19/20: 
Q2 

19/20: 
Q3 

19/20: 
Q4 

20/21: 
Q1 

20/21: 
Q2 

Number 7696 8097 7527 6790 8735 8146 8368 9724 7148 8419 9957 12225 

Number of online payments 

Page 129



 

 

Compliments 
 

Compliment Service area 

Compliment re Data Protection from a member of the public - "I appreciate you 
explaining this as this now makes sense" 

Organisation & 
Corporate 
Services 

Business Grants: “Just a quick note to say many thanks for accepting our application for 
a discretionary grant. The school’s income has been very limited since April and the 
money we have received is most gratefully appreciated.” 

Support Services 
& Partnerships 

Business Grants: “Well done to you all and thank you for working so quickly at this 
awful time” 

Support Services 
& Partnerships 

Business Rates: “I am writing to mention a staff member at Boston Borough Council 
that went beyond their job role during the early stages of Covid-19 – {personal details 
redacted}.  Unfortunately, the VOA made an error on my business rates by removing all 
of the listing instead of only part of the listing.  I was unaware of this error, until I 
applied for the business rates relief. The officer stepped in, showing compassion to the 
situation, and could clearly see the error that had occurred (I provided evidence of 
this). Rather than inform me he could not help, he went out of his way to help me, 
contacted the VOA on my behalf and updated me when necessary. Eventually, with his 
help, the VOA recognised the error and rectified this straight away, in order for me to 
obtain the government grant. I am very grateful for his excellent customer service.” 

Support Services 
& Partnerships 

Comment from the recent business recovery survey:- “{Personal details redacted} has 
been particularly helpful during lockdown so please pass on our gratitude.” 

Support Services 
& Partnerships 

 
  

Page 130



 

 

Portfolio: Heritage – Cllr Richard Austin 
 
Heritage: trend measures 
 

Corporate Priority 3: Place 
 
Guildhall 
 
Due to Covid-19 the Guildhall was closed throughout the duration of Quarter 1. 
 
The Guildhall reopened on 19 August 2020 after implementing rigorous systems and a pre-booking system 
for access. There were 126 pre-booked visits in Q2. This system is still in place. 
 
During this period the Guildhall has been regularly used as a venue for internal and external partner 
meetings during establishing the new Strategic Alliance which has required full booking of the building on 
these occasions. This is in addition to the 126 pre-booked visits. 
 

 
Complaints 
 
No complaints relating to this portfolio in Q2. 
 
Compliments 
 
No compliments relating to this portfolio in Q2. 
 

  

Page 131



 

 

Portfolio: Environmental Services – Cllr Yvonne Stevens 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 (full year) 2020/21 (Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

% of broadly compliant 
food businesses 

CA YS 2 CC 97.86% 95%  99.02% 95%  

% of food safety 
inspections completed 
against those required by 
the Food Law Code of 
Practice 

CA YS 2 CC 95.83% 100%  See comment below 

Comment: The Food Standards Agency has extended the suspension of the food safety inspection 
programme until at least the end of January 2021. Staff have been engaged in extensive remote monitoring 
of food safety management systems in food businesses in the Borough and following these up with short, 
focused visits to monitor aspect of food safety that cannot be monitored remotely, such as structure and 
cleanliness. The level of demand for advice and information on Covid related matters remains high, as does 
the number of reports of non-compliance with Covid related issues by businesses.  Staff respond to every 
one of these, as well as carrying out proactive monitoring of compliance within the business community. In 
addition, officers from the service are actively involved in supporting the work of the Lincolnshire Resilience 
Forum in responding to the pandemic. 

Household waste reused, 
recycled, composted 

VB YS 3 EP 41.01% 41.52%  44.63% 46.37%  

Residual household waste 
per household 

VB YS 3 EP 569kg 553kg  303kg 275kg  

% of fly tip reports 
responded to within 3 
working days 

VB YS 3 EP 69.30% 88%  97.10% 88%  

Swim sessions at GMLC PP YS 2 EP 144,732 167,000  13,331 10,937  
Comment: Government restrictions lifted to allow limited service within Leisure Environment from 25th 
July. Revised target set at 25% of usual attendances on services that are running. 

Gym memberships PP YS 2 EP 1,390 1,500  1,012 1,066  
Comment: Nationally gym membership has decreased by 30%. New GMLC target to mirror this. Second 
announcement by government to restrict COVID spread saw a further drop in memberships. 

Event income NC YS 3 EP New measure See comment below 

Comment: We have been able to run one event - Outdoor Cinema with limited numbers. Event went well 
and was received well. 

 
  

Page 132



 

 

Environmental Services: trend measures 
 

Corporate Priority 2: People 

 

Trend measures 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Number of taxi drivers 
suspended/revoked 

3 38 39 39 0 0 0 1 2 0 4 0 3 4 

Comment: 3 suspensions on medical grounds and 1 revocation on safeguarding issues. 

Number of vehicles 
suspended/revoked 

8 18 23 29 5 10 11 24 5 16 11 6 3 0 

Number of taxi driver/vehicle 
hearings 

1 1 3 8 3 7 8 9 2 1 3 0 0 2 

Number of premises licences 
revoked 

0 1 5 2 0 1 2 2 2 0 1 2 0 2 

Number of Licensing Act 2003 
hearings 

1 4 4 6 2 5 7 11 5 4 8 3 0 2 

Comment: 2 Licences reviewed, both revoked. 

 
Corporate Priority 3: Place 
 
Commercial waste: 

 

Trend measures 2020/21 

% growth in income in commercial waste service compared to previous year +1.22% 

% growth in number of commercial waste customers compared to previous year +29.70% 

 
Contamination: 
 
Contamination graph to follow. 
 
  

Page 133



 

 

Recycling trend: 
 

 
 
Residual waste trend: 
 

 
 

36.00% 

38.00% 

40.00% 

42.00% 

44.00% 

46.00% 

48.00% 

50.00% 

18/19: 
Q3 

18/19: 
Q4 

19/20: 
Q1 

19/20: 
Q2 

19/20: 
Q3 

19/20: 
Q4 

20/21: 
Q1 

20/21: 
Q2 

Cumulative recycling % 44.15% 41.52% 48.52% 46.37% 43.70% 41.01% 44.31% 44.63% 

Cumulative recycling % 

125 

130 

135 

140 

145 

150 

155 

18/19: 
Q3 

18/19: 
Q4 

19/20: 
Q1 

19/20: 
Q2 

19/20: 
Q3 

19/20: 
Q4 

20/21: 
Q1 

20/21: 
Q2 

Per household (kg) 155 149 137 138 145 149 151 152 

Residual waste per household (kg) 

Page 134



 

 

Fly tipping: 
 

 
 
 

 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

Oct 19 Nov 
19 

Dec 
19 

Jan 20 Feb 
20 

Mar 
20 

Apr 
20 

May 
20 

Jun 20 Jul 20 Aug 
20 

Sep 
20 

Number 108 102 89 149 111 172 193 180 264 257 225 268 

Number of fly tip incidents (by month) 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

Fly tip incidents by type 

19/20: Q2 20/21: Q2 

Page 135



 

 

 
 
This does not correspond exactly to the number of ‘other household’ items overall because there may be 
multiple types of items in one ‘other household’ incident. 
 

 
 
 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

Furniture Textiles Wood Garden Toys Mattresses 

19/20: Q2 62 20 39 6 19 39 

20/21: Q2 124 61 48 23 46 81 

'Other household' items 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

Single Item Car Boot Small Van Transit Van Tipper Significant 

19/20: Q2 14 54 118 68 12 3 

20/21: Q2 28 117 381 177 29 1 

Fly tip incidents by volume 

Page 136



 

 

 
 
The set working days for collection changed from 2 to 3 in September 2020. 
 
Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs): 
 
205 FPNs were issued in Q2 (July to September 2020). 123 have been paid to date. 
 
31 prosecutions have commenced. These have been heard in chambers but the results have been delayed 
as a result of the court closures during lockdown. 
 
Complaints 
 

Complaint 
Service 
area 

Justified? Outcome 

Complaint about non 
collection of blue bin 

Operations Yes 
System checked and bin was missed with no reason 
recorded. Customer advised we do not offer a 
recollection service but recycling bags sent out. 

Complaint about 
repeated non 
collection of bins 

Operations Yes 
Incorrect information held on the system – this has now 
been corrected. 

Complaint about 
repeated non 
collection of garden 
waste 

Operations Partly 

Customer advised that between September and October 
they had been presenting the bin on the incorrect week. 
Customer advised of correct dates. However, they had 
been presenting their bin on the correct days previously 
and these had been missed by the crews. 

Allegation of verbal 
abuse by a refuse 
crew 

Operations No 

No evidence to support allegation. Complainant advised 
that employees receive comprehensive training to 
provide a professional service and undergo annual 
appraisals. 

Complaint about Operations No Council has followed procedures and not at fault. 

0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

Same day as reported Within set working 
days 

Over set working days 

19/20: Q2 25.70% 79.58% 20.42% 

20/21: Q2 34.95% 96.15% 3.85% 

Collection of fly tips 

Page 137



 

 

Complaint 
Service 
area 

Justified? Outcome 

repeated non 
collection of bin 

Complainant advised that they can present up to four 
extra bags of waste alongside the bin on next collection 

Complaint about lack 
of action in response 
to flytipping in 
Garfits Park x3 

Operations No 

Complainant advised that the Council were unable to 
deploy resources to investigate the flytipping during 
lockdown but this was passed to enforcement officers to 
investigate on their return to work. 

 
Compliments 
 

Compliment Service area 

Outdoor Cinema: “It was a great night. Well managed.” 
Economic 
Growth 

Outdoor Cinema: “Was a brilliant evening thank u so much” 
Economic 
Growth 

Outdoor Cinema: “Had the best time! Thank you!” 
Economic 
Growth 

Outdoor Cinema: “Loved it” 
Economic 
Growth 

“Thank you so much for your team’s swift assistance with cleaning up the park and the signs. 
This is very much appreciated. 

Operations 

“Thank you for your help and please thank your teams for the extraordinary help they have 
given us in such a short space of time to clean up the mess in Dame Sarah Swift Park. The 
signs are perfect.” 

Operations 

“Blimey, rubbish gone already, Brilliant - great work” Operations 

“...dog poo on the estate there has been a great improvement. Since I emailed you maybe 
only two lots of poo.... could you ‘pass’ that on. Two too many I know.” 

Operations 

Compliment to bin men for going above and beyond. Operations 

Compliment for bin crews and the flyswat team “they are brilliant and do a fantastic job 
trying to keep the area clean" 

Operations 

“Please say a big thank you to the council workers who cleaned up Woodville Park so quickly 
this morning after the travellers left last night. Horrible job” 

Operations 

“Good morning l would like to say a big thankyou to the staff for clearing the rubbish so 
quickly from the field.” 

Operations 

“Please pass on my thanks to all involved in the cleaning up of the Woodthorpe Road playing 
field /children's playing field after the removal of the Travellers' camp site. I came back 
home this afternoon to find the grass mowed and not a sign of litter anywhere. A credit to 
those whose job it is to carry out such tasks.” 

Operations 

“Concerning the travellers visit to Woodville Road Park - Apologies and thanks must go to 
the team who were almost immediately in the park to clean up after the caravans left. It is 
certainly not a pleasant task but they did a spectacular job. I expect the Area will need a 
really deep clean after this and parents ought to keep their children away until this is done. 
Thanks to all involved….and apologies to the people directly affected.” 

Operations 

Thank you for your help and for getting the black bags dealt with last week. Operations 

“Burgess Pit …Tuesday myself and some friends was having a socially distanced picnic in the 
pit and the man who came to empty the bins was extremely kind and polite he even went 
out of his way to make sure the smell of the bin wouldn't impact us. Please could you pass 
on our thanks.” 

Operations 

“In these difficult times I would like to congratulate your teams that cut the grass and empty 
the litter bins on Witham Bank West. They have done a grand job.” 

Operations 

“Re: fly tipping at hospital lane and willoughby road - Lorry arrived on Monday and 
Wednesday to clear it. One of many that day, many thanks and well done to those 

Operations 

Page 138



 

 

Compliment Service area 

involved.” 

“Replacement bin and new label received. Many thanks for the excellent service.” Operations 

“Purple bins - would just like to say how grateful for the purple bin letter and how nice to 
see public being appreciated for recycling. Grateful for how obliging rounds 1 and 4 are, they 
are lovely and hardworking.” 

Operations 

Licensing: “Would just like to say a huge thank you to {personal details redacted} for all her 
hard work helping me to open my own studio! She communicated impeccably and I received 
a lot of support and help. Such a lovely lady to talk to whilst dealing with issues, and she 
dedicated time and effort into supporting me. A huge thank you! A credit to your office” 

Regulation 

  

Page 139



 

 

Portfolio: Town Centre – Cllr Tracey Abbott 
 

Performance 
measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 (full year) 2020/21 (Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Market Income NC TA 3 EP £117,806 £160,000  £34,162 £80,000  
Comment: Market income is down as a result of Covid-19. We have seen a strong market return since June 
but have lost some space due to the new layout needed to allow additional room for Covid-19 and social 
distancing 

 
Complaints 
 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Complaint about suspension from 
market trading 

Economic 
Growth 

No 
Investigated; Council followed the 
correct procedure. 

 
Compliments 
 

Compliment Service area 

Public toilets: “How lovely and clean the disabled toilets are at Wide Bargate. It was a 
pleasure to use them and it’s the best they have ever been so thank you.” 

Assets 

Market: “I just wanted to send you a quick email to say a massive thank you to both 
yourself, {personal details redacted} and the Market as a whole for not only allowing us to 
have a stand on Saturday donating face coverings to the community, but also how 
supportive and helpful you all were. The day was a great success and with the current 
government guidance was so very timely and allowed a large amount of the public to obtain 
a lovingly handmade face covering from the community sewers from For the Love of Scrubs 
for the community. We have had so many people since asking when we are holding our next 
event so the word is out there!!Thank you all so very much again.” 

Economic 
Growth 

Tree work: “I just wanted to say that the guys completed the work this morning and we are 
very impressed. The work is to a high standard, they made sure they were clear on what was 
required before starting and checked back with me as they completed each part. They left 
the site tidy and were both friendly and helpful. We will certainly use your services again if 
we have the need and will recommend to others. Feel free to pass on to the guys that did 
the work.” 

Operations 

“In these difficult times I would like to congratulate your teams that cut the grass and empty 
the litter bins on Witham Bank West. They have done a grand job.” 

Operations 

Skate park: “Great new facility. Good to see BTAC investing in our young people.” Operations 

Skate park: “I had the best time at the skate park today, so proud of all the children and 
adults sharing the park in such a courteous way.” 

Operations 

Skate park: “Honestly the skate park is amazing, I can’t help but watch all the tricks being 
performed as I walked past, can’t wait to have a go myself and hopefully not fall over” 

Operations 

Skate park: “It was great to drive past and see this being enjoyed by so many young people 
in the sunshine today.” 

Operations 

Skate park: “Just want to Thankyou to Boston borough council for this. Used the facility for 
the first time yesterday after not riding my skateboard in nearly a year and I had the best 
time! So much fun to skate! There was an amazing group of people of all ages, backgrounds 

Operations 

Page 140



 

 

Compliment Service area 

and ethnicities enjoying the park in harmony. Everyone was friendly and sound. Very happy 
to have this 5 minutes away from work and I will be using it regularly so Thankyou very 
much.“    

Skate park: “Absolutely loved seeing so many young people playing here on my way home 
from work. Playing like children should be able to in a safe place. Brilliant BBC we need more 
for our young people to do. Well done.” 

Operations 

Skate park: “Lovely to see it being used, well done” Operations 

Skate park: “This looks brilliant” Operations 

  

Page 141



 

 

Portfolio: Housing and Communities – Cllr Martin Griggs 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 
(full year) 

2020/21 
(Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Housing completions MH MG 2 CC 324 310  104 155  
Comment: Performance impacted due to lockdown and Covid-19 restrictions although improving.  

Number of affordable homes delivered 
(gross) 

MH MG 2 CC 97 97  24 20  

Comment: LHP - Quadrant 10 Rented, 2 SO, De Montfort 1 Rented, 5 SO, Station Rd, Sutterton 3 Rented 
PHG - Puritan Way 3 rented. 

Number of non-local authority owned 
empty properties returned into occupation 

MH MG 2 CC 89 60  32 20  

Improved Housing Standards MH MG 2 CC 182 100  19 25  
Comment: Performance severely restricted due to lockdown and Covid 19 secure restrictions as have had 
to minimise inspections and therefore enforcement action.  

 
Housing and Communities: trend measures 
 
Corporate Priority 2: People 
 

 
 

Complaints 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

18/19: 
Q3 

18/19: 
Q4 

19/20: 
Q1 

19/20: 
Q2 

19/20: 
Q3 

19/20: 
Q4 

20/21: 
Q1 

20/21: 
Q2 

New apps 320 366 347 390 242 331 152 322 

New housing register applications 

Page 142



 

 

 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Complaint 
about housing 
banding 

Housing and 
Wellbeing 

No 

Complaint made on behalf of someone else. Complainant 
advised that the Council is unable to discuss another person’s 
housing case with them and to seek authorisation from that 
person to pursue this further. No evidence of wrongdoing on 
the part of the Council. 

 
Compliments 
 
No compliments relating to this portfolio in Q2. 

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank



3B Q2 2020_21 Risk AppB

Negative risk Opportunity risk

1 to 4 1 to 4 1 to 16

1.1

Ec
on

om
ic

CP
1 Flood risk

The risk of flooding may adversely
impact on the Council's ability to achieve
its corporate priority of prosperity

The risk of flooding and the impact this
may have on investment in the area

The opportunity to establish flood
defences and address misconceptions

MG NW

Strategic Flood Risk Assessment;
Lincolnshire Flood Risk Strategy; working
closely with the Environment Agency;
Local Plan adopted; plans for the Boston
Barrier (which will reduce risk of tidal
flooding from 2% to 0.3%); Lincolnshire
Resilience Forum

2 Possible 4
Critical
impact

8
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to work
with partners to manage
flood risk and its impact; the
risk score will only reduce
when the Boston Barrier is
in place

N/A Amber
Business Continuity -
Averse/Cautious

1.2

Ec
on

om
ic

CP
1 Growth and local

economy

Growth is vital to the future ability of the
Council to achieve its corporate priority
of prosperity

The risk of a lack of growth; the risk that
the local economy stagnates

The opportunity to encourage more
growth and stimulate the local economy

NC /
LR

NW
Proactive approach to growth; economic
development plan; town bid

3 Probable 3
Major
impact

9
Medium

risk
Treat

Implementation of
the Economic
Development Action
Plan; Town Bid

Aim to reduce the
likelihood of lack of
growth to possible
and to take a
proactive approach
to growth with the
ED Plan and actions
and Town Bid

Green
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

2.1

So
ci

al
 / 

pe
op

le

CP
2 Housing

Future housing availability will have an
impact on the ability of the Council to
achieve its corporate priority to support
and protect vulnerable people; there is a
negative risk of a lack of housing and an
opportunity risk to encourage housing
provision

The lack of housing delivery, across
tenures, impacting on housing need, the
economy, business confidence and the
ability of the Council to achieve its
corporate priority to support and
protect vulnerable people and meet the
wider housing needs of the community

The opportunity to support and
encourage appropriate housing
provision

MH MG

Development of a new Local Plan.
Delivery of Housing Strategy actions.
Developing Transformation Programme
to focus on wider housing enabling and
housing delivery

4
Almost
certain

3
Major
impact

12 High risk
Tolerate; continue to work
with partners to drive the
delivery of new housing

Monitoring of total
housing delivery.
Monitoring of
affordable housing
delivery.

N/A Red
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

2.2

So
ci

al
 / 

pe
op

le

CP
2 Welfare

There is a risk that 'universal support -
delivered locally' will impact on the
ability of the Council to achieve its
corporate priority to support and
protect vulnerable people

The risk of 'universal support - delivered
locally' adversely impacting on
individuals and communities

The opportunity to assist individuals to
manage their money better and to
access employment opportunities

PP JN

'Universal support - delivered locally'
project work underway with partners to
ensure support and training is in place
for staff and local people

2 Possible 2
Minor
impact

4
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to work
on the 'universal support -
delivered locally' project
with partners

Monitor impact of
universal credit; this
will need ongoing
attention due to the
protracted nature of
rollout and potential
length of time before
impacts appear

N/A Green
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

2.3

So
ci

al
 / 

pe
op

le

CP
2 Health

There is a risk that health issues will
impact on the ability of the Council to
achieve its corporate priority to support
and protect people; long term health
issues, deprivation, local perceptions,
apathy, unsustainable health services

The risk of long term health issues,
deprivation, apathy, unsustainable local
health services

The opportunity to work with health
partners to address long term health
issues and deprivation, to raise
awareness and promote good health, to
support the sustainability of local health
services

MH PS Partnership working with health 3 Probable 2
Minor
impact

6
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to work
with partners to deliver the
Sustainable Health Strategy

Partnership work on
the Sustainable
Health Strategy

N/A Green
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

3.1

Ec
on

om
ic

CP
3 Town centre

The future sustainability of the Town
Centre in terms of retail, evening
economy, housing, heritage, culture,
leisure, events and car parking will have
an impact on the ability of the Council to
achieve its corporate prosperity and
place priorities.

The risk that the town centre
deteriorates

The opportunity to reshape a vibrant
Town Centre, its economy and to
develop its visitor economy

NC /
LR

TA

Corporate Plan priorities; Local Plan &
Conservation Area Management Plan;
Heritage Strategy; Economic
Development Plan; Town Bid

2 Possible 3
Major
impact

6
Medium

risk
Treat

PE21 project and
Heritage Action Zone,
LEP Pipeline &
Stronger Towns bids;
Lidl, Quadrant &
other emerging
development
opportunities
(gasification power
plant etc.);
Partnership Schemes
in Conservation
Areas & Townscape
Heritage projects and
the High Street
Conservation Area
Enforcement project;
Mayflower 400/Visit
England Discover
England Fund
promotional work;
LCC Transport
Strategy &
development of
green initiatives
(electric car charging
points); South East
Lincs Local Plan
adoption &
developing Town
Centre Policy; Boston

Aim to reduce the
likelihood of the
town centre
deteriorating and to
take all available
opportunities to
reshape a vibrant and
sustainable town
centre

Green
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

4.1

So
ci

al
 / 

pe
op

le

CP
4 Population change

There is a risk that population change
will impact on the ability of the Council
to achieve its corporate priority of public
service

The risk of poor community relations
and an inability to adapt to change; local
perceptions

The opportunity to support and
encourage good community relations
and maximise the benefits of change;
the younger generation are willing to
integrate

MH PS

'Social Impact of Population Change'
report actions; East Midlands Strategic
Migration Partnership; All Party
Parliamentary Group on Migration

2 Possible 3
Major
impact

6
Medium

risk
Tolerate N/A Green

Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

Link to risk appetite
If Treat, target risk
score and
explanation

Action/s (monitored
in Alfresco)

Risk control: Terminate;
Tolerate; Transfer; Treat

Likelihood Management
assurance (RAG)

Residual (net) risk score
Co

rp
or

at
e

Pr
io

rit
y

Impact TotalExisting control measures in placeRe
f

Risk name DescriptionRi
sk

ca
te

go
ry

PF
H

Ri
sk

ow
ne

r

P
age 145



3B Q2 2020_21 Risk AppB

Negative risk Opportunity risk

1 to 4 1 to 4 1 to 16
Link to risk appetite

If Treat, target risk
score and
explanation

Action/s (monitored
in Alfresco)

Risk control: Terminate;
Tolerate; Transfer; Treat

Likelihood Management
assurance (RAG)

Residual (net) risk score
Co

rp
or

at
e

Pr
io

rit
y

Impact TotalExisting control measures in placeRe
f

Risk name DescriptionRi
sk

ca
te

go
ry

PF
H

Ri
sk

ow
ne

r

4.2

Fi
na

nc
ia

l

CP
4 Budget

There is a risk around the long term
balancing of the budget with economic
and funding uncertainty impacting on
the ability of the Council to achieve its
corporate priority of public service

The risk of lack of money and lack of
certainty going forward; lack of approval
of potential transformation projects;
impact of Internal Drainage Board (IDB)
levy

The opportunity to maximise the
efficiency of Council services and
continue to improve value for money;
transformation programme; fairer
funding

AS JN

Medium Term Financial Strategy;
budgetary process; sound level of
reserves; continued close monitoring;
refresh of transformation programme;
maintenance of the rateable value list;
property fund; Strategic Alliance

3 Probable 4
Critical
impact

12 High risk

Tolerate; continue to have a
robust budget setting and
MTFP process in place;
continue to drive the
delivery of the refreshed
transformation programme

Delivery of MTFP;
quarterly reporting;
implementation of
the transformation
programme; lobby
government for
funds; assess impacts
of next spending
review when
available

N/A Amber
Finance / Money -
Creative & Aware

4.3

M
an

ag
er

ia
l

CP
4 Capacity

There is a risk that capacity will impact
on the ability of the Council to achieve
its corporate priority of public service

The risk of a lack of capacity,
recruitment and retention; potential
changes in leadership; fewer staff,
increasing workload; potential local
government changes could affect staff
recruitment

The opportunity to maximise staff
resources by targetting priority areas,
working with partners and shared
services, improving recruitment and
retention, preparing for changes in
leadership

JG PS

Recruitment and retention project
completed; succession planning
ongoing; HR policies and procedures;
good management practice; member
training and development; there is
capacity in priority areas; Strategic
Alliance

2 Possible 3
Major
impact

6
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to train
and develop staff and
members and maximise
resources by prioritising and
shared services

Workforce planning;
succession planning

N/A Green
People - Averse /
Cautious

4.4

Fi
na

nc
ia

l

CP
4 Transformation

Programme

There is a risk that the next phase of the
transformation programme will impact
on the ability of the Council to deliver
public service

The risk of change; the risk of having a
smaller workforce impacting on
capacity; the risk of less control; the risk
of financial uncertainty; the risk of
working in partnership; the risk of
distractions from achieving objectives

The opportunity to build resilience; the
opportunity to change our risk appetite
and take more measured risks to
achieve greater impact; the opportunity
to work in partnership with others to
maximise resources

AS PS
Transformation Programme; project
management methodology; governance
in place

2 Possible 3
Major
impact

6
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to drive
the delivery of the
transformation programme

Delivery of the
transformation
programme

N/A Amber
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

4.5

Fi
na

nc
ia

l

CP
4 Brexit

The Brexit process has resulted in
economic uncertainty and there may be
other changes around migration, the
local workforce, and the legal
framework in which we operate that are
also uncertain at this time

The uncertainty is a negative risk
There are also potential opportunities as
a result of the Brexit process, however,
these are also uncertain at this time

RB PS
Medium Term Financial Strategy;
budgetary process; sound level of
reserves; continued close monitoring

3 Probable 3
Major
impact

9
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to have
robust financial plans and
monitoring in place pending
more clarity

Quarterly financial
reporting

N/A Green
Projects & Major
Change - Hungry

4.6

Go
ve

rn
an

ce

O
ve

ra
ll

Civil contingency
risks

There are community risks which will
impact on the ability of the Council to
operate effectively

The risk of influenza type disease, east
coast flooding, inland flooding, severe
weather, fuel shortages, loss of critical
infrastructure, animal disease,
environmental pollution and industrial
accidents, transport accidents

The opportunity to work with partners
to assess, monitor and plan for these
risks together

CA NW
Community Risk Register monitored by
the Lincolnshire Resilience Forum (LRF)

2 Possible 4
Critical
impact

8
Medium

risk
Tolerate; continue to work
with the LRF

Working in
partnership with the
Lincolnshire
Resilience Forum

N/A Green
Business Continuity -
Averse/Cautious

4.7

Go
ve

rn
an

ce

O
ve

ra
ll

Compliance

There is a risk that non-compliance with
legal requirements / governance /
internal controls will impact on the
ability of the Council to operate
effectively

The risk of non-compliance with the
legislative framework (including the
Localism Act) and appropriate
governance and controls e.g.
safeguarding; financial loss due to fines;
reputational damage; cyber security risk

The opportunity to ensure the continued
effectiveness of the Council

JG JN

Internal controls, policies and
procedures in place; annual governance
statement; internal audit; safeguarding
policy and procedures; ongoing work to
improve contract management and to
update the contract register; Member
training programme and corporate
training programme in place; revised
scheme of delegation; effective
complaints management; cyber security
monitoring and reporting

2 Possible 3
Major
impact

6
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to
ensure compliance with
legal requirements,
governance and internal
controls; improve contract
register

Internal audit
reporting; review of
contract register;
Member Code of
Conduct

N/A Green
Regulatory Standing
& Legal Compliance -
Creative & Aware

4.8

Go
ve

rn
an

ce

O
ve

ra
ll

Reputation
There is a reputational risk to the
Council which could impact on the ability
of the Council to operate effectively

The risk of negative news stories
affecting local people's views of the
Council

The opportunity to communicate
effectively about the work the Council is
doing to serve the local community

JG PS

Internal and external communication,
press releases, bulletins, website, social
media; policy, protocol and training for
speaking to the press

2 Possible 3
Major
impact

6
Medium

risk

Tolerate; continue to
communicate effectively
and work with the press to
portray the Council
accurately

Production of press
releases and
bulletins; use of
social media;
training;
development of Visit
Boston, Think
Boston, My Boston

N/A Green
Reputation / Public
Confidence - Hungry

P
age 146



3B Q2 2020_21 Risk AppB

For reference, the category definitions are set out below:

1 - HARDLY EVER 2 - POSSIBLE 3 - PROBABLE 4 - ALMOST CERTAIN
-        Never happened -        Happened a few times in 10 yrs -        Numerous times in 10 yrs -        Often in last 10 yrs
-        No more than once in ten years -        Happened in last 3 yrs -        Happened in last year -        More than once in last year
-        Extremely unlikely to ever happen -        Could happen again in year -        Likely to happen again in year -        Expected to happen again in year

SERVICE DELIVERY FINANCE REPUTATION PEOPLE
(Core business, Objectives, Targets) (Funding streams, Financial loss, Cost) (Statutory duty, Publicity, Embarrassment) (Loss of life, Physical injury,

Emotional distress)
4 Prolonged interruption to core service. Severe costs incurred Loss of life

CRITICAL Failure of key strategic project. Financial loss >£160,000 Multiple casualties
(Disastrous impact, Impact on whole Council

Catastrophic failure) Statutory intervention
3 Key targets missed. Significant costs incurred Local media interest Serious injuries

MAJOR Some services compromised Financial loss <£160,000 Traumatic experience
(Significant impact, Re-jig of budgets required Exposure to dangerous conditions

Disruption to key services) Service budgets exceeded Impact on public opinion
2 Some costs incurred Limited local publicity Minor injuries or discomfort

MINOR Financial loss <£25,000 Mainly within local government community Feelings of unease.
(Minor impact on Minor impact on budgets Causes staff concern
non-core services) Handled by line manager

1 Little loss anticipated Little or no publicity
NEGLIGIBLE Financial loss <£10,000 Little staff comment

(No noticeable impact)

Risk categories Risk controls
Contractual/Supplier Terminate - rarely, we may be able to stop doing an activity altogether
Customer/Citizen Tolerate - accept the risk and live with it, particularly if it is within the tolerance threshold or where the cost of mitigating action would outweigh the benefits
Economic Transfer - move all or part of the risk to a third party or through insurance; however, sometimes accountability still remains so caution is advised
Environmental Treat - take action to control the likelihood and/or impact and set a target level of risk if appropriate i.e. If the action should reduce the overall risk score once implemented
Financial
Governance
Legal Risk appetite
Legislative & Regulatory Averse
Managerial & Professional Cautious
Partnership Creative & Aware
Physical Hungry
Political
Procurement/Competitive
Social/People
Technological

Reviewed Apr16

LIKELIHOOD

Management action required to overcome short-
term difficulties

Handled within normal day-to-day routines

National media interest seriously affecting
public opinion

Comment from external inspection agencies

IMPACT

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Finance Q2 2020/21 
 

1 The National Picture – key financial events during Quarter 2 2020/21 

 
The main issues affecting the Council in the second quarter of 2020/21 were: 

 COVID-19 lockdown continued throughout the second quarter, thus many of the Council’s 
incoming generating activities remained closed. Restrictions were eased from 4th July 2020. 

 Cabinet approved ‘Free shopper car parking’ from 29th June, which remained in force during 
the quarter. 

 Revision to Portfolio responsibilities announced. 

 Bank base rate remained at 0.1% (since 19 March 2020). 
 
 

2 Revenue Budget   

 
Table 1 – Net spend for the year against budget by Service Area: 
 

Service Area Net 
Budget 

 
2020/21 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 

 
2020/21 

£000 

Variance 
(under 
spend)/ 

overspend 
£000 

Summary of Main Variances 

Chief Executive 654 662        8 Corporate Democratic Core 

Deputy Chief Executive  958 1,096 138 Planning, Mayfair, Guildhall, 
Elections 

Chief Finance Officer 1,789 1,774 (15) Credit Control, I.T. 

Head of Regulatory 
Services 

 
2,029 

 
2,167 

 
138 

Housing Enforcement, Land 
Charges, Licensing, CCTV 

Head of Operations  742 752 10 Vehicle Holding A/c, 
Bereavement, Recycling, 
Commercial Waste 

Head of Place and Space 147 1,428 1,281 Leisure, Parking, Markets, 
Municipal Buildings. 

BTAC    703 717 14 Events, Open Spaces 

Net Service 
Expenditure 

 
7,022 

 
8,596 

 
1,574 

 

Drainage Board Precepts 1,960 1,960 -  

Direct Revenue 
Financing of Capital 

 
1,861 

 
2,198 

 
337 

 
Note 8 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

 
15 

 
15 

 
- 

 

Investment Income (100) (66) 34 Note 7 

Income Receivable from 
Property Funds 

 
(977) 

 
(804) 

 
173 

 
Note 7 

Interest Payable 494 494 - Note 7 

Net Transfer from 
Earmarked Reserves (926) (1,306) (380) 

Note 6 - Includes Covid-19 
Tranche 1 (£47k) 

Total Expenditure 9,349 11,087                    1,738  

     

Financing     

Council Tax  (4,429) (4,429) -  

Business Rates (2,354) (2,354) -  

Renewable Energy (204) (206) (2)  

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

 
(2,362) 

 
(2,362) 

 
 - 

 

Covid-19 Support Grant - (1,138) (1,138) Note 3 (Tranches 2 to 4) 

Net Overspend  - 598 598  

APPENDIX C 

Page 149



 
 
 
Table 2 – Net spend for the year against budget by Portfolio Holder Area: 
 

Portfolio Holder Area Net 
Budget 
2020/21 

 
      £000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2020/21 

 
       £000 

Variance 
(under 
spend)/ 

overspend 
£000 

Summary of Main Variances 

Housing, Property & 
Community 

 
1,615 

 
1,612 

 
(3) 

Housing Enforcement, 
Municipal Buildings. 

Tourism, Arts, Culture & 
Heritage 

 
184 

 
156 

 
(28) 

Mayfair. 
 

Town Centre 90 164 74 Markets, Public 
Conveniences. 

Environment 1,830 2,661 831 Leisure, Vehicle Holding A/c, 
Licensing, Land Charges, 
Building Control, Commercial 
Waste, Recycling. 

Economic Development & 
Planning 

 
1,024 

 
1,118 

 
94 

 
Planning, Elections, Estates. 

Leader 1,736 1,745 9 CCTV, Democratic Core, I.T. 

Finance & Governance (160) 423 583 Parking, Bereavement, Credit 
Control, HB Admin. 

BTAC 703 717 14  

Net Service  
Expenditure 

 
7,022 

 
8,596 

 
1,574 

 

Drainage Board Precepts 1,960 1,960 -  

Direct Revenue Financing 
of Capital 

 
1,861 

 
2,198 

 
337 

 
Note 8 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

 
15 

 
15 

 
- 

 

Investment Income (100) (66) 34 Note 7 

Income Receivable from 
Property Funds 

 
(977) 

 
(804) 

 
173 

 
Note 7 

Interest Payable 494 494 - Note 7 

Net Transfer from 
Earmarked Reserves (926) (1,306) (380) 

Note 6 - Includes Covid-19 
Tranche 1 (£47k) 

Total Expenditure 9,349 11,087                    1,738  

     

Financing     

Council Tax (4,429) (4,429) -  

Business Rates (2,354) (2,354) -  

Renewable Energy (204) (206) (2)  

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

 
(2,362) 

 
(2,362) 

 
- 

 

Covid-19 Support Grant - (1,138) (1,138) Note 3 (Tranches 2 to 4) 

Net Overspend  - 598 598  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



 
 
 
Table 3 – Net spend for the year against budget by Corporate Priority: 
 

Priority Net 
Budget 
2020/21 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2020/21 

£000 

Variance 
(under)/ 

overspend 
£000 

Summary of Main Variances 

Prosperity 916 1,801 885 Leisure, Planning, Markets, 
Mayfair, Guildhall. 

People 1,515 1,655 140 Housing Enforcement, Land 
Charges, Licensing, Building 
Control, Public Conveniences. 

Place 1,494 1,529 35 Commercial Waste, CCTV, 
Recycling, Vehicle Holding 
A/c. 

Public Service 2,394 2,894 500 Parking, Bereavement, 
Municipal Buildings, Credit 
Control, Elections. 

BTAC 703 717 14  

Net Service  
Expenditure 

 
7,022 

 
8,596 

 
1,574 

 

Drainage Board Precepts 1,960 1,960 -  

Direct Revenue 
Financing of Capital 

 
1,861 

 
2,198 

 
337 

 
Note 8 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision 

 
15 

 
15 

 
- 

 

Investment Income (100) (66) 34 Note 7 

Income Receivable from 
Property Funds 

 
(977) 

 
(804) 

 
173 

 
Note 7 

Interest Payable 494 494 - Note 7 

Net Transfer from 
Earmarked Reserves (926) (1,306) (380) 

Note 6 - Includes Covid-19 
Tranche 1 (£47k) 

Total Expenditure 9,349 11,087                    1,738  

     

Financing     

Council Tax (4,429) (4,429) -  

Business Rates (2,354) (2,354) -  

Renewable Energy (204) (206) (2)  

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

 
(2,362) 

 
(2,362) 

 
- 

 

Covid-19 Support Grant - (1,138) (1,138) Note 3 (Tranches 2 to 4)  

Net Overspend  - 598 598  

Page 151



3. Variations to budget 

 

 Budget 
2020/21 

 
£’000 

Variance 
2020/21 

 
£’000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2020/21 
£’000 

Comments 

Total Service Expenditure  7,022    

Additional Costs     

Housing – Advice and Homelessness, grant award 
 221  

Rough Sleeper initiative from Reserves – see 
Additional income off-set 

Housing – Advice and Homelessness, grant award  193  Rough Sleeper initiative – see Additional income 

Covid-19 Reopening Our High Street  63  see Additional Grant income 

Covid-19 Rough Sleeper costs  14  see Additional Grant income 

CCTV  12   

Housing Enforcement  27   

Bereavement  23  Cremator maintenance  

Vehicle Holding Account  33  Fleet contract overspend / Fuel savings  

Other small variances  20   

  606   

Reduced Costs     

Mayfair  (28)  Event cancelled due to COVID-19 - costs saved   

Municipal Buildings  (55)  Business rates less than budget 

Planning  (78)   

Leisure  (30)   

Elections  (19)   

Other small variances  (21)   

  (231)   

Additional Income     

Housing – Advice and Homelessness, as above 
 (221)  

Rough Sleeper initiative from Reserves – see 
Additional costs off-set 

Housing – Advice and Homelessness, as above  (193)  Rough Sleeper initiative – see Additional costs 

Covid-19 Reopening Our High Street grant funding  (63)  To off-set additional costs 

Covid-19 Rough Sleeper costs – contingency grant claim  (14)  To off-set additional costs 

Bereavement  (36)  Increased no. of cremations 

Commercial Waste  (15)   

  (542)   

P
age 152



     

Reduced Income    Projections below budget – COVID-19 impact 

Parking  600   

Leisure  700   

Mayfair  50  Event cancelled     

Markets  66   

Licensing incl Hackney Carriage Licences  18   

Land Charges  43   

Housing – Housing Enforcement  25   

Guildhall - Events  14   

Planning  176   

Other small variances  35   

  1,727   

BTAC  14   

NET SERVICE EXPENDITURE           8,596  

     

Other Operating Income and Expenditure 3,253    

     

Direct Revenue Financing of Capital 
 337  

Incl. Timing of Refuse vehicle replacements – as 
previously reported in 19-20. Note 8. 

Income Receivable from Property Funds  173   

Investment Income  34   

        3,797  

     

Net Transfer (From)/To Earmarked Reserves (926) (380) (1,306)  

     

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 9,349 1,738 11,087  

     

Financing (9,349)    

Business Rates   -   

Non Ring Fenced Government Grant  -   

Renewable Energy  (2)   

Covid-19 Support Grant to 30 June  (1,138)  Tranches 2 to 4 

   (10,489)  

     

* Net Overspend - 598 598  

P
age 153



 
 

* The Government continues to review the way that costs and lost income are compensated to councils, and the next quarterly update will 
provide further information on the recently announced Support for Income Lost as a consequence of the pandemic. There will inevitably be 
changes to the projected cost increases and lost income as the year progresses, and these and the outcome of Government support will be 
presented to members as appropriate. 
 
Regular returns on the impacts are being reported to Government to allow the national position to be aggregated. 
 
Formal reporting on the residual costs of the pandemic and how they will be met will take place once details of the various support measures 
have been announced and the impact upon the Council’s finances known. At this stage it is expected that this will consist of a mixture of grant 
support, deferral of the timing of collection fund losses and funding from reserves. 
 
This report excludes any Sales, Fees and Charges compensation from the Government; which is expected to be circa £425k for the period 
April to July 2020. 

 P
age 154



4 Controlling Migration Fund 

 
Table 4 shows the total funding received on the project, which covers a 2-year period and the 
cumulative actual expenditure to 30 September 2020 
 
Table 4 – Breakdown of Bid and Cumulative Spend to September 2020 
 

Spend Category Breakdown 
of Bid 

 
£’000 

Spend to 
30 Sep 
2020 
£000 

A Passion for People Project 80            83 
Community Leadership, Advice 
& Integration 

 
467 

 
466 

Adding Value to Learning 114 114 
Doing what’s important for our 
community 

 
726 

 
707 

Total 1,387 1,370 

 

5 Trading Income  

 
The Council has a number of demand led budget areas, which are reliant on receiving 
income for services provided. The COVID-19 pandemic, however has had a significant 
impact on the sales, fees and charges income, most notably Parking, Leisure and 
Planning. These areas are included in the following table: 
 
Table 5 – Trading Income: 
 

Income Area Budget 
 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Building Control  (183) (141) (42) 
Planning  (561) (385) (176) 
Land Charges  (91) (48) (43) 
Licensing  (131) (113) (18) 
Garden Waste (574) (569) (5) 
Bereavement  (859) (895) 36 
Commercial Waste (285) (300) 15 
Parking  (1,019) (419) (600) 
Markets  (130) (64) (66) 
Leisure (922) (222) (700) 

Total (4,755) (3,156) (1,599) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



6 Earmarked Reserves 

 
The following table shows the level of earmarked reserves held at the beginning of the 
year, movements in the year, and the projected position at 31 March 2021: 
 
Table 6 – Earmarked Reserves 
 

Reserve Balance 
1 April 
2020 

 
£000 

Previously 
Approved 
Movement 

 
£000 

 Proposed 
Further 

Movement 
 

£000 

Projected 
Balance 
31 March 

2021 
£000 

Capital Funding  5,583 (44) - 5,539 
Transformation Reserve 1,111 20 - 1,131 
Repairs and Renewals  704 (136) 64 632 
ICT Reserve 359 (100) - 259 
Housing Reserve 1,280 (872) 95 503 
Controlling Migration  47 (47) - - 
Insurance Reserve 290 - - 290 
Property Funds Returns   
Mitigation Reserve 

 
1,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
1,000 

Funding Volatility Reserve  2,975 (265) (21) 2,689 

Total 13,349 (1,444) 138 12,043 

  
Notes 

 Capital Funding Reserve – this reflects the in-year financing requirements 
associated with the revised capital programme, as set out in section 8. 

 Housing Reserve – the proposed movement reflects the recognition of homeless 
reduction grants. 

 Repairs and Renewals Reserve – the proposed movement in reserve reflects 
changes to the in-year financing requirements associated with the revised capital 
programme, as set out in section 8. 

 Funding Volatility Reserve - the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes 
to the in-year financing requirements associated with the revised capital 
programme, as set out in section 8. 
 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F1 To approve the reserve movements detailed in Table 6.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 156



 

 

7 Treasury Management 

 

 

At 30 September 2020, the Council held £18.900m in cash investments (£21.130m at 30 June) 
and £18.950m in property funds (£19.043m at 30 June). The reduction in Property Fund values 
has occurred due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The Council budgeted to receive £1,077,000 in gross investment income in 2020/21 comprising 
£977,000 from Property Funds (including £209,000 of management fees), and £100,000 from 
cash investments. 
 
At 30 September 2020, total gross investment income for the year is estimated to be £870,000 
comprising £804,000 gross from Property Funds and £66,000 from cash investments. Property 
fund management fees for 2020/21 are estimated at £213,000.   
 
In 2020/21 cumulatively to 30 September 2020, the Council achieved an average gross revenue 
return (before deduction of management fees) of 4.24% from the Property Fund purchases 
(3.12% after fees) 
 
Treasury (cash) Investments achieved an average rate of 0.40%.  
 
 
Table 7 - Property Funds as at 30 September 2020 
    

Property 
Fund 

Sum 
Invested 

 
 
 

£000 

Fair Value 
31 March 

2020 
 
 

£000 

Fair Value 
30 Sept. 

2020 
 
 

£000 

In Year 
Gain 

/(Loss) 
to Q2 

2020-21 
 

£000 

Black Rock  4,500 4,370 4,283 (87) 

Schroders 4,250 4,190 4,123 (67) 

Threadneedle 4,239 3,919 3,761 (158) 

M&G 4,000 3,531 3,442 (89) 

AEW 4,000 3,589 3,341 (248) 

TOTAL 20,989 19,599 18,950 (649) 

 
External Borrowing 
 
At the start of the 2020/21 financial year, the Council’s total long-term borrowing was £16.449m.  
Total annual interest payable on external borrowing is estimated at £494,000. 
 
No additional borrowing was undertaken during the quarter ended 30 September 2020. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 157



 

 

 

 

8  Capital  

 
The following table shows the approved capital programme for 2020/21 as reported to Cabinet 
on 9 September 2020 as presented in the outturn report in June 2020, plus other known in-year 
changes together with actual spend to the end of quarter 2:  
 
Table 8 –Capital Programme for 2020/21 
 

Scheme 2020/21 
Approved 
Program. 
Sep. 2020 

£’000 

In Year 
Changes 

 
 

£’000 

Revised 
Program. 

 
 

£’000 

Actuals 
to 

30 Sep. 
2020 
£’000 

Scheme     
Disabled Facilities Grants* 1,050 - 1,050 38 
Housing Strategy 150 - 150 - 
Housing Scheme – Julian’s 
Yard/Ingelow Avenue 

 
25 

 
- 

 
25 

 
- 

Marginal Viability Fund** 448 - 448 343 
Resurfacing and Footpath 
Improvements 

 
34 

 
- 

 
34 

 
- 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme 
(PSICA 2) 

 
981 

 
- 

 
981 

 
- 

Multi Use Games Area (CMF) 249 - 249 226 
Information Technology Refresh 100 - 100 22 
Upgrade to Bartec Collective - - - (17) 
Vehicle Replacement     
    Ford Transit Tipper Van 22 - 22 - 
    Grounds Tractor   43 - 43 43 
    Refuse Vehicles*** 1,279 - 1,279 95 
   Road Sweepers x 2 251 - 251 90 
Crematorium – Canopy for Floral 
tribute area 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Crematorium – Provision of Parking 
and Resurfacing Works 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Crematorium-Cremator replacement 
phase 1 

 
209 

 
- 

 
209 

 
73 

Electric Vehicle Charging Points 
PE21 Boston Town Deal 

19 
- 

- 
       750 

19 
750 

5 
- 

     

 4,860 750 5,610 918 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 158



 

*Disabled Facility Grants 
 
Total resources for Disabled Facility Grants, including approved Better Care Funding of 
£0.558m for 2020/21, is £1.050m.  
 
At Quarter 2, the Council has commitments of £0.181m with a further £0.243m of adaptations 
out for pricing. There are a further 76 cases at various stages of progression, totaling 
approximately £0.450m. Housing services are constantly seeking opportunities to increase the 
pace of expenditure. 
 
**Marginal Viability Fund 
 
The £3.5m Housing Infrastructure Fund contract with Homes England was signed in July 2019 
for the development of Boston United’s new Community Stadium, a new major road junction, 
new businesses and 212 new homes. The drawdown of funds is in three tranches, equating to 
one payment of £3.052m in Quarter 3, 2019/20 and a residual £0.448m paid over in two 
instalments in Q2 and Q3, 2020-21. A payment of £0.344m was made on 26/06/20 and a claim 
for £0.104m received on 15/10/20 for the period 31/08/20 to 30/11/20. 
 
***Vehicle Replacements – Refuse Vehicles 
 
As previously reported in 2019-20 the timing of refuse vehicle fleet’s replacement has been 
amended to 2020-21, to coincide with tendering for future vehicle maintenance arrangements. 
The delivery of the vehicles is expected to be complete by December 2020. 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F2 To approve the updated capital programme as detailed in Table 8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital Financing 
 

2020/21 
Approved 
Program. 
Sep. 2020 

£’000 

In Year 
Changes 

 
 

£’000 

Revised 
Program. 

 
 

£’000 

Actuals 
to 

30 Sep. 
2020 
£’000 

External Grants and Contributions 2,662 750 3,412 609 
Capital Reserve 1,837 - 1,837 284 
I.T. Reserve 100 - 100 22 
Repairs and Renewals Reserve 107 - 107 - 
Housing Reserve 150 - 150 - 
Funding Volatility Reserve 4 - 4 3 

 4,860 750 5,610 918 

Page 159



9 Consultancy costs 

 
Where specialist work is required, the Council seeks support from third parties when necessary.   
 
Table 9 – Consultants 
 

Consultant Q1 
£000 

Q2 
£000 

Activity 

Link Asset Services 2 2 Treasury services  

Elysian Associates 1 - VAT Consultancy Services  

Heritage Trust of 
Lincolnshire 

4 5 Archaeological services 

Total 7 7  

 

10 Debt Collection 

 
A review of debts is undertaken every month and monitoring is reported against targets.  Debts 
approved for write off by the Chief Finance Officer under the approved delegation, after all 
appropriate and proportionate recovery actions had been undertaken, were £34,456 for Council 
Tax, £23,973 for Business Rates and £189,966 for Housing Benefit Overpayments.  
 
 
An analysis of the Council’s Sundry Debts held at 30 September 2020 is shown in the following 
table: 
 
Table 10 – Sundry Debt analysis  
 

 

 

11 Supplementary Estimates 

 
Supplementary estimates reflect instances where the Council has received additional income in 
the quarter, notified since the formal budget was set and its use is for a specific purpose.  
 
Table 11 – Supplementary Estimates  
 

Supplementary Estimates requiring Cabinet approval Amount 
£000 

DCLG – Accelerated Towns’ Fund  750 

Related to Identified Capital Projects in Boston (Note 8) (750) 

 
 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F3 That the supplementary estimates in respect of Accelerated Towns’ Fund be 

approved, as set out in table 11. 
 

 

 

 

Quarter 1 Not yet 
due 

0-30 days 31-91 
days 

92-365 
days 

Over 365 
days 

Total 

Amount £ 177,210 74,005 97,605 140,763 36,363 525,946 

Page 160



12 Supplementary Estimates – COVID-19  

 
The impact of the pandemic on income from sales, fees and charges and additional costs has 
seen the Government introduce a compensation scheme for councils for these unforeseen losses 
that are irrecoverable. Table 12 sets out the funds received during the quarter.  
 
Table 12 – Supplementary Estimates – COVID-19 specific  
 

Supplementary Estimates requiring Cabinet approval Amount 
£000 

DCLG - Covid-19 Emergency Funding – 3rd Tranche  129 

To support additional costs arising from the pandemic (129) 

  

DCLG – Local Authority Discretionary Grants 130 

Eligible for payment out to local businesses (130) 

 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F4 That the supplementary estimates in respect of COVID-19 be approved, as set out 

in table 12. 
 

 

13 Insurance  

 
The number of insurance claims against the Council are relatively small and are in line with 
years’. Not all claims result in the Council making a settlement payment. 
 A summary of the number of claims received, comparing them to 2019/20, is given below: 
 
Table 13 – Insurance claims received 
 

Cover Q1 Q2 

Public Liability 0 (1) 2 (2) 

Employer’s Liability 0 (0) 0 (0) 

Motor 1 (1) 2 (0) 

Property 0 (0) 0 (0) 

Total 1 (2) 4 (2) 

 
(Previous year comparison in brackets) 

 

14 Procurement Exemptions 

 
Under the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules (specifically sections 3.1.2 (1) 
and (2) in this instance), exemptions over £25,000 need to be approved by the Cabinet.  
  
There are no exemptions to be approved in quarter 2. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 161



15 Localisation of Business Rates and Council Tax Support Scheme 

 
Table 14 – Localisation of Business Rates 
 

 
 

Base 
Estimate 

Included in 
2020/21  

£ 

 Projected 
Outturn 

 
2020/21 

£ 

Projected 
Deficit/ 

(Surplus) in 
2020/21 

£ 

Business Rates income for the year 20,043,811 9,683,737 (10,360,074) 

Less: Lincolnshire County Council share 
(10%) 

 
(2,004,381) 

(968,374) 1,036,007 

Less: Central Government share (50%) (10,021,906) (4,841,868) 5,180,038 

Boston Borough Council’s Share (40%) 8,017,524 3,873,495 (4,144,029) 

Renewable Energy Schemes 203,753 205,753 2,000 

Net Levy to Pool (250,000) (250,000) 0 

Business Rates - Tariff adjustment (5,140,710) (5,140,710) 0 

Levy Account Surplus Grant income - 0 0 

Business Rate Income credited to 
General Fund * 2,830,567 

 
(1,311,462) 

 
(4,142,029) 

 
The projected outturn for the year to 31 March 2021 shows an overall Collection Fund deficit in 
year of (£10,360,074) of which (£4,140,029) is Boston BC’s share; however, this is substantially 
off-set by the award of £5,311,000 of Section 31 monies from the Government, which goes directly 
into the General Fund. The Government proposal that any residual deficit in the Collection Fund 
will be smoothed over the next three years will be incorporated into the 2021/22 budget and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).   

 
Business Rates Assurance  
 
The lockdown measures introduced in response to the pandemic have meant that ongoing 
Assurance work was limited for the whole of quarter 1 and some of quarter 2. The opportunity 
was therefore taken to divert resources towards supporting the team dealing with the 
administration of Business Support Grants, that the Government brought in and asked us to 
implement and pay quickly. Alongside this new priority, cases not requiring site visits have 
continued to be progressed. The results of these will be analysed and included in the next 
quarterly report. 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
The year 2020/21 is the eighth year of the localised Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme. 
Following the statutory annual review during 2019/20, it will continue this year with a largely 
unchanged scheme, while applying the national up-ratings. The scheme continues to support 
the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda to bring further reductions to the national benefits 
bill. The continuation of the scheme sustains the required protection of those of pension age, 
protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.  
 
Looking forward it is not likely that a fundamental review of the scheme will take place before 
the full migration to Universal Credit has taken place, currently estimated at 2023. This should 
allow sufficient evidence to determine all the on-going impacts of CTS in the Boston area where 
collection rates have remained relatively steady despite its negative impact elsewhere. 
 
Whilst Collection of Council tax has been steady over the last years 2020/21 rates have dipped 
in the first half of the year due entirely to the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic and its effect of 
slowing down the recovery process.  In recognition of this, the Council is maintaining a prudent 
approach to setting its bad debt provision. 

Page 162



 
The number recipients of CTS in 2020/21 continues to show a roughly even split between 
working age claimants and pensioners. 

 

16 Other Financial Matters 

 
Audit and Governance Committee 

 

No Audit and Governance Committee meetings took place during the quarter, due to COVID-19 
restrictions. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	3 REGULATING AND SAFEGUARDING BOSTON'S ECONOMY
	4 PORT OF BOSTON - GATEWAY TO GROWTH
	B   O   S   T   O   N

	5 ROUGH SLEEPING ACCOMMODATION PROGRAMME
	6 TOWNS FUND ACCELERATOR PROJECT 'EXPERIENCE BOSTON'
	Appendix A - Boston Design Toolkit developed with Placemarque

	7 CCTV ANNUAL POLICY UPDATE 2020
	Appendix A - BBC CCTV Policy 2020

	8 PUBLIC SPACES PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) "ALCOHOL" REVIEW
	9 AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN PROGRESS REPORT
	Appendix 1 - Progress to date against specified action within AQAP
	Appendix 2 - List of planning consents with embedded EV requirements

	10 QUARTER 2 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE
	Appendix A - Quarter 2 Performance
	Appendix B - Quarter 2 Risk
	Appendix C - Quarter 2 Finance


